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Executive Director’s Statement

PATEF RS

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”,
“Director”) of Carnival Group International Holdings Limited (the “Company”), I

each a

present the annual results of the Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 December 2020.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded a consolidated net loss
of approximately HK$3,874.2 million as compared to the net loss of approximately
HK$3,429.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2019. The loss is mainly due
to (i) impairment loss on the properties of approximately HK$67.1 million; (ii) the
loss arising from changes in the fair value of the Group’s investment properties of
approximately HK$375.0 million; (iii) impairment losses under expected credit
loss (“ECL”) model of approximately HK$1,283.8 million; (iv) the loss arising
from listed securities investment of approximately HK$98.5 million; (v) the fair
value change on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately
HK$63.6 million; and (vi) finance cost of approximately HK$1,082.7 million.

2020 REVIEW

In 2020, the global outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic battered global economic
growth, and the world’s major developed economies experienced severe negative
growth as a result of the continuing recurring outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic
and a rapid economic recession. Economic growth in emerging markets and
developing countries also plunged. China’s economy was also wrecked by the
COVID-19 pandemic, with its gross domestic product (GDP) showing a negative
growth of 6.8% in the first quarter and major economic indicators fell sharply.
However, with rapid response and effective controls of COVID-19 pandemic
since the second quarter, the resumption in work and production to normal
accelerated, and the declines in consumption and investment continued to narrow.
The economy’s recovery continued. The governments at all levels bolstered
their support for both fiscal and monetary policies, and the stimulus effect of
macroeconomic policies was remarkable. During the pandemic, rapid development
in the digital economy, smart economy, online network economy, and other new
economic forms supported recovery in macroeconomic growth. Since the second
quarter, China’s economic growth has shifted from negative to positive, with
positive growth of 2.3% for the full year, making it the only major economy in the

world to achieve positive economic growth.
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In 2020, the government insisted on the regulatory objectives of “houses are built
to be inhabited, not for speculation” and “stabilising land prices, housing prices and
expectations” for the real estate industry, and introduced the long-term regulatory
mechanism of new management and control regulations featured by “Three Red
Lines and Four Camps” (the “New Management and Control Regulations”). We
believe that the New Management and Control Regulations will help guide the

long-term, stable and healthy development of the real estate industry.

The domestic property market in the first quarter was basically frozen due to the
impact from COVID-19 pandemic. Since the second quarter, with significant relief
measures and effective controls of the domestic pandemic, the property markets
in different regions have recovered gradually. In the second half of the year, with
full economic recovery in the PRC, the general keynote of the austerity measures
adopted for the real estate market remained unchanged. For the land market in
the PRC, the amount of land transactions hit a record high, with more intensified
divergence in market performance across cities. Market performed substantially
well in first and second tier cities area. With the introduction of the “Three Red
Lines” policy in the fourth quarter of the year 2020, which requires property
developers to impose strict control over their debt ratios, land transactions became
less overheated in general, despite the fact that competition for high quality land
parcels remained fierce. Generally speaking, property transactions on the market
remained flat as compared to year 2019, with stable transaction prices. Along with
stable market environment and tightened financial regulations, property developers
took a proactive role in responding to the changes in market conditions, securing the

stable and healthy development of the real estate market.

The outbreak of the COVID-19 had brought unprecedented challenges and
added uncertainties to the economy. The hotel in Qingdao was designated by
the government as one of the quarantine hotels. The theme park in Qingdao was
not allowed to operate from February 2020 to July 2020 due to the COVID-19
prevention and control imposed by the government, which affect the revenue of
theme park. COVID-19 may also affect the financial performance and position of
the industry of real estate including the construction and delivery of properties,
rental revenue and occupancy rate of investment properties, allowance for expected
credit losses on other receivables, fair value of investment properties and so on.
Since the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group kept continuous attention on the
situation of the COVID-19 and react actively to its impact on the financial position

and operating results of the Group.
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Executive Director’s Statement

AT HE WS

PROSPECTS

The year 2021 will be a year of opportunities as well as challenges for property
developers. The full economic recovery after COVID-19 will energize the industry.
Under the keynote of “properties being for residential dwellings instead of
speculation” and “adoption of city-specific policies”, the pace of market supply
and demand in 2021 will gradually become more stable and demand will be more
rational. In an increasingly more concentrated industry, property development
shall be strategically deployed in a reasonable way and in line with the rotational
development opportunities in different cities, and shall also be focused on regions
with competitive advantage. Focus shall be drawn to key cities; detailed analysis
shall be conducted on the demand from different customer groups; and cooperation

shall be fortified, to embrace the greater room for development.

The Group expects the operating environment would continue to be difficult for
the coming financial year. The Group will continue to (i) implement solid approach
for collections of other receivables and maintain attentive but sensible approach
towards new investment opportunities in the real estate industry in order to enhance
values to the Shareholders; and (ii) work closely with all creditors, including
bondholders, and other stakeholders to take appropriate measures to improve the
liquidity and solvency position of the Group as well as to achieve the best possible

consensual restructuring for all interested parties.

Luo Jiaqi

Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 May 2021

6 Carnival Group International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2020

Al 5%

B T AR A 20 R R A A B BN A ) —
4 o COVID- 19 15 18 48 I 1Y) 2 Th 18 R 465 17 S 1
ATEHT 0 R AE TB5 AN D ) e IR 9k e 56 ) <5 i 2 32
BN F R R E R 2 D Il T
& R R B o 7547 38 5 vP R H RN 58 (9 15
DUR o B ot Bl 3% PR AR R IR T iR B i 0 SR
B A J5) > SO AR AR B 0 TP B KT IR
JEEBIF T2 0 A AN [ 2 9 3 R 0 5 5 1 > AR K
8% i 22 i o

A 55 [ TR G R A S S0 R A6 R R IS A A U o
7 5 10 1 A AT (i) R T8 e AR B 114 R R MR ] L A
BB WACRR I > S 36 e S D T 43¢ 58 K PR IR T H
LI RE B > DUBN 58 A SRR EAE 5 Be (i) BRI A A8
HEN (BLAEfE Z7 8 A ) e HoAth I 28 BH 4 N B &
F > PRI B 8 i > DAk 35 A S 9 110 95 B0 1P e 1 1
RE 1> 3 2% T A3 A I 75 B B & T ME A Y Bh G — B
#H o

HITHEH
]

Hig —E-—FnH_1+/\H



EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Luo Jiaqi, aged 37, was appointed as an executive Director on 26 February
2020. He is also the Chief Financial Officer and a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group. He is a member of the Nomination Committee of the Company
(the “Nomination Committee™). Mr. Luo obtained a Master Degree of business
administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong on 7 November
2019. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Luo had worked in several well-known
enterprises. He held multiple management positions at HNA Group Co., Ltd.
and was the chief financial officer of Hong Kong Airlines and an assistant to the
president of Unitop Group. Mr. Luo has extensive financial and investment and

financing management experience.

Mr. Tang Runtao, aged 42, was appointed as an executive Director on 25 January
2021. He holds a Bachelor’s degree of Financial Management from Qingdao
University of Science and Technology. Mr. Tang has been the chief financial officer
of #ff L3E4EHE G5 B) B EAMR/AH], an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, since 2009. Prior to joining the Group, he was a finance manager
of Shandong Shipping Corporation during 2005 to 2009 and was an accountant of
Shandong Dayu Automobile Components Co., Ltd. during 2001 to 2005.

Biographies of Directors
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Biographies of Directors
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chau Wai Hing, aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 3 May 2019. He is also the chairman of each of the audit committee (the
“Audit Committee”), the Nomination Committee and the remuneration committee
of the Company (the “Remuneration Committee”). Mr. Chau graduated from City
University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s Degree in Quantitative Analysis for
Business, Postgraduate Certificate in Professional Accounting and Master Degree
in Finance. He also holds a Master Degree in Professional Accounting from the
Southern Cross University in Australia. Mr. Chau is a fellow member of the Institute
of Public Accountants in Australia, a fellow member of the Institute of Financial
Accountants, a chartered member of the Chartered Institute for Securities and
Investment and a member of the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute.
Mr. Chau was an independent non-executive director, a member of each of the audit
committee, nomination committee and remuneration committee of Vestate Group
Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1386; a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange) from February 2017 to 31 March 2021 and he was the chairman,
executive director, chairman of investment committee and authorized representative
of Cocoon Holdings Limited (“Cocoon”) (Stock Code: 428; a company listed on
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) from July 2015 to February 2019 and has
been re-appointed as an executive director of Cocoon with effect from 23 April
2021. From December 2008 to April 2015, he was the chairman and an executive
director of UBA Investments Limited (Stock Code: 768; a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange). Mr. Chau has extensive experience in banking,
finance and wealth management. He held senior positions at several international
financial institutions including Bank of America (Asia) Limited and Merrill Lynch
(Asia Pacific) Limited.

Mr. Ma Hang Kon Louis, aged 58, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 3 May 2019. He is also a member of each of the Audit Committee
and the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Ma graduated from the Kellogg School of
Business, Northwestern University in the United States, the Hong Kong University
of Science and Technology and the Hong Kong Polytechnic (the predecessor of The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University). He is a member of each of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants and The Chartered Governance Institute and Administrators. He has
been the executive director, the chief financial officer, the company secretary and
an authorised representative of the G.A. Holdings Limited under the GEM Listing
Rules (Stock Code: 8126; a company listed on the GEM of Stock Exchange) since
November 2015. Mr. Ma is experienced in various industries including professional
services in Hong Kong, petrochemical, electronics and resources industries, both in
the United States and in the Asia Pacific region. He also has extensive experience
in managing businesses in listed companies both in Hong Kong and in the United
States.
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Mr. Tso Hon Sai Bosco, aged 56, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director on 3 May 2019. He is also the member of each of the Audit Committee,
the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Tso received his
Bachelor of Laws degree from King’s College London. He has been a Hong Kong
practising solicitor since 1990. Mr. Tso was a non-executive director of ICO Group
Limited (Stock Code: 1460; a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange) from October 2019 to April 2020 and an independent non-executive
director of Imperial Pacific International Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 1076; a
company listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange) from November 2013 to
October 2020. Mr. Tso is also currently a partner of Messrs. Tso Au Yim & Yeung,
Solicitors. He was an independent non-executive director of Legend Strategy
International Holdings Group Company Limited (Stock code: 1355; a company
listed on the Main Board of Stock Exchange) from June 2015 to September 2018.

Biographies of Directors
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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CORPORATE OVERVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the theme-based leisure and consumption
business, focusing on the design, development and operation of integrated
large-scale tourist complex projects in key cities in and outside the PRC that
comprise of theme parks, hotels, shopping and leisure facilities, as well as other

theme-based consumption.
2020 REVIEW

In 2020, the global outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic battered global economic
growth, and the world’s major developed economies experienced severe negative
growth as a result of the continuing recurring outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic
and a rapid economic recession. Economic growth in emerging markets and
developing countries also plunged. China’s economy was also wrecked by the
COVID-19 pandemic, with its gross domestic product (GDP) showing a negative
growth of 6.8% in the first quarter and major economic indicators fell sharply.
However, with rapid response and effective controls of COVID-19 pandemic
since the second quarter, the resumption in work and production to normal
accelerated, and the declines in consumption and investment continued to narrow.
The economy’s recovery continued. The governments at all levels bolstered
their support for both fiscal and monetary policies, and the stimulus effect of
macroeconomic policies was remarkable. During the pandemic, rapid development
in the digital economy, smart economy, online network economy, and other new
economic forms supported recovery in macroeconomic growth. Since the second
quarter, China’s economic growth has shifted from negative to positive, with
positive growth of 2.3% for the full year, making it the only major economy in the

world to achieve positive economic growth.

In 2020, the government insisted on the regulatory objectives of “houses are built
to be inhabited, not for speculation” and “stabilising land prices, housing prices and
expectations” for the real estate industry, and introduced the long-term regulatory
mechanism of new management and control regulations featured by “Three Red
Lines and Four Camps” (the “New Management and Control Regulations”). We
believe that the New Management and Control Regulations will help guide the

long-term, stable and healthy development of the real estate industry.
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The domestic property market in the first quarter was basically frozen due to the
impact from COVID-19 pandemic. Since the second quarter, with significant relief
measures and effective controls of the domestic pandemic, the property markets
in different regions have recovered gradually. In the second half of the year, with
full economic recovery in the PRC, the general keynote of the austerity measures
adopted for the real estate market remained unchanged. For the land market in
the PRC, the amount of land transactions hit a record high, with more intensified
divergence in market performance across cities. Market performed substantially
well in first and second tier cities area. With the introduction of the “Three Red
Lines” policy in the fourth quarter of the year 2020, which requires property
developers to impose strict control over their debt ratios, land transactions became
less overheated in general, despite the fact that competition for high quality land
parcels remained fierce. Generally speaking, property transactions on the market
remained flat as compared to year 2019, with stable transaction prices. Along with
stable market environment and tightened financial regulations, property developers
took a proactive role in responding to the changes in market conditions, securing the

stable and healthy development of the real estate market.

The outbreak of the COVID-19 had brought unprecedented challenges and
added uncertainties to the economy. The hotel in Qingdao was designated by
the government as one of the quarantine hotels. The theme park in Qingdao was
not allowed to operate from February 2020 to July 2020 due to the COVID-19
prevention and control imposed by the government, which affect the revenue of
theme park. COVID-19 may also affect the financial performance and position of
the industry of real estate including the construction and delivery of properties,
rental revenue and occupancy rate of investment properties, allowance for expected
credit losses on other receivables, fair value of investment properties and so on.
Since the outbreak of COVID-19, the Group kept continuous attention on the
situation of the COVID-19 and react actively to its impact on the financial position

and operating results of the Group.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group’s flagship project, Rio Carnival (Qingdao) is located in the Phoenix
Island Tourist Resort Zone in Huangdao District, Qingdao city, Shandong province
in the PRC and occupies an aggregate site area of approximately 350,000 square
metres (“sq.m.”) with a total gross floor area (“GFA”) of approximately 800,000
sq.m.. Thanks to the rapid development of Qingdao City’s West Coast New Area,
the Group believes that Rio Carnival (Qingdao) will benefit from the geoadvantage
in the long run and be one of the first large-scale integrated commercial,
residential and tourism complexes of its kind in China. It includes indoor and
outdoor underwater ocean exploration theme parks, an up-scale star-rated hotel
“Renaissance” and a luxury service apartment “Marriott Executive Apartment”, an
international premium brand outlet shopping mall, themed-street restaurant dining,
a conference centre, a performance square for performances, concerts, sports
matches and parades, and a world-class entertainment complex featuring the largest
Lego education experience centre in China, one of the newest and largest DMAX
cinema complexes in China (Jackie Chan Cinema), an indoor ice skating centre and
a large sea-view Ferris wheel (ZEZHR) . 1t is our aim for Rio Carnival (Qingdao)

to become one of the premier tourist destinations in China.

The hotel and outlet have commenced operations and other facilities will be
opened in phases. As part of its business model, the Group also develops and sells
high-end coastal residential properties and luxurious villas adjacent to its theme
park, outlet mall and hotels in Rio Carnival (Qingdao). The residential properties
occupy an aggregate site area of approximately 126,000 sq.m. with a total GFA of
approximately 350,000 sq.m..

Beijing Airport Fushi International Real Estate Investment Company Limited* (Jt
WS E BB i EE B E A FR A H]), 2 99.4% non wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, obtained the housing pre-sale permit issued by the Municipal
Housing and Urban-Rural Development Committee of Beijing on 13 November
2019, pursuant to which the Company can sell the residences located in the Tianzhu
Section of Shunyi Central Villa District in Beijing (the “Yanglin Project”). The
Yanglin Project consists of 7 floors, of which one of the floors is for commercial
purpose, four floors are for residential purpose and two basements for clubhouse
and garages with a total of 111 residential units with total area of 21,984 sq.m..
Shunyi Central Villa District is one of the main international living areas in Beijing,
consisting Continental Plaza, Ole Town, and Shine Hills which forms a distinctive
regional business district. The sale of the Yanglin Project has been started in late
2020.
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During the year, the Directors have reviewed the business strategy of the Group
and decided that the Group shall keep focusing on the integrated large-scale tourist
complex project and property development. The Group will invest more resources

in this segment when there are considerable opportunities.
PROSPECTS

The year 2021 will be a year of opportunities as well as challenges for property
developers. The full economic recovery after COVID-19 will energize the industry.
Under the keynote of “properties being for residential dwellings instead of
speculation” and “adoption of city-specific policies”, the pace of market supply
and demand in 2021 will gradually become more stable and demand will be more
rational. In an increasingly more concentrated industry, property development
shall be strategically deployed in a reasonable way and in line with the rotational
development opportunities in different cities, and shall also be focused on regions
with competitive advantage. Focus shall be drawn to key cities; detailed analysis
shall be conducted on the demand from different customer groups; and cooperation

shall be fortified, to embrace the greater room for development.

The Group expects the operating environment would continue to be difficult for
the coming financial year. The Group will continue to (i) implement solid approach
for collections of other receivables and maintain attentive but sensible approach
towards new investment opportunities in the real estate industry in order to enhance
values to the Shareholders; and (ii) work closely with all creditors, including
bondholders, and other stakeholders to take appropriate measures to improve the
liquidity and solvency position of the Group as well as to achieve the best possible

consensual restructuring for all interested parties.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group derived most of its revenue

from the following segments:
Property Development and Investment

Revenue from the Group’s property development and investment segments was
approximately HK$144.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2020, compared
to HK$239.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2019. For the year ended
31 December 2020, the revenue was mostly derived from the sale of residential
and commercial units of the remaining completed properties, rental income from
leasing of investment properties and advertising income in Qingdao in the PRC.
Within the reporting period, the PRC property market was facing downward
pressure, the Group’s property valuation suffered unavoidable impact and recorded

a large impairment loss.
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Trading and Investment business

The Group invested in Hong Kong’s listed securities and financial instruments as

short-term and medium-term investments.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, net loss on investments of approximately
HK$98.5 million, compared to a net loss of approximately HK$794.5 million for
the year ended 31 December 2019. The loss is mainly due to fair value loss of the
listed equity securities which had been suspended for trading during the year ended
31 December 2020.

As at 31 December 2020, the total value of the Group’s securities investments was
approximately HK$0.1 million, compared to HK$15.2 million as at 31 December
2019.

Hotel operation
The Group operates hotel business in the PRC. It includes hotel accommodation,

food and banquet operations. For the year ended 31 December 2020, revenue

from hotel operations segment was approximately HK$46.6 million, compared to

¥ 5 e SO RS
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H 548 o
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A
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HK$53.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2019. W MR _E - NE+H=1T—HILEES
53,900,000 7T
FINANCIAL REVIEW Joh 55 1o Jgs
Financial Results A5 E 4
Change in
2020 2019 percentage
5@
TR TRAE “E AR Horkt
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
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Revenue A 104,204 (475,701) 121.9%
Gross loss Tl (523,434) (881,152) (40.6)%
Loss attributable to owners of AL E)BEA N EA s 1E

the Company (2,848,218) (2,941,975) (3.2)%
Loss per share (53 AL (Restated)

— Basic (HK dollar per share) —HAR (BRI (3.01) (3.10) (2.9%

— Diluted (HK dollar per share) — i (R HE T (3.01) (3.10) (2.9)%
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For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group recorded a consolidated net loss
of approximately HK$3,874.2 million as compared to the net loss of approximately
HK$3,429.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2019. The loss is mainly due
to (i) impairment losses on the properties of approximately HK$67.1 million; (ii)

the loss arising from changes in the fair value of the Group’s investment properties

of approximately HK$375.0 million; (iii) impairment losses under ECL model of

approximately HK$1,283.8 million; (iv) the loss arising from securities investment

of approximately HK$98.5 million; (v) the fair value change on financial assets at

fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$63.6 million; and (vi) finance

cost of approximately HK$1,082.7 million.

)

Impairment loss on properties

The Group recognised an impairment loss on properties of approximately
HK$67,147,000 (2019: HK$492,042,000) in respect of Rio Carnival, a
residential/commercial development located in the West of Jianshan Road
and South of Binhai Road, Huangdao District, Qingdao, Shandong Province,
PRC. The Rio Carnival comprises a theme park, a convention centre,
a hotel and ancillary facilities. The impairment loss on the theme park,
convention centre and hotel ancillary facilities amounted to approximately
HK$67,147,000 (2019: HK$46,496,000) while no impairment loss on the
hotel (2019: HK$445,546,000).

The recoverable amount of Rio Carnival was valued by an independent
professional valuer (the “Valuer”). The valuation of the hotel and ancillary
facilities, convention centre and theme park of Rio Carnival was arrived at
adopting the discounted cash flow approach under the basis of on-going
concern with forecast of input values including revenues, taxes, costs of
goods sold, operation costs, interest expenses, amortisation of fixed assets
and management fees, provided by the then Management, assuming that the
properties will be completed in accordance with the development proposals
and the relevant approvals for the proposals have been obtained. For
properties which are under construction, the Valuer has taken into account
the costs that will be expended to complete the development. Such fair value
loss was mainly due to the downward pressure of the PRC property market
and the unfavorable market environment.
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(ii) Fair value change on investment properties

16

A fair value loss on investment properties of approximately
HK$375,041,000 (2019: HK$314,875,000) has been recognised for the
year ended 31 December 2020. It comprised of (i) the fair value loss of
the shopping mall in Qingdao of approximately HK$410,137,000 (2019:
HK$340,084,000); and (ii) fair value gain of the commercial premises in
Chengdu of approximately HK$35,096,000 (2019: HK$25,209,000).

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 December 2020
and 2019 have been arrived on the basis of a valuation which carried out by
the Valuer. The Valuer had appropriate qualifications and recent experiences
in the valuation of similar properties in the relevant locations. The valuations

conformed to International Valuation Standards.

The valuation of investment properties have been arrived at adopting direct
comparison approach with reference to comparable transactions in the
locality and assuming that the investment properties will be completed in
accordance with the development proposals and the relevant approvals for
the proposals have been obtained.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used in prior year.
In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the
properties is their current use.

Carnival Group International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2020

(i)

BV TEEEE)

BEZZ2FZHE+ AP —HILEECH
R E Y 2 N TEHE 1 £7375,041,0008 7T
(B — L4 1 314,875,000 70) o Hh 4%
()7 B WP 55 2 N SEAH 5 1E £9410,137,000
T (2 —JUEE & 340,084,000% 70) ;5 Fe(ii)
XD R SE W 2 N E IR RS 4935,096,0003 7T
(=Z—JL4E 1 25,209,0003 L) ©

ABREMR_E_EER -G+ A
= B2 R E YN A PR AR Al B
HEAT Il L T AR © 10 M B L 5 5 A
HLEA 4T kA B B 2 AR B S AT A
1B Z 8058 o A BRI (ETF & BRI B Al (B B HI o

BEVEZAGE R ERILER 2 EEA
Z AT EL 22 ) o 3l R % % 0 S i TR 9% e
Al 52 B C A B T 2 26 75 4 B A1t e g
e

TR 4 i FH 2 A {1 152 4l 3 Jie 528 B o A =t 4
e NEI Y3 2 B e e B HE R 2y
BUIRE HI 28 -



(iii) Impairment losses under ECL model

@iv)

()

The Group recorded impairment losses under ECL model of approximately
HK$1,283,802,000 (2019: HK$555,591,000).

The Group had provided corporate guarantees to certain independent third
parties which gross exposure amounted to approximately HK$973,827,000.
None of the transactions triggered any disclosure obligation pursuant
to Chapters 13 or 14 of the Listing Rules. The credit impairment loss
of the corporate guarantees as at 31 December 2020 was amounted to
approximately HK$399,049,000.

The calculation of ECL for loans and receivables involves the assessment of
default rate and recovery rate as well as forward-looking information that
is reasonable and supportable at reporting date. For a financial guarantee
contract, the Group is required to make payments only in the event of a
default by the debtor in accordance with the terms of the instrument that
is guaranteed. Accordingly, the ECL is the present value of the expected
payments to reimburse the holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any
amounts that the Group expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any
other party. The impairment losses under ECL model was performed by an
independent professional value.

Loss from listed securities investment

The Group recorded a loss arising from securities investment of
approximately HK$98,462,000 (2019: HK$794,487,000).

The listed securities are traded in an active market and their realised and
unrealised gain/(loss) was determined based on the quoted market prices as
at 31 December 2020 and valuation of the listed equity securities which had
been suspended for trading.

Fair value change on financial assets

The Group recorded an impairment loss on fair value change on financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$63,554,000
(2019: HK$132,061,000). The fair value change on financial assets is related
to the investments in MSQ Fund SPC.

MSQ Fund SPC invests in, among others, a luxury residential condominium
complex real estate project in West Georgia Street, Vancouver, British
Columbia, Canada. The fair value of MSQ Fund SPC was determined with
reference to the redemption price quoted by the fund administrator.
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(vi) Finance cost

The Group recorded a finance cost of approximately HK$1,082,698,000
(2019: HK$903,247,000) during the year. The increase in finance cost is due
to default interest derived from the Bankruptcy Reorganisation during the
year.

Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 31 December 2020, the authorised share capital of the Company was
HK$10,000.0 million divided into 1,000,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.01 each and
the issued share capital of the Company was approximately HK$9,478,000 divided
into 947,808,823 shares of HK$0.01 each.

On 17 September 2020, the Board proposed to implement the capital reorganisation
(the “Capital Reorganisation”) which comprised the following: (i) the share
consolidation by which every twenty five (25) shares of HK$0.01 each in the capital
of the Company issued and unissued to be consolidated into one (1) consolidated
share of HK$0.25 (“Consolidated Share(s)”) (the “Share Consolidation”); (ii) the
capital reduction by which: (a) any fractional Consolidated Share in the issued
share capital of the Company arising from the Share Consolidation be cancelled;
and (b) the par value of all the then issued Consolidated Shares be reduced from
HK$0.25 each to HK$0.01 each by cancelling the paid-up capital of the Company
to the extent of HK$0.24 on each of the then Consolidated Shares in issue (the
“Capital Reduction™); (iii) the share subdivision of every unissued Consolidated
Share of HK$0.25 each in the authorised share capital of the Company into twenty
five (25) adjusted shares of HK$0.01 each; (iv) the reduction of share premium
account, being the reduction of the entire amount standing to the credit of the share
premium account of the Company (the “Reduction of Share Premium Account”);
and (v) the credit arising from the Capital Reduction and the Reduction of Share
Premium Account being credited to the contributed surplus account of the Company
for use by the Directors in any manner permitted by the laws of Bermuda and
the bye-laws of the Company including but not limited to offsetting against the
balance of the accumulated losses of the Company up to the date on which the
Capital Reorganisation become effective. As all of the conditions of the Capital
Reorganisation have been fulfilled following the passing of the special resolution at
the special general meeting of the Company held on 30 October 2020, the Capital

Reorganisation became effective on 3 November 2020.
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As at 31 December 2020, the current assets and current liabilities of the Group were
approximately HK$7,018.1 million (2019: approximately HK$7,713.9 million) and
approximately HK$15,404.4 million (2019: approximately HK$8,558.6 million)
respectively. The liquidity ratio, which is calculated as current assets over current
liabilities, was approximately 0.46 times as at 31 December 2020, as compared to
that of approximately 0.90 times as at 31 December 2019. The decrease in liquidity
ratio was mainly due to the written down of properties held for sale, impairment
losses of deposits and other receivables under ECL model and the reclassification
of long-term borrowings to current liabilities. The Group recognised an allowance
for ECL of HK$1,283.8 million (2019: approximately HK$ 555.6 million) for note
receivables, deposits and other receivables and financial guarantee contracts under
HKFRS 9.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's total assets and total liabilities amounted to
approximately HK$17,570.3 million (2019: approximately HK$18,479.3 million)
and approximately HK$16,538.6 million (2019: approximately HK$13,919.7
million) respectively. The debt ratio, which is calculated based on total liabilities
over total assets, was approximately 0.94 times as at 31 December 2020, as

compared to that of approximately 0.75 times as at 31 December 2019.

The cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 2020 were approximately
HK$57.8 million (2019: approximately HK$74.6 million). The decrease was
mainly due to utilisation of cash and cash equivalents for general working capital

and the reclassfication to restricted cash.

As at 31 December 2020, the net debt to equity ratio of the Group, expressed as
a percentage of borrowings and long-term debts net of cash and bank deposits
over total equity, was approximately 817.1% (2019: approximately 183.1%). The
increase in net debt to equity ratio was mainly due to utilisation of cash and cash

equivalent for general working capital.
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Significant events

@

@

20

On 22 January 2020, a winding up petition was presented against the
Company in respect of certain alleged indebtedness of approximately
HK$10.6 million owed to Mr. Shen Hou Feng (the “Petition by Mr. Shen
HF”) in respect of a private immigration bonds issued by the Company.
Certain individuals who are alleged creditors of the Company subsequently
also served notices of intention to appear on the hearing of the Petition by
Mr. Shen HE.

For further details, please refer to the announcements published by the
Company on 23 January 2020, 14 February 2020, 6 March 2020, 11
March 2020, 27 March 2020, 6 April 2020, 4 June 2020, 16 June 2020, 29
June 2020, 10 July 2020, 21 July 2020, 22 July 2020, 29 September 2020,
11 December 2020, 8 February 2021 and 19 March 2021.

On 27 July 2020, Pearl Generation Limited, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company (the “Vendor”), Ms. Chan Suk Yee Deon (the
“Purchaser”’) and Emperor Prestige Credit Limited (the “Mortgagee”)
entered into the sale and purchase agreement (the “Agreement”), pursuant
to which the Vendor agreed to sell and the Purchaser agreed to purchase
four vessels registered with the Marine Department of the Government of
Hong Kong pursuant to Section 10 of Merchant Shipping (Local Vessels)
(Certificate and Licensing) Regulation with the Certificate of Ownership
Numbers 139419, 702015, 702085 and 707946, together with all gear,
machinery, equipment, furnishings and all other articles presently on or
affixed to (the “Vessels™) at an aggregate consideration of HK$20,000,000,

subject to the terms and conditions of the Agreement (the “Disposal”).

On 30 July 2020, as certain conditions precedent regarding the completion
of the Disposal had not been fulfilled or waived by the agreed date as set
out in the Agreement, the Disposal had lapsed and ceased to have any effect
automatically. No party to the Agreement should have any claim against
any other party and the rights and obligations of the parties thereunder
should forthwith cease and terminate, except in respect of rights and

obligation accrued prior to the lapse of the Agreement.
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On 3 August 2020, the Vendor, Hong Kong Fully Holdings Limited
(the “New Purchaser”) and the Mortgagee entered into the new sale
and purchase agreement relating to the Disposal (the “New Disposal
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Vendor agreed to sell and the New
Purchaser agreed to purchase the Vessels at an aggregate consideration of
HK$20,000,000, subject to the terms and conditions of the New Disposal
Agreement. The Disposal was completed on 5 August 2020. The Company
used the net proceeds from the Disposal to repay the outstanding loans of

the Group.

On 24 August 2020, the Company received the (2020) Lu 0211 Poshen
No. 5 Civil Ruling from the People’s Court of Huangdao District, Qingdao
City, Shandong Province, China (the “People’s Court”) in relation to
the application for bankruptcy reorganisation of Rio Carnival (Qingdao)
Property Co., Ltd.* (“Rio Carnival (Qingdao)”) by Longxin Construction
Group Co., Ltd.* (“Longxin Construction”) to the People’s Court on 17
August 2020 on the grounds that Rio Carnival (Qingdao) was unable to
pay off its debt (as defined below) and apparently lack of solvency (the
“Application for Bankruptcy Reorganisation”). The Debts (as defined
below) arose due to the contract disputes between Longxin Construction
and Rio Carnival (Qingdao), and the People’s Court has judged that Rio
Carnival (Qingdao) should pay Longxin Construction the construction
fee of RMB10,825,424.56 together with interests and other expenses (the
“Debts”). However, Rio Carnival (Qingdao) still failed to pay the Debts
in full. The People’s Court ruled that Rio Carnival (Qingdao) met the
acceptance conditions for bankruptcy reorganisation and accepted the
Application for Bankruptcy Reorganisation with effect from 24 August
2020.

On 27 August 2020, the People’s Court issued a decision letter designating
that the Shandong Branch of Grant Thornton Certified Public Accountants
(Special General Partnership) as the manager of Rio Carnival (Qingdao)
(the “Manager”).

On 1 December 2020, Rio Carnival (Qingdao) held its first creditors’
meeting. The resolutions on “The Property Management Plan”, “The
Selection Plan Proposed by the Members of the Creditors” Committee”
and “The Report on Proposing the Debtor to Continue Operation” were
reviewed and put forward for creditors to vote in the meeting and the results

were all passed.

3)

4)
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5) On 10 September 2020, the Company and a wholly-owned subsidiary of

©)

a state-owned enterprise under the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council (the “Investor’”) entered
into the memorandum of understanding dated 10 September 2020 in
relation to the conditional subscription by the Investor of the subscription
shares (the “Subscription Shares”), representing no more than 25% of
the issued share capital of the Company pursuant to the subscription
agreement to be entered into between the parties, under which the Investor
may subscribe for and the Company may allot and issue the Subscription
Shares, subject to the completion of due diligence on the Company.

On 16 February 2021, the Company received a letter before action from
the legal representative of Credit Suisse AG (“Credit Suisse”) claiming
for a payment of US$6.0 million being the Company’s obligation
under a corporate guarantee entered into between the Company (as the
guarantor) and Credit Suisse (as the lender) dated 30 September 2016
(the “Corporate Guarantee”). The Corporate Guarantee was a security
provided by the Company in connection with the loan agreement entered
into between Blazing Heart Trading Limited (the “Borrower”, a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Company) and Credit Suisse for the financing
of an aircraft (the “Loan Agreement”). As notified by Credit Suisse, as
of 5 February 2021, the amount of outstream indebtedness under Loan
Agreement and/or the Corporate Guarantee approximately US$6.0 million.

On 21 January 2019, a notice of enforcement was served upon the
Borrower pursuant to the Loan Agreement notifying the Borrower that the
payment thereunder had become due and payable. The Borrower had made
partial repayment on 25 January 2019, 4 February 2019 and 3 November
2020.

On 23 August 2019, a notice of repossession was served upon the Borrower
notifying that Credit Suisse had taken possession of the aircraft under
pledge and such aircraft was sold on 31 August 2020 with a net proceeds
of approximately HK$190.3 million (equivalent to US$24.6 million) to
satisfy part of the outstanding indebtedness.

As notified by Credit Suisse, as of 5 February 2021, the amount of
outstanding indebtedness under the Loan Agreement and/or the Corporate
Guarantee is US$6.0 million.

In light of the above, the Company will make its best endeavors to negotiate

with Credit Suisse with a view to obtaining a conditional grace period for
repayment and to avoid immediate legal actions to be taken.
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@) On 1 March 2021, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries were served
with a Writ of Summons from the legal adviser of Jin Jiang Investment
Limited and Chuangsheng International Investment and Management Co.
(HCA196/2021). The aggregate amount of claim as shown in the plaintiffs’
Indorsement of Claim is HK$1,029,000,000.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Substantially all of the Group’s sales and operating costs are denominated in the
functional currency of each individual group entity i.e. Renminbi and Hong Kong
dollar. As at 31 December 2020, except for three borrowings are denominated in
United States Dollar, other borrowings denominated in the functional currency of
each individual group entity. Accordingly, the Directors consider that the currency
risk is low to moderate. The Group currently does not have a formal currency
hedging policy in relation to currency risk. The Directors monitor the Group’s
exposure on an on-going basis and will consider hedging the currency risk should
the need arises.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has no other material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2020.

CHARGES ON THE GROUP’S ASSETS

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s certain property, plant and equipment,
investment properties, properties for sales and equity securities listed in Hong
Kong were pledged to banks and other financial institutions to secure certain loan
facilities.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

The Group did not have any material acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures during the year ended 31 December 2020.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As at 31 December 2020, the Group had 182 employees (2019: 326 employees).
The employees of the Group are remunerated in accordance with their work
experience, performance and prevailing industry practices. The remuneration
policy and package of the Group are periodically reviewed by the management.
For the year ended 31 December 2020, the total staff costs of the Group were
approximately HK$72.8 million (2019: approximately HK$131.6 million),
representing a decrease of approximately 44.7% over the corresponding period of
2019. The decrease in staff cost was mainly due to the decrease of employees.

DIVIDEND

The Board resolved not to recommend any dividend for the year ended 31
December 2020 (2019: Nil).

Management Discussion and Analysis
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 10 February 2021, a winding up petition was filed in High Court of The Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (the “High Court”) (the “New Petition”) and
was presented against the Company in respect of certain alleged indebtedness owed
to Reliance Credit Limited (formerly known as Asset Bridge Development Limited)
(the “Petitioner”). The New Petition has been adjourned to Wednesday 23 June
2021 before the High Court.

The New Petition was filed against the Company for its failure to settle a sum of
HK$7,105,680.74 being the principal and interests outstanding as of 20 March
2020 under a loan agreement dated 1 November 2017 (as varied by its extension
letter dated 19 September 2019) entered into between the Company and the
Petitioner.

For further details, please refer to the announcements of the Company dated 17
February 2021, 23 February 2021 and 28 May 2021.

Hearing of the Zhang’s Petition has been adjourned to no earlier than 31 August
2021. The Company will keep its shareholders informed of any significant
developments by way of further announcement(s) as and when appropriate.

On 13 May 2021, the Company entered into a placing agreement (the “Placing
Agreement”) with VC Brokerage Limited (the “Placing Agent”) pursuant to which
the Placing Agent has conditionally agreed to procure not less than six (6) placees
to subscribe for up to 680,000,000 new Shares (the “Placing Share(s)”) at the
placing price of HK$0.10 per Placing Share (the “Placing”). The Placing Shares to
be placed under the Placing Agreement will be allotted and issued pursuant to the
specific mandate to be sought from and, if approved, granted by the Shareholders to
the Directors at the special general meeting of the Company to be held to consider
the special resolution to be proposed to approve the Placing Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder (including the grant of the Specific Mandate
to allot and issue the Placing Shares) for the allotment and issuance of the Placing
Shares pursuant to the Placing Agreement. Completion of the Placing is subject to
the satisfaction of the conditions precedent in the Placing Agreement. Assuming all
the Placing Shares are successfully placed, the estimated aggregate gross and net
proceeds of the Placing will be HK$68 million and approximately HK$66 million
respectively, which are intended to be used for general working capital of the
Group.

STATUS OF THE DEBT RESTRUCTURING PLAN

The Company’s real estate business is mainly located in China and has been
affected by the tightening government policy in the real estate industry in China
over the past years and the recent outbreak of COVID-19, leading to a strained
liquidity position of the Company. The Company has been actively engaging with
its creditors in order to stabilise the current situation and in an effort to achieve
a consensual restructuring. The Company has convened eight meetings with the
institutional creditors to provide updates on its operational and financial status and
future business plan, and to discuss about its debt restructuring plan since April
2019. Major creditors have established a clear understanding of the Company’s
financial status and have indicated their willingness to work constructively with
the Company. Certain creditors are considering to provide capital to support the
Company in light of its current difficulties.
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On 5 December 2019, the Company appointed the Financial Advisor to assist
the Company in assessing its financial position and to advise the Company on
formulating and implementing a debt restructuring plan for its USD-denominated
Bonds.

On 14 January 2020, the Company, together with the Financial Advisor, convened
the sixth meeting with its institutional creditors to provide (i) an update on the
financial and operational conditions faced by the Company, and (ii) a preliminary
restructuring framework for all of its debt obligations. Subsequently on 23 January
2020, a revised debt restructuring proposal was circulated to the institutional

creditors based on the feedback received after the meeting.

On 19 May 2020, the Company convened the seventh meeting with its institutional
creditors to provide (i) an update on the financial and operational conditions faced

by the Company, and (ii) discuss the debt restructuring proposal.

On 3 September 2020, the Company convened the eighth meeting with its
institutional creditors to provide (i) an update on the winding up petition received
by the Company, (ii) Qingdao bankruptcy reorganisation plan and its impact on
offshore debt repayment and (iii) circulate the revised debt restructuring proposal to

the institutional creditors.

In addition, both directly and through its Financial Advisor, the Company has
made efforts to contact holders of its Immigration Bonds to advise them of the
Company’s current situation. The Company will consider further feedback from the
creditors, and will work with all relevant parties, in an effort to reach a consensual

restructuring.

The outbreak of the COVID-19 and the outstanding indebtedness affected the
financial position and operation of the Group to a certain extent and the Company
believes that an expedited and consensual restructuring will best protect its creditors
as it will (1) establish a long-term sustainable capital structure; (2) provide adequate
runway for the Company’s management to implement a turnaround of the business;
and (3) unlock the value of its onshore construction projects for the benefit of all
creditors. Any enforcement or other remedial actions, however, would significantly

impair the value of the Company and recoveries to its creditors.

The restructuring process has been delayed due to the outbreak of COVID-19. The
Company will continue working with its professional advisers to put forward the
restructuring progress with an aim to achieve a consensual restructuring as early as

practicable.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
& PR Y B oy

THE MANAGEMENT’S POSITION, VIEW AND
ASSESSMENT ON THE DISCLAIMER OPINION

During the course of audit of the consolidated financial statement of the Group for
the year ended 31 December 2020, the Auditors had raised concern on the Group’s
ability to operate as a going concern. In order to address this concern, the Company
has taken the measures to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable

future including but not limited to:

(1)  The debt restructuring plan is expected to be launched in the second half of
2021,

(i)  The proposed sale of Yanglin Project in 2021 with an aim to improve the
cashflow of the Group; and

(iii)  Certain existing creditors will provide financial support to the Group.

Based on the above, and in preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
Directors have reviewed the Group’s financial and liquidity position, and planned
to improve the liquidity by the above measures. As such, the Board considered the
Group will have sufficient liquidity to finance its operations for the next twelve
months and therefore is of the view that the Group would be able to continue as a

going concern.

Despite the effort made by the Company to address the concern, the Auditors issued
the Disclaimer Opinion as they cast doubt on the certainty of the debt restructuring
plan and financial support by certain existing creditors. The management of
the Company (the “Management”) has considered the Auditors’ rationale and
understood their consideration in arriving their opinion.

AUDIT COMMITTEE’S VIEW ON THE
DISCLAIMER OPINION

The members of Audit Committee had critically reviewed the Disclaimer Opinion,
the Management’s position concerning the Disclaimer Opinion and measures taken
by the Company for addressing the Disclaimer Opinion. The Audit Committee
agreed with the Management’s position based on the reasons above. Moreover, the
Audit Committee requested the Management to take all necessary actions to address
the effect on the Disclaimer Opinion. The Audit Committee had also discussed with
the Auditors regarding the financial position of the Group, measures taken and to be
taken by the Company, and considered the Auditors’ rationale and understood their

consideration in arriving their opinion.
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The Company is committed to maintain good corporate governance practices and
procedures to ensure the integrity, transparency and quality of disclosure in order to
enhance the Shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as its own code of
corporate governance.

Under CG Code provision A.2.1, the roles of the chairman and the chief executive
officer should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual.
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company has not appointed a chief
executive officer and the role and functions of chief executive officer have been
performed by all executive Directors, including the chairman, collectively.

Under CG Code provision C.1.2, the management should provide all members of
the Board with monthly updates giving balanced and understandable assessment
of the Company’s performance, position and prospects in sufficient details. During
the year ended 31 December 2020, the management of the Company provided to
the Board interim updates with consolidated financial statement of the Company’s
performance, position and prospects in sufficient details during regular Board
meetings of the Company. In addition, the management has provided all members
of the Board updates on any material changes to the performance, position and
prospects of the Company and sufficient information for matters brought before the
Board.

Save as disclosed above, in the opinion of the Directors, the Company was in
compliance with all other relevant code provisions set out in the CG Code during
the year ended 31 December 2020.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code™) as the Company’s code of conduct for dealing
in securities of the Company by the Directors. In response to the Company’s
specific enquiry made, all Directors have confirmed that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December
2020.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company, and is
responsible for setting up the overall strategy and policies of the Group, reviewing
the operation and financial performance, reviewing and monitoring the Group’s
financial control and risk management systems. The Board reserved for its decision
or consideration matters covering overall Group strategy, major acquisitions
and disposals, annual budgets, annual and interim results, recommendations on
Directors’ appointment or re-appointment, approval of major capital transactions
and other significant operational and financial matters. The management was
delegated the authority and responsibility by the Board for the daily management of
the Group. In addition, the Board has also delegated various responsibilities to the

Board committees. Further details of these committees are set out in this report.
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The Board currently consists of five Directors including two executive Directors

and three independent non-executive Directors:

Executive Directors
Mr. Luo Jiaqi
Mr. Tang Runtao

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chau Wai Hing

Mr. Ma Hang Kon Louis

Mr. Tso Hon Sai Bosco

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships with each other. Such balanced Board composition is formed to
ensure strong independence exists across the Board. The composition of the Board
reflects the balanced skills and experience for effective leadership. The biographical
information of the Directors are set out on pages 7 to 9 under the section headed

“Biographies of Directors”.
Directors’ Training

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the CG Code, all Directors should
participate in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains

informed and relevant.

All Directors have participated in continuous professional development and
provided a record of training they received for the financial year ended 31

December 2020 to the Company.
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The individual training record of each Director received for the year ended 31
December 2020 is summarised below:

Attending or
participating

in seminars/
reading materials
relevant to the

director’s duties

tH R B2
A B R
ZEe
Name of Directors HHH B8] 38 AH B A
Executive Directors HfTHH
Mr. Luo Jiaqi LA va v
Mr. Tin Ka Pak (appointed on 18 December 2020 and HZEMed O =8 BEA ZH A/ HIEZSEWR
resigned on 15 May 2021) ZE A A H AR v
Mr. Tang Runtao (appointed on 25 January 2021) MR (R = E I —H A HEZET) N/AA
Mr. Bai Xuefei (resigned on 28 January 2021) HEREE R ZFE = —F—H =1 /THEFHE) v
Independent Non-executive Directors VAVE|Z Ty &
Mr. Chau Wai Hing JE g B v
Mr. Ma Hang Kon Louis SR EL v
Mr. Tso Hon Sai Bosco e v

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

TR AT B AR

MRYE TR RSO SR A2 106 > 320 BT BUAE
A LA (& 5 o AR A I S R AR AT IRAR R 1T AR
B2 fy R WAE B A T S (RS %) SRR

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code requires that the roles between the chairman
and the chief executive officer should be segregated. The Company has not
appointed a chief executive officer and the role and functions of chief executive

officer have been performed by all executive Directors, including the chairman, 1T

collectively.
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Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors are appointed for a specific term and
they are also subject to the retirement by rotation at least once every three years in

accordance with the Bye-Laws.

The three independent non-executive Directors are persons of high caliber, with
academic and professional qualifications in the fields of accounting and finance.
With their experience gained from various sectors, they provide strong support
towards the effective discharge of the duties and responsibilities of the Board.
Each independent non-executive Director gives an annual confirmation of his
independence to the Company, and the Company considered each of them is

independent under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Board Diversity Policy

The Board adopted a Board Diversity Policy on 23 August 2013 (the “Board
Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
The Company recognises that increasing diversity at the Board level will support
the attainment of the Company’s strategic objectives and sustainable development.
The Company seeks to achieve Board diversity through the consideration of a
number of factors, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The Company will also take into consideration its own business model and
specific needs from time to time in determining the optimal composition of the
Board.

The Board delegated certain duties under the Board Diversity Policy to the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee will discuss and review the
necessity to set any measurable objectives for implementing the Board Diversity
Policy from time to time to ensure their appropriateness and the progress made

towards achieving those objectives will be ascertained.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate,

to ensure its continued effectiveness from time to time.
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Board Meetings

The Board has four scheduled meetings a year at approximately quarterly interval
and additional meetings will be held as and when required. The four scheduled
Board meetings for a year are planned in advance. During the regular meetings
of the Board, the Board reviewed the operation and financial performance and

reviewed and approved the annual and interim results.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Board held 9 meetings. All Directors
were given an opportunity to include any matters in the agenda for regular Board
meetings, and were given sufficient time to review documents and information

relating to matters to be discussed in Board meetings in advance.

M E R

G AR A TR T Y T R I @R
LN ) SNERAT & R o AF LA VY XTI R | TH L
Rl REREE N g L EReCa B E R
PSR B e e M A 1 4 R B v 1S A

RIRE =B B+ A= HIEE EHE
ST L o o 2 Y B U 0 P
AT R AR ELR T IR T 1
A7 53 9 0 2 R 3 AT 2 S 1
Ko

Number of
attendance
Name of Directors WA R R
Executive Directors HfTHHE
Mr. Zhang Peng ™o« D BE JIjE 5t 2 kD "
M. Bai Xuefei o2 S EE 9/9
Mr. Luo Jiaqi Nee? IR 523 e ) 33
Mr. Tin Ka Pak ®oe® FH R H 5 4 (i) N/A
Independent Non-executive Directors Fi LIRS T
Mr. Chau Wai Hing JE B S A 9/9
Mr. Ma Hang Kon Louis HlEEeAE 9/9
Mr. Tso Hon Sai Bosco A 9/9
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Notes:

1. Mr. Zhang Peng resigned on 26 February 2020, 1 Board meeting was held before
his resignation.

2. Mr. Bai Xuefei resigned on 28 January 2021, 9 Board meetings were held during
his tenure of office in 2020.

3. Mr. Luo Jiaqi was appointed on 26 February 2020, 8 Board meetings were held
after his appointment.

4. Mr. Tin Ka Pak was appointed on 18 December 2020 and resigned on 15 May
2021, no Board meeting was held during his tenure of office in 2020.

Board minutes are kept by the company secretary of the Company (the “Company
Secretary”) and are open for inspection by the Directors. Every Board member is
entitled to have access to Board papers and related materials and has unrestricted
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary, and has the liberty to

seek external professional advice if so required.

Appropriate insurance cover has been arranged by the Company in respect of

relevant legal actions against its Directors.
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General Meetings REHOR &

During the year ended 31 December 2020, 2 general meetings of the Company REE_Z-REL A =T—HILEE  AAF

were held, being the annual general meeting held on 23 June 2020 (the “2020 BATH R R K Eﬂﬁ/\g:?_:,fi'# ENRAZ+T=H

AGM”) and the special general meeting held on 30 October 2020. BITZREBEAEREG (CZEZERFHBAEREG )
BOR B BT H = HB T Z AR RIIR & o

Number of
attendance
Name of Directors WA R R
Executive Directors HfTHHE
Mr. Zhang Peng ®ow D M SE Az WD N/A A7 FH
Mr. Bai Xuefei ®°¢? HFARSE A i 22
Mr. Luo Jiagi Noe? B 72 A So A e 212
Mr. Tin Ka Pak Mot FH A0 S 4 tiio N/A AR
Independent Non-executive Directors Fi v IEB T
Mr. Chau Wai Hing JE B S A 2/2
Mr. Ma Hang Kon Louis HlEEeAE 212
Mr. Tso Hon Sai Bosco S 212
Notes: B 5T
1. Mr Zhang Peng resigned on 26 February 2020, no general meeting was held 1. SRMEEAER B R T H T HNHEHE RH
before his resignation. B A G 2R AT SRR & -

2. Mr. Bai Xuefei resigned on 28 January 2021, 2 general meetings were held 2. El’:':'fhf'ﬁfliﬁ’\: T —F—H _+/\HEHE R
during his tenure of office in 2020. H T BRI G R AT R AR o

3. Mr. Luo Jiaqgi was appointed on 26 February 2020, 2 general meetings were held 3. BREANAER B RE T H INHEEE

after his appointment. RHAE AR G RAITH R KR -
4. Mr. Tin Ka Pak was appointed on 18 December 2020 and resigned on 15 May 4. HEMEER -Z-Z2F+H+N Eléé H:jf
2021, no general meeting was held during his tenure of office in 2020. MREZBZ—FEAATHHBE REZ Z4F
LERER IR e N
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The Board is responsible for maintaining an on-going dialogue with Shareholders
and in particular, uses annual general meetings or other general meetings to

communicate with them and encourage their participation.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

In considering the nomination of new Directors, the Board will take into account the
qualification, ability, working experience, leadership and professional ethics of the

candidates.

The Company established the Nomination Committee with written terms of
reference on 28 March 2012 and currently consists of two independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Chau Wai Hing (as chairman) and Mr. Tso Hon Sai
Bosco, and one executive Director, namely Mr. Luo Jiaqi. The terms of reference of
the Nomination Committee is currently made available on the websites of the Stock

Exchange and the Company.

Terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are aligned with the code

provisions set out in the CG Code.

The function of the Nomination Committee are to review the structure, size and
diversity of the Board and made recommendations on any proposed changes to
the Board to complement the Group’s strategy; to identify qualified individuals
to become members of the Board; to assess the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors; to review the Board Diversity Policy and review the
measurable objectives that the Board has set for implementing the Board Diversity
Policy, and the progress on achieving the objectives; and to make recommendations
to the Board on the appointment or reappointment of Directors and succession

planning for Directors, in particular the chairman and the chief executive officer.

To ensure changes to the Board composition can be managed without undue
disruption, there should be a formal, considered and transparent procedure for
selection, appointment and re-appointment of Directors, as well as plans in place
for orderly succession (if considered necessary), including periodical review of
such plans. The appointment of a new Director (to be an additional Director or fill a
casual vacancy as and when it arises) or any re-appointment of Directors is a matter
for decision by the Board upon the recommendation of the proposed candidate by

the Nomination Committee.
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The criteria to be applied in considering whether a candidate is qualified shall be his

or her ability to devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company

and contribute to the diversity of the Board as well as the effective carrying out by

the Board of the responsibilities which, in particular, are set out as follows:

(@)

(b)

(©)

(d

(e)

®

(9]

30

participating in Board meetings to bring an independent judgment on issues
of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, key appointments

and standards of conducts;

taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests arise;

serving on the Audit Committee, and the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee (in the case of candidate for non-executive Director)

and other relevant Board committees, if invited;

bringing a range of business and financial experience to the Board, giving
the Board and any Board committees on which he or she serves the benefit
of his or her skills, expertise, and varied backgrounds and qualifications
and diversity through attendance and participation in the Board/Committee

meetings;

scrutinising the Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate goals

and objectives, and monitoring the reporting of performance;

ensuring the Board committees on which he or she serves to perform their

powers and functions conferred on them by the Board; and

conforming to any requirement, direction and regulation that may from
time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the constitutional
documents of the Company or imposed by legislation or the Listing Rules,

where appropriate.
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If the candidate is proposed to be appointed as an independent non-executive
Director (“INED”), his or her independence shall be assessed in accordance with,
among other things, the factors as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, subject
to any amendments as may be made by the Stock Exchange from time to time.
where applicable, the totality of the candidate’s education, qualifications and
experience shall also be evaluated to consider whether he or she has the appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise
for filling the office of an INED with such qualifications or expertise as required
under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Nomination Committee held 1
meeting for assessing the independence of the independent non-executive Directors,
considering the re-election of Directors and reviewing the structure, size and

diversity of the Board.
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Number of

attendance
Name of Members JREYE4 R ERoE B0d i
Mr. Chau Wai Hing (Chairman) JE f B AR () /1
Mr. Tso Hon Sai Bosco W /1
Mr. Bai Xuefei Noeb RS (D n
Mr. Luo Jiaqi N2 5 325 e A i) N/A A6

Notes:

1. Mr. Bai Xuefei resigned on 28 January 2021, 1 meeting was held during his
tenure of office in 2020.

2. Mr. Luo Jiaqi was appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee on 28
January 2021.

Apart from the meeting held above, the Nomination Committee by passing of
written resolutions made recommendation to the Board on the appointment of

Directors.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established the Remuneration Committee with written terms of
reference and currently consists of three independent non-executive Directors,
namely Mr. Chau Wai Hing (as chairman), Mr. Ma Hang Kon Louis and Mr. Tso
Hon Sai Bosco. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is currently

made available on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website.

Terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are aligned with the code

provisions set out in the CG Code.

The main functions of the Remuneration Committee are (i) to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure on the
remuneration packages for all Directors’ and senior management’s remuneration
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy and (ii) to determine the remuneration package of executive

Directors and senior management.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Remuneration Committee held
1 meeting for reviewing the remuneration packages of the Directors and senior

management.

B & E &
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I PR = 4% % 32 JF U T R R LA () ~ S E
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(i) 5 U T 5 o B e A L 5 T 2
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B & W7 R E sk DU H R s A B
Fr <2

Number of
attendance
Name of Members & B k44 WEE SR
Mr. Chau Wai Hing (Chairman) JE f B AR () /1
Mr. Ma Hang Kon Louis HlEEeAE 1
Mr. Tso Hon Sai Bosco S 1/1

Apart from the meetings held above, the Remuneration Committee also by way of
written resolutions made recommendation on the remuneration of new executive

Directors.

The emoluments payable to Directors and senior management depend on their
respective contractual terms under the employment agreements, if any, and is
fixed by the Board with reference to the recommendation of the Remuneration
Committee, the performance of the Group and the prevailing market conditions.
Details of the remuneration of the Directors and senior management are set out in

notes 11 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee on 9 November 1999 with written
terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code and currently consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chau Wai Hing (as chairman),
Mr. Ma Hang Kon Louis and Mr. Tso Hon Sai Bosco. The terms of reference of the
Audit Committee is currently made available on the websites of the Stock Exchange

and the Company.

Terms of reference of the Audit Committee are aligned with the code provisions set
out in the CG Code.

The Audit Committee is mainly responsible for making recommendations to the
Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of the external auditors
and to approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors,
and any questions of resignation or dismissal of such auditors; reviewing the
interim and annual reports and financial statements of the Group; and overseeing
the Company’s financial reporting system including the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff in charge of the Company’s financial
reporting function and their training arrangement and budget, and risk management

and internal control systems.

The Audit Committee meets the external auditors regularly to discuss any area of
concern during the audit. The Audit Committee reviews the interim and annual
reports before submission to the Board. The Audit Committee focuses not only
on the impact of the changes in accounting policies and practices but also on the
compliance with accounting standards, the Listing Rules and the legal requirements

in the review of the Company’s interim and annual report.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee held 3 meetings.
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Number of
attendance
Name of Members KB R e R
Mr. Chau Wai Hing (Chairman) JEE LA () 3/3
Mr. Ma Hang Kon Louis BlEeAE 3/3
Mr. Tso Hon Sai Bosco S 3/3
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During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Audit Committee reviewed, among
others, the annual and interim results of the Group, which were in the opinion of the
Audit Committee that the preparation of such results complied with the applicable
accounting standards and the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee noted the
existing risk management and internal control systems of the Group and also noted
that review of the same will be carried out annually. The accounts for the year ended
31 December 2020 were audited by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose
term of office will expire upon the conclusion of the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company (“2021 AGM”). The Audit Committee has recommended
to the Board that HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited be re-appointed as the
auditors of the Company at the 2021 AGM.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The corporate governance functions are performed by the Board.

The corporate governance functions are to develop and review the Company’s
policies and practices on corporate governance to comply with the CG Code and
other legal or regulatory requirements, to oversee the Company’s orientation
program for new Director, to review and monitor the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management, to develop, review
and monitor the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to
employees and Directors, and to review the Company’s disclosure in the Corporate

Governance Report.

During the financial year ended 31 December 2020, the Board held 1 meeting
for reviewing the training and continuous professional development of Directors,
reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and reviewing the

Company’s disclosure in Corporation Governance Report.
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AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

During the year, the remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s auditors are set
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out below:
Fee paid/payable
R
Services rendered E PR % JEEAST 22
HK$’000
TH#IT
Audit services % B R%S
— current —E ] 2,700
Non-audit services IEZBRTS
— Review of disclosure of financial information — BRI S N B E R B
in interim report 350
Total: it 3,050
COMPANY SECRETARY AL

The Company engaged an external professional company secretarial services
provider, Uni-1 Corporate Services Limited (“Uni-1"), to provide compliance and
full range of company secretarial services to the Group in order to assist the Group
to cope with the changing regulatory environment and to suit different commercial

needs.

Ms. Chan Yuen Ying, Stella (“Ms. Chan”), the representative of Uni-1, was
appointed as the Company Secretary on 19 December 2012.

Mr. Luo Jiagi, an executive Director, is the primary point of contact at the Company

for the Company Secretary.

According to the requirements of Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Ms. Chan had
taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training for the financial year
ended 31 December 2020.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for communication
between the Shareholders and the Board. An annual general meeting of the
Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may be determined by the
Board. Each general meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called

a special general meeting.
Shareholders to convene a special general meeting

Shareholders may convene a special general meeting of the Company according
to the provisions as set out in the Bye-Laws and the Companies Act of Bermuda.
The procedures Shareholders can use to convene a special general meeting are set
out in the document entitled “Procedures for a Shareholder to Propose a Person for

Election as a Director”, which is currently available on the Company’s website.
Putting enquiries by Shareholders to the Board

Shareholders may send written enquiries to the Company for the attention of the

Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong.

Procedures for putting forward proposals by Shareholders
at Shareholders’ meeting

The number of members necessary for a requisition for putting forward a proposal

at a general meeting shall be:

(a)  any number of members representing not less than one-twentieth of the total

voting rights at the date of the requisition; or

(b)  not less than one hundred members.
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A copy or copies of requisition signed by all requisitionists shall be deposited, with
a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s expenses in giving notice of
the proposed resolution or circulating any necessary statement, at the Company’s

principal place of business in Hong Kong in the case of:

(a)  arequisition requiring notice of a resolution, not less than six weeks before

the meeting; and

(b)  any other requisition, not less than one week before the meeting.

The Company will verify the requisition and upon confirming that the requisition is

proper and in order, the Board will proceed with the necessary procedures.
VOTING BY POLL

Pursuant to Rule 13.39(4) of the Listing Rules, any vote of Shareholders at a
general meeting must be taken by poll except where the chairman of the meeting,
in good faith, decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a procedural or
administrative matter to be voted by a show of hands. As such, all the resolutions to
be set out in the notice of 2021 AGM will be voted by poll.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to a policy of open and regular communication and

reasonable disclosure of information to its Shareholders.

Information of the Company is disseminated to the Shareholders in the following

manner:
. Delivery of annual and interim reports to all Shareholders;
o Publication of announcements of the annual and interim results on the Stock

Exchange website, and issue of other announcements and Shareholders’
circulars in accordance with the continuing disclosure obligations under the

Listing Rules; and

. The general meeting of the Company is also an effective communication

channel between the Board and the Shareholders.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

In considering the payment of dividends, there shall be a balance between retaining
adequate reserves for the Group’s future growth and rewarding the Shareholders of

the Company.

The Board shall also take into account, among other things, the following when

considering the declaration and payment of dividends:

- the Group's overall results of operation, financial condition, working capital
requirements, capital expenditure requirements, liquidity position and future

expansions plans;
- the amount of retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company;

- general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s business and
other internal or external factors that may have an impact on the business or

financial performance and position of the Group; and
- any other factors that the Board deems relevant.

The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is subject to any
restrictions under the laws of Bermuda, the Company’s Bye-Laws, the Listing

Rules and any other applicable laws and regulations.

The Company does not have any pre-determined dividend distribution ratio. The
Company’s dividend distribution record in the past may not be used as a reference
or basis to determine the level of dividends that may be declared or paid by the

Company in the future.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by
the Group in respect of its future dividend and/or in no way obligate the Group to

declare a dividend at any time or from time to time.

The Board will continually review the dividend policy and reserves the right in its
sole and absolute discretion to update, amend, modify and/or cancel the dividend

Policy at any time.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility to prepare the Group’s consolidated
financial statements for each financial year which give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Group and of the financial performance and cash flows of
the Group for that year. In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2020, the Board has selected suitable accounting policies
and applied them consistently; made judgements and estimates that are prudent, fair

and reasonable and prepared the accounts on a going concern basis.

The Directors are responsible for taking all reasonable and necessary steps to
safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent and detect fraud and other

irregularities.

The Directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that the Group has
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future
based on the fact that 1) the debt restructuring plan is expected to be launched in
the second half of 2021; 2) the sale of Yanglin Project can improve the cashflow
of the Group; and 3) certain existing creditors will provide financial support to the
Group, and that, for this reason, it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in

preparing the consolidated financial statements.
RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems are designed to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material

misstatement or loss.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities (with relevant authorities) of
risk management and internal control to the Audit Committee, who oversees
management in the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk management
and internal control systems, and management has provided a confirmation to the
Audit Committee (and the Board) on the effectiveness of these systems for the year
ended 31 December 2020.
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Main features of the risk management and internal control J B A B B A S B 1 AR A ) 32 R R
systems

The risk management framework of the Group and main responsibilities of the A 8 2 JeR o A T 2R D B ZE A 9 5 iR B Y 3 R
members in the framework are described as follows: BfAUT :

Board of Directors

HEE

Board level Audit Committee

T e

e Headquarter of the Group
Deputy Manager/ A [ A
Senior Management Level i

HALEIERIAEPR RS e

Internal Audit function
W IIRE

Management of subsidiaries

R ARl

Department managers of subsidiaries

8 AT L
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Member Main Responsibilities JRE FHEMH
The Board o+ Set up goals for risk management strategy, assess and HEE o BT L PR TSR R 0 BT AN KR E
determine the nature and extent of risk acceptable to PSRRI T R 0
achieve the strategy goals; HHEREE
+ Establish and maintain a proper and effective risk o WL B HERE T ROA A B
management and internal control systems; KA R4
* Review the effectiveness of the risk management and o B EBEEERABEERANA
internal control systems. Rtk
Audit Committee *  Assist the Board in overseeing the risk level and the EBEE o T By E e B 22 B K T DR R B

design and performance of the risk management and
internal control systems;

Discuss the risk management and internal control
systems with the management, ensure the management
has fulfilled its responsibility of establishing effective
systems;

Ensure that the internal audit function has sufficient
resources for operation and has a proper position, review
and supervise its performance;

Keep updated of various major risks confronted by the
Group and the risk management status, make decisions
for effective risk control;

Report the risk status of the Group and issues to be
concerned or improved to the Board on a regular basis;
Review the Risk Management Operation Manual and its
amendments;

Facilitate risk management and assessment, regularly
appoint relevant accountable persons to implement risk
assessment;

Organise and promote the establishment of the risk
management system at the group level;

Review material risk assessment report and various risk

management reports,
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Member

Main Responsibilities

KRB

FHRMH

The Group’s Headquarter

48 Carnival Group International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2020

Review major risk management measures, rectify and
deal with the decisions made or actions adopted by
relevant organisations or individuals beyond the risk
management system;

Engage relevant persons to organise and coordinate
various departments and projects to carry out
identification and assessment of significant risks at the
group level, summarise and analyse such information,
submit risk assessment and various risk management
reports;

Carry out risk management for other major issues.

Design, implement and supervise the risk management
and internal control systems, maintain and update the risk
management manual;

Oversee the implementation of the risk management
policy and program, develop assessment standards and
organisation for risk management;

Carry out relevant measures for construction of the risk
management and internal control systems, organise the
assessment on the management of subsidiaries and the
building of a risk management team;

Continuously monitor risks to ensure principal risks are
controlled within the tolerance of the Group;

Assess the external circumstance of the Group and
enterprise macro-risk, propose a risk response plan
regarding the risks inherent in the environment, strategy
and operation process of the Company;

Organise and facilitate the construction of the risk
management system at the group level;

Organise and coordinate various functions of the
headquarter and the subsidiary to carry out major
risk identification and assessment at the group level,
summarise and analyse such information to prepare
a material risk assessment report and various risk
management reports at the group level, report to the Audit

Committee the major risks at the group level;
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Member

Main Responsibilities

KRB
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FHRMH

Management of subsidiaries

Department managers of

subsidiaries

Internal audit function

Control the risks at the group level, conduct research to
propose measures and plans for management of major
risks at the group level, provide professional opinions for
major risk decisions;

Supervise the cultivation of the overall risk management

culture of the Group.

Ensure that the subsidiaries carry out the risk assessment
in compliance with the risk management manual
formulated by the Group;

Review and approve the risk assessment results of the
subsidiaries in respect of the business;

Ensure that the subsidiaries implement effective risk
management;

Monitor the principal business risks confronted by
the subsidiaries and the effectiveness of relevant risk
management measures;

Allocate resources such as fund and workforce to the
subsidiaries for implementation of the risk assessment

projects.

Regularly update the risk register for its scope of business

and carry out risk assessment as required by the Group;

Formulate and implement a risk response plan for its
scope of business, facilitate and implement the specific
risk management measures;

Monitor various risks for its scope of business and report
risk information to the Risk Management Committee of
the Group in a timely manner;

Deal with other works related to risk management.

Report directly to the Audit Committee, analyze and
conduct independent assessment on the adequacy and
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control

systems.
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The process used to identify, evaluate and manage significant

risks

The risk management process of the Group is described as follows:
Project initiation ~ — initiate risk management and prepare for relevant
activities.

Risk identification — identify the current risks confronted.
Risk analysis = conduct two-dimension analysis on the risk including
the impact extent and possibility of occurrence.

Risk response - choose a proper risk response method and develop a risk
mitigation strategy.

Control measures — propose up-to-date internal control measures and policy
and process.

Risk control = continuously monitor the risks identified and implement
relevant internal control measures to ensure the effective
operation of the risk response strategy.

Risk management — summarise results of risk assessment and analysis and

report internal audit, formulate and report an action plan.

Internal audit function

The Group’s internal audit function is performed by an internal audit team, which

reports directly to the Audit Committee.

The Board also engaged an external independent consultant on internal audit, to
conduct the annual review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal

control systems for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The Group has properly followed all recommendations provided by the external
independent consultant, and ensures these recommendations will be implemented

within a reasonable time.
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Handling and dissemination of inside information

The Group regulates the handling and dissemination of inside information
according to the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” published by
the Securities and Future Commission in June 2012 to ensure inside information
remains confidential until the disclosure of such information is appropriately
approved, and the dissemination of such information is efficiently and consistently
made. The Company regularly reminds the Directors and employees about due
compliance with all policies regarding the inside information. Also, the Company
keeps Directors, senior management and employees appraised of the latest
regulatory updates. The Company shall prepare or update appropriate guidelines or

policies to ensure the compliance with regulatory requirements.

The Board has conducted a review of the systems of risk management and internal
control for the year ended 31 December 2020 to ensure the effectiveness and
adequacy of the systems. Such review shall be conducted annually. The Board
considered that the risk management and internal control systems of Company for

the year ended 31 December 2020 were effective and adequate.
CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents during the year
ended 31 December 2020.
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The Directors are pleased to present the annual report and the audited consolidated

financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020.
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities and other particulars of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 44 to

the consolidated financial statements.
BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review, analysis using financial key performance indicators and
future development in the Company’s business of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2020 are set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and

Analysis” on pages 10 to 26 of this annual report.

The environmental policies and performance, compliance with relevant laws
and regulations and relationships with employees are also discussed in the

Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 66 to 85.
Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Risks Pertaining to the Property Market

Project expansion by commercial brand from home and aboard has resulted in
fierce competition among markets of second and third-tier cities in the PRC.
Coupled with the growing of the existing competitors and the increasing of potential
competitors, the market competition is getting more intensified. Confronted by the
fierce competition from other operators, the Company needs to review its brand
positioning and adopt phased upgrading and adjustment; otherwise, the business,

operating results and the financial position would be materially adversely affected.

In addition, the Company has material interests in residential and commercial
property development and property investment in the PRC and is therefore subject
to the risks associated with the PRC’s property market. The Company’s operations
in the PRC may also be exposed to the risks of policy changes, currency fluctuation,
interest rate changes, demand-supply imbalance, changes in the overall economic
conditions, competition in the labor market, and availability of financing, which
may pose an adverse impact on the Company’s business, financial condition or

results of operations.
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The Company will actively collect data to have a better understanding of the
market and develop coping strategies. The Company also conducts research in the
properties nearby the project to have a good knowledge of the regional market,
adjust its sales price and set up marketing plans and schedules, with an aim to

maintain the Company’s competitiveness in the industry.

Business Risk

Property development comprises multiple phases which include site selection,
land acquisition, planning, design, construction, sales and after-sales service.
Project development typically requires long turnover periods, significant financial
investments and interaction with numerous parties. It is also subject to approval
and supervision by a number of government authorities, such as authorities for the
administration of land and resources, housing and urban-rural development, fire
prevention and environmental protection, and will also be affected by factors such

as market conditions.

In recent years, the government has announced policies containing more stringent
approval requirements for land transactions, housing layout planning and
application for construction permits and sales permits etc. This may result in even
longer turnover periods for the Company’s property development and sales, and

increase our development costs and development risks.

As a property development company, if we are unable to obtain land required for
our project development in a timely manner, our production operations will be
forced into suspension. At present, the transfer of land sites for development and
construction in the PRC is conducted through the “tender, auction and listing”
system of transfer in the public market. Property development companies face
intense competition in land acquisition. If the Company is unable to acquire land
sites required for project development in a timely manner and maintain a dynamic
land bank required for ongoing development, the Company’s development will
be restrained and the continuous growth in the Company’s revenue and operating

results will be seriously affected.
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Financial Risk

An effective and sound financial management system is essential to the Company’s
operations. The Company may be exposed and impacted by factors such as shortage

of fund flow, increase in costs of funding and currency fluctuation.

The finance team is embedded within the Group to provide financial management
support by monitoring the financial market conditions and setting an appropriate
financial strategy. The Company maintains an open and proactive relationship with
the banking community, arranging different terms of loan facilities from different
sources with different tenures and ensures continuous assessment of counterparty

risks.
Compliance with the Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the year under review, as far as the Board and management are aware,
there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the applicable laws
and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the businesses and

operation of the Group.

Key Relationships with Employees, Customers and
Suppliers

The Group recognises that employees are one of the significant assets of the Group.
The Group aims to continue establishing a caring environment to employees and

emphasis the personal development of its employees.

The Group maintains a good relationship with our customers and suppliers. The
Group aims to continue providing quality services and consumption experiences to

our customers and establishing cooperation strategy with our suppliers.
RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on pages
90 to 91.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended
31 December 2020 (2019: Nil).
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CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group did not make any charitable
donations (2019: HK$3,000).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the year ended 31 December 2020 in the property,
plant and equipment of the Group are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial

statements.
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements during the year ended 31 December 2020 in the
investment properties of the Group are set out in note 16 to the consolidated

financial statements.
DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 December 2020, the aggregate amount of reserves available for distribution
to equity holders of the Company was approximately HK$12,034,191,000 (2019:
approximately HK$4,526,612,000).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital during the year are set out in note 28

to the consolidated financial statements.
PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-
laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was
incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata
basis to existing Shareholders of the Company.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2020.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors and senior
management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted indemnity provision
is in force for the benefit of the Directors as required by section 470 of the
Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) when the Directors’
Report prepared by the Directors is approved in accordance with section 391(1) (a)
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong).

GROUP FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five

financial years is set out on page 256 of this report.
DIRECTORS

The list of Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
annual report is set out below:

Executive Directors
Mr. Zhang Peng (resigned on 26 February 2020)
Mr. Bai Xuefei (resigned on 28 January 2021)
Mr. Luo Jiaqi (appointed on 26 February 2020)

Mr. Tin Ka Pak (appointed on 18 December 2020 and
resigned on 15 May 2021)

Mr. Tang Runtao (appointed on 25 January 2021)
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chau Wai Hing
Mr. Ma Hang Kon Louis
Mr. Tso Hon Sai Bosco

In accordance with Bye-law 111 of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Ma Hang Kon Louis and
Mr. Tso Hon Sai Bosco shall retire from office as Directors by rotation in the 2021
AGM. Both of them, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the 2021
AGM.

In accordance with Bye-law 115 of the Bye-Laws, Mr. Tang Runtao, being Director
appointed after the 2020 AGM, shall be subject to re-election at the 2021 AGM,
and, being eligible, offers himself for re-election at the 2021 AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Mr. Luo Jiaqi entered into a service contract with the Company on 26 February
2020 for a term of three years commencing from 26 February 2020 unless
terminated by not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either party to

the other. He is subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Bye-laws.

Mr. Tang Runtao entered into a service contract with the Company on 25 January
2021 for a term of three years commencing from 25 January 2021 unless terminated
by not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either party to the other. He
is subject to retirement and re-election at the 2021 AGM after his appointment and

thereafter subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Bye-laws.

Each of Mr. Chau Wai Hing, Mr. Ma Hang Kon Louis and Mr. Tso Hon Sai Bosco
signed an appointment letter issued by the Company on 3 May 2019 for an initial
term of one year commencing on 3 May 2019, which is automatically renewable
for successive term of one year upon expiry of the said term, unless terminated by
not less than one month’s notice in writing served by either party to the other. They
are subject to retirement by rotation at least once in every three years in accordance
with the Bye-Laws. Each of them signed a renewed letter of appointment issued by
the Company on 28 May 2021 for the renewal of the term of appointment for one

year.

Directors’ Report

HEGHRE

B IEPAT S

e B e A
L EL S e
et

MRy RRAN RSB 1% S oA R B i E e A 2R
MR EREEERG LR ERS - 5F
HRFEERH EEE - Z - ~FREAFERT LH
BT

MRIRRRAAE 11505 R BEREAERE
éééé&zé%%ﬁ%%%ﬁﬁ’»‘ TR E
ERG FHZER WA ERLESE T - —
SRR A AR K& | E AT o

AP ZRB S5

WMETHRAER T REH ZFNHEEAAFE
SRBAEAEHA S E S EE A NHEES
W =40 BRIEE — 7 M — A A DR —MEA
T A RN T AR b o 1 BT AR T A A R i i 2B o

R ER A S A HBEAREET
MRBES EME S - R HEE
R A= AR BRIFAEAT— 5 181 55 — 77 3 A D TR —
HEWA R T UL - AR B IERAE ~Z . —4F
AR UE AR R & BB R R S S HAR AR T
LA 0 2R

AL S B E A R R R AR
—NEAA=ZHBEBHARAFBHNEES 95
EE L HA = HE A4 AR
e i 42 B B A —4F > BRIEAE —T7 1A 55 — 77 B
ZV/"E"‘*fIHiﬁi%ﬂ?bﬁ*tﬂﬂi%?ﬁ*ﬁﬁ%ﬁ
R4 2/ D g =R T — R WEFHR
:*ﬂiﬁﬁj4+/\E§%m$ﬁﬂ§§tﬂﬂgﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂﬁc&
ol —1Fo

AR R PE A R F] | 20204F 8 57



Directors’ Report
HAEFGRE

None of the Directors who are proposed for re-election at the 2021 AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable within one year

without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.
CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive Directors,
a confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
The Company considers that all of the independent non-executive Directors are

independent.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under section headed “Share Option Schemes” below, at no
time during the year ended 31 December 2020 was the Company, or any of its
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors to acquire benefits
by means of acquisition of share in, or debt securities, including debenture, of the

Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed below in the section headed “Significant Related Party
Transactions” in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements, no significant
transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Group’s business to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a Director
of the Company had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly subsisted at

the year-end or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES
AND UNDERLYING SHARES

None of the Directors, chief executives of the Company or their associates had
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations as defined in Part XV of the
Securities and Future Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the
“SFQ”) as recorded in the register to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code as at 31 December 2020.
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B
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS T B R 7 B A B R By 2 A
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND B
UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 December 2020, the register of substantial Shareholders maintained by MRZBZZIEFZH=T—H REARAFEE T
the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO, the following Shareholders had BB ARBI 33616 7 B 2 F B B M T
notified the Company of relevant interests or short position in shares and underlying I RS B L0 8 AR A A AR S A AR 2 ) i B A A

shares of Company as follows: Rt 2 A BFRERS SR A AT
Approximate
percentage of
the issued share
Long position/ Ordinary shares  Derivative shares capital of
Name of Shareholders Capacity Short position (no. of shares) (no. of shares) the Company Notes
ik 2 H
Wi fiikfk CRITHRA
[} SR YA Shr 4R/ A (b8 H) (Bt H) WAETEE  WE
Mr. King Pak Fu (“Mr. King”) Interest of controlled Long position 283,829,370 - 29.94 1
corporations
REFRAE (RE) ZAEEERE WA
Interest of controlled Short position 238,025,090 - 25.11 1
corporations
AR RE R ®a
Beneficial owner Long position 10,668,400 - 1.13 1
HRHAN e
Beneficial owner Short position 10,668,400 - 1.13 1
BaA A ®a
Better Joint Ventures Limited Beneficial owner Long position 127,769,479 = 13.48 2
(“Better Joint™)
Better Joint Ventures Limited HRBA A A
(" Better Joint |)
Beneficial owner Short position 100,748,000 - 10.62 2
HElAA ®a
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Approximate
percentage of
the issued share
Long position/ Ordinary shares  Derivative shares capital of
Name of Shareholders Capacity Short position (no. of shares) (no. of shares) the Company Notes
A2
Wi frikiz CHITRA
[z YE St YRR (8 H) (Rt H) WamEa  WE
Elite Mile Investments Limited Beneficial owner Long position 92,669,548 - 9.77 3
(“Elite Mile”)
RREEARAR (MER)  HEHAA 4a
Beneficial owner Short position 92,669,548 - 9.77 3
HRHAN ®a
China Huarong Asset Interest of controlled Long position 145,145,548 - 15.31 6
Management Co., Ltd. corporations
B i P PR AR A SR G e
AIRAH
Huarong International Financial Interest of controlled Long position 127,525,148 - 13.45 6
Holdings Limited corporations
EMRRESRERARSR  REEEER e
Fresh Idea Ventures Limited Security interests Long position 127,525,148 - 13.45 6
TR RE A e
Haitong International Securities Interest of controlled Long position 57,951,660 - 6.11 4
Group Limited corporation
RN REARAT REEEER e
Interest of controlled Short position - 39,951,660 422 4
corporation
SR G Ha
Chu Yuet Wah Interest of controlled Long position 62,400,000 - 6.58 5
corporations
ZHE LB e
Kingston Finance Limited Security interest Long position 62,400,000 - 6.58 5
SAEMBEARAR Orig i e
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Notes:

127,769,479 ordinary shares in long position and 100,748,000 ordinary shares in
short position are held through Better Joint, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability which is wholly and beneficially owned
by Mr. King; (ii) 44,607,542 ordinary shares in both long position and short
position are held through Glory Merit, a company incorporated in the British
Virgin Islands with limited liability which is beneficially owned as to 99% by Mr.
King; (iii) 92,669,548 ordinary shares in both long position and short position
are held through Elite Mile, a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands
with limited liability which is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. King; (iv)
2,135,600 ordinary shares are held through Ever Success Ventures Limited, a
company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with limited liability which
is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. King; (v) 16,647,200 shares are held
through Sino Wealthy Limited, a company which is wholly-owned by Bremwood
Holdings Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by Gauteng Focus Limited,
which is in turn wholly-owned by Rentian Technology Holdings Limited (in
liquidation), a company which is held as to 24.51% by Mystery Idea Limited, a
company wholly-owned by Mr. King; and (vi) 10,668,400 ordinary shares held
directly by Mr. King.

Better Joint is the legal and beneficial owner of 127,769,479 ordinary shares in
long position and 100,748,000 ordinary shares in short position. Better Joint is
wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. King. By virtue of the SFO, Mr. King is
deemed to be interested in those shares held by Better Joint.

Elite Mile is the legal and beneficial owner of 92,669,548 ordinary shares of the
Company. Elite Mile is wholly and beneficially owned by Mr. King. By virtue of
the SFO, Mr. King is deemed to be interested in those shares held by Elite Mile.

These include (i) 11,823,260 ordinary shares held through Haitong International
New Energy VIII Limited, which is wholly-owned by Castle Range
Developments Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by Haitong International
(BVI) Limited; (ii) 46,128,400 ordinary shares in long position and 39,951,660
derivative shares in short position held through Haitong International Financial
Solutions Limited, which is wholly-owned by Haitong International Finance
Company Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by Haitong International
(BVI) Limited. Haitong International (BVI) Limited is wholly-owned by Haitong
International Securities Group Limited, which is owned as to 63.08% by Haitong
International Holdings Limited, a company which is wholly-owned by Haitong
Securities Co., Ltd. By virtue of the SFO, Haitong Securities Co., Ltd is deemed
to be interested in those interests held by Haitong International Securities Group
Limited.
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These include security interest in 62,400,000 ordinary shares held through
Kingston Finance Limited, which is wholly-owned by Ample Cheer Limited,
which is in turn owned as to 20% by Insight Glory Limited and owned as to 80%
by Best Forth Limited, both companies are wholly-owned by Chu Yuet Wah.

These include (i) 17,620,400 ordinary shares held through Brilliant Nexus
Limited, which is wholly-owned by China Huarong Overseas Investment
Holdings Co., Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by 4% il 5% % & & & B
%13 F BR A Fl, which is owned as to 91% by Huarong Zhiyuan Investment &
Management Co., Ltd. which is in turn wholly-owned by China Huarong Asset
Management Co., Ltd.; and (ii) security interest in 127,525,148 ordinary shares
held through Fresh Idea Ventures Limited, which is wholly-owned by Linewear
Assets Limited, which is in turn wholly-owned by Huarong International
Financial Holding Ltd.. Huarong International Financial Holding Ltd. is owned
as to 51% by Camellia Pacific Investment Holdings Limited, which is wholly-
owned by China Huarong International Holdings Ltd., a company which is
owned as to 84.84%, 13.36% and 1.8% by China Huarong Asset Management
Co. Ltd., Rl & E R EE M AR A A and Huarong Zhiyuan Investment
& Management Co., Ltd. respectively. By virtue of the SFO, China Huarong
Asset Management Co. Ltd. is deemed to be interested in those interests held by
Brilliant Nexus Limited and Fresh Idea Ventures Limited.

Save as disclosed above, no other parties were recorded in the register of the

Company required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO as having interests

or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company as at 31
December 2020.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as the Company’s code of conduct for dealing
in securities of the Company by the Directors. In response to the Company’s
specific enquiry made, all Directors have confirmed that they have complied with
the required standard set out in the Model Code for the year ended 31 December
2020.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

There were no connected transactions during the year ended 31 December 2020.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Directors consider that the related party transactions disclosed under Note 39 to
the consolidated financial statements did not fall under the definition of “connected
transaction” or “continuing connected transaction” in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules which are required to comply with any of the reporting, announcement or
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under the Listing Rules. The
Group has complied with the disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) at the
annual general meeting of the Company held on 31 May 2013. Pursuant to the
Share Option Scheme, the Board may at its discretion offer options to any eligible
participants including, but not limited to, any person being an employee, executive
directors, or non-executive directors (including independent non-executive
directors) of the Group or any invested entity and any supplier, adviser or consultant
to any area of business or business development of any member of the Group or any

invested entity.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares available for issue
under the Share Option Scheme (after considering the share options already granted
under the Share Option Scheme) is 51,655,536, representing approximately 5.45%

of the shares in issue as at the date of this annual report.
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EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as those disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option Scheme” in this
Directors’ Report and “Capital Structure, Liquidity and Financial Resources” in
the Management Discussion and Analysis, no other equity-linked agreements were

entered into by the Group, or existed during the year ended 31 December 2020.
SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2020 are

set out in note 43 to the consolidated financial statements.
BORROWINGS

Particulars of loans of the Group as at 31 December 2020 are set out in note 30 to

the consolidated financial statements.
MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Contracts with the Group’s five largest suppliers combined by value, accounted
for 84.1% in value of total purchases during the year ended 31 December 2020,
while contracts with the Group’s largest supplier by value, accounted for 44.6% in
value of total purchases during the year ended 31 December 2020. Contracts with
the Group’s five largest customers aggregated accounted for less than 55% of the

Group’s sales during the year ended 31 December 2020.

None of the Directors, their associates or any other Shareholder (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital)

had an interest in the major suppliers or customers noted above.
EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy for the employees of the Group is set up on the basis of
their merit, qualifications and competence. The emoluments of the Directors are
decided by the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics. Details of the
Group’s retirement benefit plans are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial

statements.
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DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

Details of the remuneration of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2020

are set out in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.
PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float as

required under the Listing Rules during the year and up to the date of this report.
AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee on 9 November 1999 with written
terms of reference, which was revised on 29 December 2015 and 28 March 2019,
respectively to be in compliance with the CG Code. The primary duties of the
Audit Committee are to review and supervise the financial reporting system and to
review the risk management and internal control systems of the Group. The Audit
Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors of the Company,
Mr. Chau Wai Hing (as chairman), Mr. Ma Hang Kon Louis and Mr. Tso Hon
Sai Bosco. The Audit Committee has reviewed the audited consolidated financial

statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020.
AUDITORS

The accounts for the years ended 31 December 2018, 2019 and 2020 were audited
by HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited whose term of office will expire upon the
conclusion of the 2021 AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of HLB Hodgson
Impey Cheng Limited as auditors of the Company for the subsequent year is to be
proposed at the 2021 AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Carnival Group International Holdings Limited
Luo Jiaqi
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 May 2021
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BRIE ~ #h & RO TR P

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Carnival Group International Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together with
its subsidiaries (the “Group”), is pleased to present this Environmental, Social
and Governance Report (the “Report”) to provide an overview of the Group’s
management on significant issues affecting the operation, and the performance of
the Group in terms of environmental and social aspects. This Report is prepared
by the Group with the professional assistance of Absolute Value Business & Asset

Valuation Limited.
Preparation Basis and Scope

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix 27 to the rules governing
the listing of securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) — “Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide” and has complied with “comply or explain” provision in the

Listing Rules.

This Report summarises the performance of the Group in respect of corporate social
responsibility, covering its operating activities which are considered as material
by the Group — property development and investment in the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”) and Hong Kong (“HK”). With the aim to optimise and improve the
disclosure requirements in the Report, the Group has taken initiative to formulate
policies, record relevant data, implement and monitor measures. This Report shall
be published both in Chinese and English on the website of Stock Exchange. Should
there be any discrepancy between the Chinese and the English versions, the English

version shall prevail.

Reporting Period

This Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives during the reporting period
from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020.

Contact Information

The Group welcomes your feedback on this Report for our sustainability initiatives.

Please contact us by email to security @0996.com.hk.
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INTRODUCTION

The Group is principally engaged in theme-based leisure and consumption
business, focusing on the design, development and operation of integrated large-
scale tourist complex projects in key cities in and outside the PRC. We are the only
publicly listed operator of large-scale integrated tourism, hospitality and retail
attraction, consisting of theme parks, hotels, premium outlet shopping, dining,
conference and exhibition centres, entertainment and recreational facilities in the
PRC. We aim to provide our customers with a themed one-stop shop for leisure,
shopping, dining, entertainment and culture, and in return, we are capturing the
fast-growing Chinese tourism market brought by the increasing spending power of

Chinese population.

The Group has recognised the importance of sustainable development as it is crucial
for the growth of the Group to achieve business excellence and to enhance long-
term competitiveness. Sustainable development is ingrained in our core value. The
Group endeavours to create long-term value for our stakeholders, including our
employees, customers, shareholders, suppliers and the community as a whole. We
engage with our stakeholders on an on-going basis to collect their views and act on
their feedback. The key interests and concerns of our stakeholders are reflected and

prioritised for disclosure in the report.
STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group’s business depends on the support
from its key stakeholders, who (a) have invested or will invest in the Group; (b)
have the ability to influence the outcomes within the Group; and (c) are interested
in or affected by or have the potential to be affected by the impact of the Group’s
activities, products, services and relationships. It allows the Group to understand
risks and opportunities. The Group will continue to ensure effective communication

and maintain good relationship with each of its key stakeholders.

Stakeholders are prioritised from time to time in view of the Group’s roles
and duties, strategic plan and business initiatives. The Group engages with its
stakeholders to develop mutually beneficial relationships and to seek their views
on its business proposals and initiatives as well as to promote sustainability in the

marketplace, workplace, community and environment.
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The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence gained from the
stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and continuous interest in the Group’s business
activities. The Group has identified key stakeholders that are important to our
business and established various channels for communication. The following table

provides an overview of the Group’s key stakeholders, and various platforms and

methods of communication are used to reach, listen and respond.

Stakeholders
RETN

Issues of concern
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Engagement channels
e Jubsi

Government and Regulatory

authorities

R B i

Shareholders and Investors

SR B $e EH

To comply with the laws and regulations

By IR E B

Proper tax payment

TR

Social responsibility

HEEE

Promote regional economic development and

employment

e 2 S kA8 3 8 e B S

Low risk

fECJE B

Return on the investments

g (IR

Protection of interests and fair treatment of

shareholders

DR A SRR 2 B 28 - B R AR B

Information disclosure and transparency

B TR R e i I

Operations in compliance with applicable

laws, rules and regulations
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Stakeholders Issues of concern Engagement channels
RSN B T S HRHE
Employees - Safeguard the rights and interests of - Training, seminars and briefing sessions
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- Cultural and sport activities

- Occupational health and safety S AL KA B IEE)

- R

- Decent working environment
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- Career development opportunities

- HEREEE
Customers - Product quality and quantity assurance - Company website, brochures, annual reports and
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- Stable and long-term relationship

- RERREE

- Information transparency

- AMEWE

- Integrity
S

- Business ethics
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- Customer service hotline
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Through general communication with stakeholders, the Group understands the
expectations and concerns from stakeholders. The feedbacks obtained allow the
Group to make more informed decisions, and to better assess and manage the

resulting impact.

The Group have adopted the principle of materiality in the ESG reporting by
understanding the key ESG issues that are important to the business of the Group.
All the key ESG issues and key performance indicators (KPIs) are reported in the
Report according to recommendations of the ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix 27
of the Listing Rules) and the GRI Guidelines.

The Group have evaluated the materiality and importance in ESG aspects through

the following steps:
Step 1: Identification — Industry Benchmarking

. Relevant ESG areas were identified through the review of relevant ESG

reports of the local and international industry peers.

. The materiality of each ESG areas was determined based on the
important of each ESG area to the Group through internal discussion
of the management and the recommendation of ESG Reporting Guide
(Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules).

Step 2: Prioritisation — Stakeholder Engagement

. The Group discussed with key stakeholders on key ESG area identified

above to ensure all the key aspects to be covered.

Step 3: Validation — Determining Material Issues

. Based on the discussion with key stakeholders and internal discussion
among the management, the Group’s management ensured all the key
and material ESG areas, which is important to the business development,

were reported and in compliance with ESG Reporting Guide.

As a result of this process carried out in 2020, those important ESG areas to the

Group were discussed in this Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group is committed to operating its businesses in an environmentally
responsible manner through improving energy efficiency and minimising its
environmental footprint. We understand that every property development project
may cause an impact to the environment. To minimise the environmental impact of
construction work, environmental impact assessment was carried out in the Group’s
flagship project — Rio Carnival (Qingdao). Monitoring environmental impacts
is also integrated into its business operations, as efficient use of environmental
resources can contribute to the operational efficiency and long-term sustainability
of the company. The Group has established and implemented corresponding
policies and procedures to set a guideline for the reduction of environmental
impacts in its facilities, such as hotel and shopping centre. The Group is in strict
compliance with the Regulations on the Administration of Construction Project
Environmental Protection, and other relevant laws and regulations, and had no
material non-compliance regarding environmental issues during the reporting

period.

EMISSIONS

Air Pollutants Emission

Emission control is essential to mitigate the impact on the environment and to
protect the health of employees. For our property development construction
projects, the Group encourages its construction contractor to use responsible
construction practices to reduce air pollutants emission and carries out monitoring
procedures to ensure that the construction work complies with the relevant national
laws and regulations. For example, the Group encourages the contractor to reduce
the dust emission by spraying water when earth-moving activities or excavation are
carried out. The Group’s air pollutants emission is mainly generated from the use of

vehicles and natural gas.
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The air pollutants emission generated from the Group during the reporting period is 2 A5 B 7 B S 1 2 A P 22 RS B T R A T

as follows:

2020 2019

Air Pollutants Unit Total Total
SRR ~ZEJUE

RIS i fast #5k
Nitrogen oxides (NOy) KHELMIWNOY kg5 1,179.72 1,227.01
Sulfur dioxide (§02) ZREHS02) kg5 27.68 600.63
Particular matter (PM) JRTF R F(PM) kg5 85.97 45.12

Greenhouse Gas (“GHG”’) Emission i = ) PEIR

The Group recognises that climate change poses a risk to its business and it is A S5 18] B A S 2 L 3 H S S 8 R LB - I B0 4
committed to mitigating the effects of climate change. GHG is considered as i SR A B AL 1 5 2 o T 3 SRS BB 2 2 SRR AE
one of the major contributors to the climate change. As the majority of the GHG FHJF R Z — o FR A G B 1 K6 47 Tt =25 SRl BT
emission of the Group comes from energy consumption, the Group tackles its GHG A RE R JF RE A S 9] 25 08 B A JRURE I R = R
emission by reducing the energy consumption. The Group regards “China’s 13th BEPERR o AR BT+ = F) B RE I BEAE & TAE T
of five-year national energy conservation and emission reduction comprehensive ) E 2 ELURBE T R P9 0 1 1 B © fE R AR08
work planning” as its internal control policy for the emission reduction. Measures P 2518 77 T R 4 1 S5 DRl 6 RE 1 8 HE o B R
to encourage energy saving have been incorporated throughout our operations. TR A i o T e P ) — B o[BI T7 A  E F hd E
Details are mentioned in the section “Use of Resources” of this Report. Regarding HE o B — R PR L R B R = R
GHG emissions of the Group, scope 1 direct emissions and scope 2 and 3 indirect A 3 B AR IR A B AP o

emissions are mainly resulted from combustion of fuels in motor vehicles and

purchased electricity respectively.
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The GHG emission during the reporting period is as follows:

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
BB g R RRE

T2 B R S0 P ) T 2 SR PR R AT

2020 2019

Gas Emission! Unit Total Total

TR “E—JUE
& SRR HiHL A5t A
Scope 12 tonnes of CO2-e 158.92 108.86
i [ —2 L7/ = [ =
Scope 23 tonnes of CO2-e 11,085.72 16,128.16
i L7/ = [ =
Scope 3* Tonnes of CO2-e 97.87 167.93
i [ =4 R — AL B
Total tonnes of CO2-e 11,342.51 16,404.95
Ht g — AL R
Intensity’ tonnes of CO2-e¢/employee 42.96 50.32
L L7 ¥ (R 4= 5 - P T=

Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes

The Group’s operational activities do not involve in the generation of hazardous
waste. For the non-hazardous waste generation, the Group takes effort to reduce
the non-hazardous waste in different property business operations by implementing
corresponding measures. As the non-hazardous wastes are relatively less important

to the Group, thus, we do not disclose the amount in this report.

For the construction projects, the Group encourages its contractors to reuse and
recycle waste generated from construction and demolition. For shopping centre,
there are several recycling bins located inside and outside the centre to separately
collect recyclable and non-recyclable wastes. Electric hand dryers are installed in
the washing rooms in the shopping centre to encourage the customers not to use
towel paper to reduce waste. For our restaurants in the hotel, we recommend our
customers in reducing food waste by posting notice. We record and separately
collect the food waste for the formulation of related reduction measures. In our
managed residential community, we have organised recycling activities for books
to encourage the reduction of waste. In office, the employees are encouraged to use

double-sided printing and to bring their own cups to minimise the use of paper and

paper cups.

1 The calculation of the greenhouse gas emission is based on the “Corporate
accounting and Reporting Standard” from Greenhouse Gas Protocol.

2 Scope 1: Direct emissions from sources that are owned or controlled by the
Group.

3 Scope 2: Indirect emissions from purchased electricity consumed by the Group.

Scope 3: Indirect emissions from water supply and sewage treatment.
5 The intensity refers to tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2-e) per the total
number of employees at the end of the reporting period.
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USE OF RESOURCES

The Group has implemented different measures to achieve efficient use of energy

and water for long-term sustainability.
Energy

To reduce electricity consumption, motion-activated lighting systems are installed
in our developed properties. These properties are also designed to keep warm in
winter and insulate heat in summer to reduce electricity consumption from air

conditioning.

To bring down energy consumption caused by lighting in the shopping centre, our
shopping centre is designed with glass curtain wall to allow natural light to enter
into the internal area to the greatest extent during daytime. Many of our facilities
like hotel, shopping centre and residential community use LED lighting and this
measure is expected to be adopted throughout all the buildings to increase the

energy efficiency.

We remind our employees to switch off idle electrical appliances to promote
energy saving. Employees are also encouraged to use alternative measures such as
videoconferencing to avoid unnecessary business travels. With these measures, not

only the energy consumption can be saved, but also GHG emission can be reduced.
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During the reporting period, the energy consumptions of the Group are as follows:
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A 5 [ R BEE ¥R A RO RE JRFE R AR ¢

2020 2019

Energy consumption Unit Total Total

ZEIERE —ZE—JUE
AEJRAE = B At st
Purchased electricity kWh in "000s 14,032.55 26,040.25
SN S T T ELIR
Petrol kWh in *000s 18.21 197.07
i T T IR
Diesel kWh in "000s - 1.95
ki T T FL
Natural gas kWh in "000s 60,294.38 30,468.02
R AT ES
Total energy consumption kWh in *000s 74,345.14 56,707.29
RETRANFE= T T ELIR
Intensity® kWh in *000s/employee 281.61 173.95
e T8 TR B
Water K

Water is another important resource. The Group actively seeks ways to conserve KR —EEAE I o A% R = S R4
water. For example, rainwater is collected for plant irrigation in the managed FA 7K o il 40 » 15 T B A 4 5 T A T 7K R AR
residential community. There are reminders placed to remind our customers to YrREWE 5 SRAG A RSN PENE AR BT A K 5 Kk
conserve water and we choose water-saving appliances such as automatic sensor Tit 288 Y 1 S Jek B I W S5 B K B L o B B A K

water taps for the water facilities to achieve water saving objective. S

6 The intensity refers to kWh of energy consumption per the total number of 6 25 JE SRR B R R R B ARG 44 R BAETR
employees at the end of the reporting period. FER T R
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The water consumption during the reporting period is as follow: A i R HH P I FE K AR -
2020 2019

Water Unit Total Total

BB —E—JUE
K AL st Hast
Water consumption m? 157,093 407,982.00
FEKR AR S
Intensity’ m*/employee 595.05 1,251.48
= Sk RE

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL
RESOURCES

The Group undertakes rigorous measures to minimise impacts to the environment.
Various factors including those related to the environmental and social issues
are taken into consideration in site selection and development. In particular,
comprehensive investigation, assessment and remediation will be carried out in
line with the applicable regulations for brownfield development. The menus in our
hotel restaurants are designed according to seasonal shifts to prevent overreliance

on certain food that could affect the ecosystems.

SOCIAL ASPECTS
Employment and Labour Practices

Employment

The Group believes that people are important assets for the sustainable development
and aspires to create a caring environment to our people. The Group pays attention
to the employees’ rights and strictly complies with the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China. Policies of key human resources management practices in
recruitment, promotion, working hours, equal opportunities, compensation and
benefits are stipulated in the Employees’ Handbook. The Group acknowledges
the importance of attracting more talents to support our business growth. We
collaborate with top universities in the PRC to organise recruitment fairs and talks,

so as to source high-quality talents for the strategic growth of our business.

7 The intensity refers to m*® of water consumption per the total number of
employees at the end of the reporting period.

76 Carnival Group International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2020

BB B KR &

A 55 [ R BT 5% AR A 4 O 0 2 0 TR /D S ER B I R
B o R AL e BE R IE H IR R BLER B R AL )
A B ) 22 T K] 32400 A 5 B8 JUHC R > 78 A L B 35 2
2 P AR R 8 TR AT A5 5 T A WA e el RR
Tt o T2 V% % B ) 3 B s wh B AR R R A A R
JEMRAE AT RE A RE A G B R’ -

& i
e 9 B 5 16 B

10

AR AR AR N A T2 T R A0 8 e ) B BN
7 B A7 70 i B 1A BR 05 o A SR M B AL B T AR
a0 R ST (R N RILABI S ik ) (B T
FA) P ET IR ~ BT T S BT
P S5 2 BN 0 T B A o AR R R R T A
2 N LUSC R 6 55 4% e ) B 1 o AP B B P9 THZR
REBGHEBBEGRE#G MORERAAE
BIEB SR PR

7 RN RE IR IR B AT 4 R B REAK
I TR e



The Group rewards and promotes employees based on their capability and
performance. Competitive remuneration packages, which are in line with the
market trends, are offered to our employees. Our employees are provided with
other benefits including share options, insurance, transportation allowance,

communication allowance, extended maternity leaves, retirement benefits, etc.

The Group is committed to constructing an inclusive workplace that embraces
diversity and equal opportunity. The management sets zero tolerance to harassment
and discrimination of any form. The Group promotes fair competition among
employees and all employees have equal opportunities for promotion. Employees
are hired and selected based on their qualifications and abilities, regardless of their
gender, age, nationality, religious belief, marital status, etc. to ensure fair judgment

and avoid any risk of favouritism or discrimination.

The Group’s management attaches great importance to the needs and opinions
of the employees. There are different means of communication between the
management and employees, including department meeting, email and notice
board. This can help maintain a good relationship between the management and

employees.

We organised a variety of activities, including basketball competition, team
building training camp, monthly birthday party and tug of war during the reporting
period, in order to foster a harmonious working environment, strengthen the
sense of belonging of employees, encourage the communication among different

departments and create a work-life balance culture.
HEALTH AND SAFETY

Protecting the health, safety and wellbeing of our employees is our key priority.
The Group has established Policy for safe working environment and strictly
complies with Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Treatment
of Occupational Diseases. The Group ensures that its employees are able to carry
out their daily work in a comfortable working environment by reminding and
training them to apply proper personal protective equipment when necessary. Safety
performance is monitored and followed up to encourage continuous improvement.
The employees are required to participate in the regular fire evacuation drill.
Regular safety talks and seminars are held to increase workplace safety awareness.
Annual health checks are conducted to monitor the health and wellbeing of our
workforce. In addition, the we also strive to provide clean drinking water, balanced
diet and comfortable dining place to our employees for promoting a healthy living

concept.
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DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group believes that fostering the knowledge and skills of its employees is a key
to continuous business development and success. Training at all levels is available
to meet the needs of our business growth as stipulated in the Group’s Policy for
training and development. Various trainings are provided based on the employee
categories. For new employees, induction and mentorship are provided to help them
better understand the corporate culture and settle in their new positions. For existing
employees, internal and external trainings are offered to enhance their professional
skills and knowledge. The training courses are provided through different means,
including talks and electronic platforms. Electronic platforms can enable our

employees to learn whenever and wherever they wish.

Assessment is conducted after the training for the Group to understand the
effectiveness of the training and performance of the employees. This can help the
Group to continuously improve the training programs offered to all levels of staft so

as to enhance their job performance.
LABOUR STANDARDS

The Group strives to prohibit the use of child or forced labour in its operations. The
Group has set the minimum age requirement for recruitment in our Employment
management policy, which complies with the legislation on Provisions on the
Prohibition of Using Child Labour. Our suppliers and contractors are expected to
follow the same standard of labour practices when working with us. During the
reporting period, the Group was in strict compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations and no non-compliance regarding labour standards brought against the

Group or its employees was noted.
OPERATING PRACTICES
Supply Chain Management

As a property developer, we actively collaborate with contractors for construction
work services. We are keenly aware of the potential environmental and social
risks associated with our supply chain and are committed to mitigating such risks
in collaboration with our contractors. We have established Tender management
system to set up principles and guidelines for selecting contractors. We only invite
contractors with high-qualification and good reputation to join the tendering
process. Environmental and safety performance is one of the key assessment criteria
when we select contractors. Besides, the Group carries out on-site inspection from
time to time to ensure the quality of services the contractors provided meets our

standards.
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PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

Achieving and maintaining high quality standard for construction projects and
delivering quality products and services to customers are utmost important for
sustainability development of the Group. We focus on product quality throughout
the entire life cycle of property development. We have engaged experienced
construction management company to conduct monthly monitoring report to ensure
the quality of construction work provided by our contractors, and to identify and
address potential defective work. Furthermore, the environment at our managed
residential sites is regularly evaluated to ensure a clean and healthy environment for

residents.

‘We have various mechanisms in place for handling customer feedback. Complaints
are recorded and followed up by dedicated well-trained staff in a timely manner.
After addressing the complaints received, we will implement relevant improvement

measures to improve customer experience and the quality of services provided.

We respect customer data privacy and are committed to preventing customer data
leakage or loss. Collected customer personal data is accessible only by authorised
personnel and handled with care. We also observe the significance of having correct

labelling of our products to protect the interests of our customers.

The Group is in strict compliance with the laws and regulations related to product
responsibility. There is no any significant risk regarding product responsibility

observed during the reporting period.
ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group operates with a high standard of integrity and ethics. We implement
policies and procedures to minimise risks of fraud, corruption and bribery.
Our principle on anti-corruption is well conveyed to our employees through
daily communication, training and workshops. The Group has established
whistleblowing mechanisms that allow employees and third parties to report
suspicious cases in a confidential manner. The Group has also set up a monitoring
group to advocate self-discipline and integrity among employees. Our suppliers
and contractors are expected to follow the same policy when working with us. If
any legal case regarding corrupt practices was brought against our suppliers and

contractors, we will terminate our cooperation with them immediately.

The Group has been in strict compliance with Criminal Law of the People’s
Republic of China. During the reporting period, no non-compliance regarding

corrupt practices brought against the Group or its employees was noted.
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COMMUNITY
Community Investment

The Group is dedicated to improve the quality of life for and bring new lifestyles to
the community through both its business operations and community involvement.
We implement different policies including Donation management approach
and Disability policy, which aim to maintain a long-term relationship with our
stakeholders in the community for sustainable development. We seek to make

contributions to events that have a positive impact on community development.

Over the years, we have continued to support many charitable events and provided
relief to natural disaster victims through donations. Leveraging our expertise
in property development, we built a park in close proximity of the surrounding
neighbourhoods and provided free entrance to the public. To manifest our efforts
in supporting an inclusive and caring community, we also hire persons with

disabilities.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
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REPORTING INDEX

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Page
SRR ~ o 1~ — PR R B S SR B (K PT) ) HR
A. Environmental

A B

Al: Emissions

AL e

General Disclosure “Environmental Aspects” 71

— RN R MB35 TH )

KPIAL1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data “Emissions — Air Pollutants Emission” 71-72
KPIALL PEBCHTRRR B A B DT R THE—22 S35 G eI

KPIAL2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and, where appropriate, intensity “Emissions — Greenhouse Gas Emission” 72-73
KPIAI.2 i AR AR RO B (AN ) % FHE Y —i = SR B0
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key Performance Indicators (KPIs) Section Page
I ~ g~ — F 4 8% B I S A R B (K PT) A HR
KPIA1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where appropriate, intensity “Emissions — Hazardous and Non-hazardous 73
Wastes”
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General Disclosure
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Employment and Labour Practices
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KPIBI.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age group and geographical
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Independent Auditors’ Report
Yy ST 0% BT

B &30 F A R
HODGSON IMPEY CHENG LIMITED

HLB

To the shareholders of
Carnival Group International Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with Iimited liability)

DISCLAIMER OF OPINION

We were engaged to audit the consolidated financial statements of Carnival
Group International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 90 to 253, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2020, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash
flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

We do not express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.
Because of the significance of the matters described in the Basis for Disclaimer of
Opinion section of our report, we have not been able to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence to provide a basis for an audit opinion on these consolidated
financial statements. In all other respects, in our opinion the consolidated financial
statements have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR DISCLAIMER OF OPINION
Multiple uncertainties relating to going concern

As disclosed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group incurred
anet loss of approximately HK$3,874,192,000 during the year ended 31 December
2020 and, as at that date, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$8,386,340,000

The directors of the Company are undertaking debt restructuring plans in Hong
Kong (the “Debt Restructure Plans) and bankruptcy reorganisation proceedings for
an indirect non wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company in the People’s Republic
of China (the “Bankruptcy Reorganisation”) which includes various plans and
measures to resolve the Group’s liquidity issues.
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In addition, the Group’s bank and other borrowings amounted to approximately
HK$2,407,173,000 as at 31 December 2020, were overdue for repayment in
accordance with the repayment schedules pursuant to the borrowing agreements.
These borrowings are not covered under the Debt Restructure Plans and the
Bankruptcy Reorgansiation. The Group will either invite these bond holders and
creditors to join the Debt Restructure Plans in Hong Kong or negotiate with them
for the renewal of or extension for repayments of these borrowings thereon.

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the Company have prepared a cash
flow forecast of the Group covering a period of twelve months from the end of the
reporting period which have taken into account the Debt Restructure Plans and the
Bankruptcy Reorganisation (the “Cash Flow Forecast™). Based on the Cash Flow
Forecast, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the Group is able
to continue as a going concern and it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated
financial statements on a going concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern
basis, the validity of which depends on the outcome of the Debt Restructure Plans
and the Bankruptcy Reorganisation, which is subject to multiple uncertainties,
including (i) whether the Group is able to successfully negotiate with the Group’s
existing lenders such that no action will be taken by the relevant lenders to
demand immediate repayment of the borrowings with principal and interests in
default, including those with cross-default terms; (ii) whether the Group is able to
successfully negotiate with financial institutions, other lenders and bonds holders
for the renewal of or extension for repayments of all borrowings, including those
that are overdue as at the date of this report and those that will fall due on or before
31 December 2021; (iii) whether the Group is able to successfully obtain new
sources of financing or strategic capital investments; and (iv) whether the Group is
able to successfully implement the Cash Flow Forecast in the twelve months from
the end of the reporting period.

All these conditions indicate the existence of multiple material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. We have not been provided with sufficient appropriate audit evidence to
conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis
of accounting in the preparation of the consolidated financial statements because
management’s plans for future actions in relation to its going concern assessment
could not be finalised yet. If the Group fails to achieve successful outcome from
the above mentioned plans and measures on a timely basis, it may not be able to
continue to operate as a going concern, and adjustments would have to be made to
write down the carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts,
to provide for any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-
current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The consolidated financial statements do not include any of these
adjustments.
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE
AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud

Or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our responsibility is to conduct an audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the Group in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the
HKICPA and to issue an auditors’ report. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act, and for
no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. However, because of the matters
described in the Basis for Disclaimer of Opinion section of our report, we have not
been able to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence to provide a basis for an

audit opinion on these consolidated financial statements.
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We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics
for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical

responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report
is Mr. Kwok Kin Leung.

HLB Hodgson Impey Cheng Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Kwok Kin Leung
Practising Certificate Number: P05769

Hong Kong, 28 May 2021

Independent Auditors’ Report
M) N7 A% SR R

AR A v & w2 & 2 A Y S5 o s o 2 < )
(DU RS Tsp A > MR B I
JEAT ¥ Rl ) LA S A R A

P L A P 7 A% T T ) O R 2 AR
y vz o

1B 5 € Bl 85 T A PR D
S

SR ER
BER E SRR 1 P05769

Hig —E 1A -1+/\H

AR R PE A R F] | 20204F 8 89



Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

A oy 1H e LA 4 T W 2 R

Fortheyearended3lDecember2020 BE_Z BT _H=1T—HILFE

2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
W et Ti#T T
Revenue PN 5 104,204 (475,701)
Cost of sales FHE A (627,638) (405.,451)
Gross loss E5 (523,434) (881,152)
Other income A A 7 30,064 124,255
Selling and marketing expenses B 15 B B BH S (37,863) (63,229)
Administrative expenses TR = (459,714) (444,965)
Fair value changes on financial assets YN FEB AR Z
at fair value through profit or loss BREEZ A q:ﬁ SAT) (63,554) (132,061)
Fair value changes on investment properties &) 2 /A VAH % ) 16 (375,041) (314,875)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries B B e A F] 2 W - 296,393
Loss on disposal of investment properties HEREYEZ EE (6,937) (34,982)
Impairment losses on property, Y2E ~ i B st 2 DA s 15
plant and equipment 15 (67,147) (593.543)
Impairment losses under expected credit FIHEEEEAX T
loss model, net of reversal TRAE R 18 2 FIER$EE ] 10 (1,283,802) (555,591)
Finance costs B 7S A 8 (1,082,698) (903,247)
Loss before tax R 52 i e 48 (3,870,126) (3,503,002)
Income tax (expense)/credit Fis i G 9 (4,066) 73,485
Loss for the year AR B 4H 10 (3,874,192) (3,429,517)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) HihEmss Geh)
Item that will not be reclassitied HENGTENTASEE
to profit or loss: Hm 2 HHH :
Fair value changes on financial assets at FE NG F AN A 2 1 i 2
fair value through other comprehensive ZERE R 2 N FAEEEE)
income (3,000) (25,000)
Items that may be reclassified subsequently — H & i 7 JH E 18w 2 JHH :
to profit or loss:
Release of investments revaluation reserve A B AP A HoA
upon disposal of debt instruments measured 2= [ WX 2 51 2= 2 fH 75 T H &
at fair value through other comprehensive fig R A% & B A A
income - 5,859
Exchange differences arising on translation of #5835 43 7% it 7 A 2 B £ 72 52
foreign operations 349,308 (252,561)
Other comprehensive income/(expense) HEEHM RS G
for the year, net of income tax FHIBR RS H 346,308 (271,702)
Total comprehensive expense for the year  4EJ& 4 1 57 HH 44 %8 (3,527,884) (3,701,219)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
for B 1H A B HAth 4 T W AR R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

2020 2019
B RAE B —NE
Note HK$’000 HK$’ 000
Mt T Tt
Loss for the year attributable to: THIN A FEASAE S s 4 -
Owners of the Company NG 2PN (2,848,218) (2,941,975)
Non-controlling interests JEPE R 2 (1,025,974) (487,542)
(3,874,192) (3,429,517)
Total comprehensive expense TIHIN A 2 i 2 M A
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ANEEA N (2,531,673) (3,189,869)
Non-controlling interests JEFERE R 2R (996,211) (511,350)
(3,527,884) (3,701,219)
(Restated)
(&)
Loss per share R IE 14
— Basic (HK dollar per share) —HK (BFRET) (3.01) (3.10)
— Diluted (HK dollar per share) —WE (T (3.01) (3.10)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ISR RIS

At 31 December 2020 MR- _ZFE+_-H=+—H

2020 2019
TERTEAE —E—NAE
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
Mt T T#IT
Non-current assets R &
Property, plant and equipment YIS W B it 15 5,373,858 5,493,381
Investment properties BEWE 16 5,027,695 5,118,256
Other intangible assets Al e T 5 17 = =
Financial assets at fair value through i /A B [ 1 /NS = AT
other comprehensive income Wt =2 4 Rl e 18 68,000 71,000
Note receivables JRE L = 22 82,697 82,792
10,552,250 10,765,429
Current assets B A
Inventories 78 20 4,067,974 3,843,422
Trade receivables JEURE 5 BR R 21 17,880 12,876
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TE{J 7K IH ~ 1% K HoAth W R vE 22 2,633,988 3,441,107
Financial assets at fair value through N PEEN AR 2 B RE
profit or loss 19 188,993 341,873
Restricted cash Z RIS 23 51,444 _
Cash and cash equivalents e R HEEEY 23 57,782 74,628
7,018,061 7,713,906
Total assets HAEAME 17,570,311 18,479,335
Current liabilities T i
Trade payables JEEASH 2 5 BRRK 24 1,906,172 1,357,154
Contract liabilities ARamE 26 241,263 244,133
Deposits from customers BRI & 25 9,700 11,813
Accrued liabilities and other payables JEE T 2 0 e LA A~ K I 25 3,960,810 2,089,221
Amounts due to non-controlling interests  FEAT JE432 A 4 25 7K I 27 56,034 55,223
Amounts due to related companies JEEAST #2883 W) R 0H 27 201,810 161,584
Lease liabilities THE A E 29 9,794 4,707
Borrowings — current portions TR —IR R 7 30 8,488,089 4,106,601
Current tax liabilities BT HAFR Y £ 1 530,729 528,119
15,404,401 8,558,555
Net current liabilities bk IR = RE | (8,386,340) (844,649)
Total assets less current liabilities HEE P D ) A 1 2,165,910 9,920,780
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

raE M BIR IR
B At 31 December 2020 R TE EE+F A=+ —H
2020 2019
TR B —ZEUE
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
W et T T#IT
Capital and reserves B Fe ikt
Share capital A 28 9,478 236,952
Share premium and reserves P& o3 1 18 e fits A 852,785 3,156,984
Equity attributable to owners of ARATIEA NEAG R
the Company 862,263 3,393,936
Non-controlling interests JEPERE R 169,490 1,165,701
Total equity R s 485 1,031,753 4,559,637
Non-current liabilities B £ iR
Deferred tax liabilities BRI B E 31 1,116,017 1,044,463
Lease liabilities THE A 29 18,140 =
Borrowings X3 30 - 4,316,680
1,134,157 5,361,143
2,165,910 9,920,780
The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the FOMBIMRCR B2 AT\ HEES

Board of Directors on 28 May 2021 and were signed on its behalf by:

Luo Jiaqi

Director

TR AR 3 S i A FAREE

Tang Runtao
R
Director

HH
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
A e M B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #{ZF &

ZiET A=+ —HILEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

LI AL N
Investments Non-
Share Contributed Capital  Translati luati Revaluation ~ Accumulated controlling
capital Share premium surplus Teserves Teserve res&ne Teserve losses Total interests  Total equity
BA RNEE SARE ARG BREH  SEGEE  ENEH  HHER G rRER RN
HRSOO  HKSOW  HKSO0  HRSOM)  HKSO0  HKSOM  HKSO0  HKSOMO  HKSO0  HRSOM  HKSO0)
T T T T T T Tt Tt T T T
Nﬂ[g @ Noe (b/ © Note (d)
Wit Wetoie) Wit
At1January 2019 RoE-hE—A-H 4754936 7289834 9,404 15726 (522,680) (4859) WIB® (5236665 6593534 1,677,051 8270585
Loss for the year FEER = = = = = 5 S QW) QUL @54 (34051)
Release of investments revaluation reserve upon disposal of TR %ﬁﬂféé’r}\ﬂ@%m&ﬁ#i
debt instruments measured at far value through other B RGRIRREE R
comprefiensive income S = = = S 5859 = S 5859 S 5859
Fair value changes on financial assets at fair value through other AT AR 2 2 R
comprehensive income RS - = = = = (25,000) s S (25,000) = (25000)
Release of revaluation reserve upon disposal of investment TR B BRI B
properties S = = = S S (23425) 23425 S S =
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations BB 2 ERER - - - - (228,753) = = = (228753) (23.808) (252,561)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FEREN AR - - S - (19,141) 345)  QII8S0)  (I8989) (L0 (701219)
Capital reduction HlfAk 4517,08) - 451708 S S S S S S S S
Repurchase of odinary shares il & (19) 9.729) - 79% - - - - 9.79) = 9729)
At31 December 2019 and | January 2020 REZ-AE A= AR
“E2EE-A-H 236952 7.280,105 4526612 16522 (751433) (24,000) 264393 B155205) 3393936 1,165,701 4559637
Loss for the year i = = = o = = - 88218 (2848218 (1025974 (387419
Fair value changes on financial assets at fair value through other ff(’tﬂ_ﬁﬁﬁf MU RTEZ
comprefiensive income SHEEATHES - - - - - (3,000) - - (3,000 - (3,000)
Release of revaluation reserve upon disposal of investment R ERENERRRE R
properties - - - - - - @m0 471 - - -
Exchange differences arising on translation of foreign operations ~ SAFSEANEIATAE L 2 S R o S - - 319345 - - - 319545 29,763 349,308
Total comprehensive income/(expense) or the year R/ Cot) 45 - - - - 319,345 (3.000) @B Q4D QB %6201 (527884)
Capital reorganistation FeNiil Q141 (080105 7507579 = = S S S = = =
At 31 December 2020 REBBE A= 1-H 9478 - 12034091 16522 (431,888) (27,000) 259,662 (10,998,702) 862,263 16949 1,031,753
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Notes:

(a)

()

(©

(d

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

Under the Companies Act of Bermuda, the share premium of the Company can be
used in paying up unissued shares of the Company to be issued to members of the
Company as fully paid bonus shares.

The contributed surplus of the Group represented the net amount arising from the
reduction of share premium account, capital reduction, capital reorganisation and
amounts to be transferred to write off the accumulated losses.

Under the Companies Act of Bermuda, the contributed surplus of a company is
available for distribution to shareholders. However, a company cannot declare or
pay a dividend, or make a distribution out of contributed surplus, if:

(1) the company is, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities
as they become due; or

(ii)  the realisable value of the company’s assets would thereby be less than the
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share premium
account.

The revaluation reserve of the Group represents the gain on revaluation of certain
properties of the Group for own use as a result of transfer of these properties from
property, plant and equipment to investment properties.

(®)

(©)

(@

R AR R AR A Al W b i (AT VA
AT T AR N E AT 2 CHUR AL Z A A Al
KRBT

A 5 [ 2 B A A D R 9 R ~ A R A
A%~ B A FLAH T i DUIREH SR A 1R 2 RO A
Z R

IR F AR A F) BB R 20 IR T B
T 281 R RAIEBL TS A RIS LU A B BRE
IREIRAS B B 53K

() L2 E A TR BRAE IR A A2 K 4 125 52 A 215
Z i =

() PEoE 2 Al SR R AE & R R B
B B CLEEAT AR A B AR 0 T (e - W

A SR Al 4 T A SR I T E RIS R
Yo e V3K ~ RS e st 5 2 P S T A
Z EAWES
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

SGEHEMER

For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE ~ZF " ZFE+ - H = —HILEE

2020 2019
BB —EAE
Notes HK$’000 HKS$°000
W aE T THIT
Operating activities KB
Loss for the year R (3,874,192) (3,429,517)
Adjustments for: Bk
Depreciation of property, plant Y2~ W B i T e
and equipment 149,695 67,944
Income tax expense/(credit) szt (%) 4,066 (73,485)
Interest income on bank and other deposits #R 17 B¢ EAh 17 #KF S A (402) (497)
Dividends from listed investments KE EHHREZRE 2) (60)
Fair value changes on investment properties & ¥)3% 2 2\ -{H 52 Bl 375,041 314,875
Fair value changes on financial assets o PEER AR 2 SR
at fair value through profit or loss 2N FEEE) 63,554 132,061
Finance costs S A 8 1,082,698 903,247
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HY B B A R 2 s 32 = (296.393)
Loss/(gain) on derecognition of HU B R I REE e 2
right-of-use assets R (gD 180 (161)
Loss on disposal of investment properties B &) > K51H 6,937 34,982
Loss on disposal of property, HEYE - WE st 2 e
plant and equipment 5,181 11,935
Written-off on property, plant VI~ R B ws A i
and equipment 15 304 8,722
Impairment losses on property, VI~ W B et 2 T e 18
plant and equipment 15 67,147 593,548
Recognition of non-cash items REHE AR IE BB IH H
in cost of sales 564,580 295,663
Impairment losses under expected credit — FEI{E ERGHEB T Z I EEH
loss model, net of reversal OB H 1] 37 1,283,802 555,591
Loss on early redemption of bonds TR AT M1 8 27 2 s 48 30 = 36,323
Loss on disposal of financial assets at U F 2 B B A HAth 22 i s
fair value through other 2 BREE 2 R
comprehensive income = 5,777
Gain on modification of bonds EIHERT 2 W2k 30 = (86,688)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GEBlEER
For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

||
2020 2019
BB —ENUAg
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
/g3 T THIT
Operating cash flows before movements BHEESEH KRB
in working capital (271,411) (926,133)
Movement in working capital: B )
Inventories ety (527,910) (14,457)
Trade receivables JEEW RS 5 B (3,943) (1,790)
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FE{sf 7K IH ~ $4 < Se . Ath JEE ISk I 63,292 (476,339)
Financial assets at fair value through profit %\ {EEF AIE 4 2 Bl &
or loss 89,326 1,344,285
Trade payables JREAS B 5 B K 436,529 176,742
Deposit from customers BPEEI & (2,741) 2,994
Accrued liabilities and other payables JE 5 £ £ 5 JEL A e A< 2K T 255,593 (121,146)
Contract liabilities BRI EE (17,964) (162,634)
Amounts due to related companies JEEAST #) 28 / w) SROE 39,645 149,372
Restricted cash 2 R il B 8 (48,794) _
Cash generated from/(used in) operations gBEA (R 284 11,622 (29,106)
Tax paid [RRRpTREE - (10,980)
Net cash from/(used in) operating activities #8223 THEE L, (T ) 2 B4R 11,622 (40,086)
Investing activities REET)
Interest received SRR 402 497
Dividends received from listed investments E.UY_E i & E 2 60
Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits PRI CHRHR SR T 173K - 633,855
Additions to property, plant and equipment 7% Bt 1) 3 ~ 55 e i Hh (1,552) (25,972)
Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries AR A B 2 B4R A TR 32 - 1,154,987
Proceeds from disposal of BB EY 2 SR IE
investment properties 7,853 39,345
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYIZE - WS sk i 2 P k8
plant and equipment 211,009 89,033
Proceeds from disposal of debt instruments H{ 8 %23 FAEEF A HAth 2= iUk 25 2
at fair value through other BT HZ Sk
comprehensive income - 88,400
Net cash from investing activities A G EAL 2 BT 217,714 1,980,205

AR R PE A R F] | 20204F 8

97



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

ABleiaR

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(H

SE S LV ESEENR T

2020 2019
TRTRAE —ENUAg
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
Mt T T#T
Financing activities Al G )
Interest paid EfFE (622) (37,637)
New bank and other borrowings raised WS 2 RAT R Ho A AR - 195,224
Repayment to non-controlling interests [r) 422 PR 2 2R K (2,678) -
Repayment to a related company ] — e B 8 W 28R (7,612) =
Advances from a related company 2 1 — R ) 22 2 ) P AR 1,500 5,900
Advances from non-controlling interests A I R RE 2 A EAR - 56,242
Repayment of bank and other borrowings {8 %2 8717 Fz EAth & £k (233,556) (2,057,822)
Repayment of lease liabilities fEEMH B A fE (5,847) (8,126)
Bond direct expenses fE %7 H#e = (1,112)
Repurchase of ordinary shares i ] 3% 7 it = (9,729)
Repurchase of bonds 1 A 5 2 30 - (155,394)
Net cash used in financing activities U B AT 2 R R R (248,815) (2,012,454)
Net decrease in cash and Bl B B & S 134
cash equivalents (19,479) (72,335)
Cash and cash equivalents at P 2B B B EHY
the beginning of the year 74,628 148,538
Effects of foreign exchange rate changes [ SR8 Bjj 2,633 (1,575)
Cash and cash equivalents at R ZBE R BEEHEY
the end of the year 23 57,782 74,628

98 Carnival Group International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2020



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

for 3 B 5 AR B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Carnival Group International Holdings Limited (the “Company’) was
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability
and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company’s registered office is
situated at Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda.
The Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong is situated at
Suites 1106-08, 11th Floor, The Chinese Bank Building, 61-65 Des Voeux
Road Central, Hong Kong.

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
are principally engaged in theme based leisure and consumption business,
focusing on the design, development and operation of integrated large-scale
tourist complex projects in key cities in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) that comprise of theme parks, hotels, shopping and leisure facilities

as well as other theme based consumption.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HKS$”), which is different from the Company’s functional currency
of Renminbi (“RMB”). The directors of the Company adopted HK$ as
presentation currency. For the convenience of the financial statements
users, the consolidated financial statements are presented in HK$, as the

Company’s shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.
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H 6 BRI A 61655k HE N BRAIT K 1148
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
or o B % R R RE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

2.

100

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the Amendments to References
to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which are mandatorily
effective for the annual period beginning on or after 1 January 2020 for the

preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Definition of Material
HKAS 8
Amendments to HKFRS 3

Definition of a Business

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Except as described below, the application of the Amendments to References
to the Conceptual Framework in HKFRS Standards and the amendments to
HKFRSs in the current year had no material impact on the Group’s financial
positions and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the

disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Carnival Group International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2020

2.

JE T A 5 5 e R (P T
P b B ) 2 e T e BB A T

TR ASAE L 5 1) A 5 2 7 v A 5
HEQI 2 1B wT

AAGE > AR O /e S B mRE
RER B BFEGEH A& (TFB G A
&) maffiE R —F F -~ HEl 2 1R B
b 2 A L S I 5 1l A 3 2 25 7 5 R TR
BB 15 5] Z 15 AT B DAUN & e A 15
HHER 2 B ET

HE A1, EEER
7 s G at MR RS8R
AT

7 5 5 i o e I
FIHRZAEET

U I T e R
HouE H G
HEHI 53058 R 75 i
S 75 S 15 T B S 7%
Z1B5T

B Pyt

) 258 i HE A

BR N SR A A o TR A AT 5 B T 2 A T R
27 L R ARG 5] 2 6 AT B v 5
75 ) 2 1 BT S A R [ A R R 1 A
Z BRI e B R BB L S A7 S
R P8R K -



2.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 5 U 5 R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year (Continued)

2.1

22

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKAS 8 Definition of Material

The Group has applied the Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS
8 for the first time in the current year. The amendments provide
a new definition of material that states “information is material if
omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements, which
provide financial information about a specific reporting entity.” The
amendments also clarify that materiality depends on the nature or
magnitude of information, either individually or in combination with
other information, in the context of the financial statements taken as a

whole.

The application of the amendments in the current year had no impact

on the consolidated financial statements.

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3
Definition of a Business

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current
year. The amendments clarify that while businesses usually have
outputs, outputs are not required for an integrated set of activities
and assets to qualify as a business. To be considered a business, an
acquired set of activities and assets must include, at a minimum, an
input and a substantive process that together significantly contribute

to the ability to create outputs.

The amendments remove the assessment of whether market
participants are capable of replacing any missing inputs or processes
and continuing to produce outputs. The amendments also introduce
additional guidance that helps to determine whether a substantive

process has been acquired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
or o B % R R RE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

2.

102

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective
for the current year (Continued)

2.2 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 3
Definition of a Business (Continued)

In addition, the amendments introduce an optional concentration
test that permits a simplified assessment of whether an acquired
set of activities and assets is not a business. Under the optional
concentration test, the acquired set of activities and assets is not
a business if substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset or group of
similar assets. The gross assets under assessment exclude cash and
cash equivalents, restricted cash, deferred tax assets, and goodwill
resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. The election
on whether to apply the optional concentration test is available on

transaction-by-transaction basis.

The application of the amendments had no impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group but may impact future periods

should the Group make any acquisition.

2.3 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS
39 and HKFRS 7 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the
current year. The amendments modify specific hedge accounting
requirements to allow hedge accounting to continue for affected
hedges during the period of uncertainty before the hedged items or
hedging instruments affected by the current interest rate benchmarks
are amended as a result of the on-going interest rate benchmark
reform.

The amendments had no impact on the consolidated financial

statements of the Group as the Group’s assessment of hedge

effectiveness is not affected by the interest rate benchmark reform.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 5 U 5 R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet

effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 16
Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS

9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKFRSs

Insurance Contracts and the related
Amendments'
Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions*

Reference to the Conceptual Framework®

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2°

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)"

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use?

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract?

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-
2020°

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
or o B % R R RE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

2.

104

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the consolidated

financial statements in the foreseeable future.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

The amendment is effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or
after 1 June 2020.

The amendment introduces a new practical expedient for lessees to elect not
to assess whether a Covid-19-related rent concession is a lease modification.
The practical expedient only applies to rent concessions occurring as a direct

consequence of the Covid-19 that meets all of the following conditions:

. the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the
lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration

for the lease immediately preceding the change;

. any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due
on or before 30 June 2021; and

. there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the

lease.

A lessee applying the practical expedient accounts for changes in lease
payments resulting from rent concessions the same way it would account
for the changes applying HKFRS 16 Leases if the changes are not a lease
modification. Forgiveness or waiver of lease payments are accounted for as
variable lease payments. The related lease liabilities are adjusted to reflect
the amounts forgiven or waived with a corresponding adjustment recognised

in the profit or loss in the period in which the event occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 5 U 5 R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendment to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions
(Continued)

The application is not expected to have impact on the Group’s financial

position and performance as the Group does not intend to apply the practical

expedient.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework

The amendments:

update a reference in HKFRS 3 Business Combinations so that
it refers to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
2018 issued in June 2018 (the “Conceptual Framework™) instead
of Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial
Statements (replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2010 issued in October 2010);

add a requirement that, for transactions and other events within the
scope of HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, an acquirer applies HKAS 37 or
HK(FRIC)-Int 21 instead of the Conceptual Framework to identify
the liabilities it has assumed in a business combination; and

add an explicit statement that an acquirer does not recognise

contingent assets acquired in a business combination.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact

on the financial position and performance of the Group.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS
16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 relate to the modification
of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease liabilities, specific hedge
accounting requirements and disclosure requirements applying HKFRS 7
Financial Instruments: Disclosures to accompany the amendments regarding

modifications and hedge accounting.

. Modification of financial assets, financial liabilities and lease
liabilities. A practical expedient is introduced for modifications
required by the reform (modifications required as a direct
consequence of the interest rate benchmark reform and made on an
economically equivalent basis). These modifications are accounted
for by updating the effective interest rate. All other modifications
are accounted for using the current HKFRSs requirements. A similar
practical expedient is proposed for lessee accounting applying
HKEFRS 16;
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and
HKFRS 16 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2 (Continued)

O Hedge accounting requirements. Under the amendments, hedge
accounting is not discontinued solely because of the interest
rate benchmark reform. Hedging relationships (and related
documentation) are required to be amended to reflect modifications
to the hedged item, hedging instrument and hedged risk. Amended
hedging relationships should meet all qualifying criteria to apply

hedge accounting, including effectiveness requirements; and

. Disclosures. The amendments require disclosures in order to allow
users to understand the nature and extent of risks arising from the
interest rate benchmark reform to which the Group is exposed to and
how the entity manages those risks as well as the entity’s progress in
transitioning from interbank offered rates to alternative benchmark

rates, and how the entity is managing this transition.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has several London Interbank Offered
Rate (“LIBOR”) bank loans which may be subject to interest rate benchmark
reform. The Group expects no significant gains or losses should the interest
rate benchmark for these loans change resulting from the reform on

application of the amendments.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5(2020)

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the
assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months from
reporting date for classification of liabilities as current or non-current,
which:

. specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current
should be based on rights that are in existence at the end of the

reporting period. Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(1)  the classification should not be affected by management
intentions or expectations to settle the liability within 12

months; and

(i)  if the right is conditional on the compliance with covenants, the
right exists if the conditions are met at the end of the reporting
period, even if the lender does not test compliance until a later
date; and

. clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the
counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s
own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its classification
as current or non-current only if the entity recognises the option
separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS 32 Financial

Instruments: Presentation.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a consequence of
the Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the corresponding wordings with no

change in conclusion.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (2020) (Continued)

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 December 2020, the
related terms and conditions stipulated in the agreements between the Group
and the relevant lenders, the application of the amendments will not result in
reclassification of the Group’s liabilities.

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use

The amendments specify that the costs of any item that were produced
while bringing an item of property, plant and equipment to the location
and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management (such as samples produced when testing whether
the relevant property, plant and equipment is functioning properly) and the
proceeds from selling such items should be recognised and measured in the
profit or loss in accordance with applicable standards. The cost of the items

are measured in accordance with HKAS 2 Inventories.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact

on the financial position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

The amendments specify that, when an entity assesses whether a contract is
onerous in accordance with HKAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and
Contingent Assets, the unavoidable costs under the contract should reflect
the least net cost of exiting from the contract, which is the lower of the cost
of fulfilling it and any compensation or penalties arising from failure to fulfil
it. Costs of fulfilling the contract include incremental costs and an allocation
of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (for example, an
allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and
equipment used in fulfilling the contract).

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact

on the financial position and performance of the Group.
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110

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-
2020

The annual improvements make amendments to the following standards.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The amendment clarifies that for the purpose of assessing whether
modification of terms of original financial liability constitutes substantial
modification under the “10 per cent” test, a borrower includes only fees
paid or received between the borrower and the lender, including fees paid or

received by either the borrower or the lender on the other’s behalf.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The amendment to Illustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16
removes from the example the illustration of reimbursement relating to
leasehold improvements by the lessor in order to remove any potential

confusion.

HKAS 41 Agriculture

The amendment ensures consistency with the requirements in HKFRS 13
Fair Value Measurement by removing the requirement in paragraph 22 of
HKAS 41 to exclude taxation cash flows when measuring the fair value of a

biological asset using a present value technique.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact

on the financial position and performance of the Group.

Carnival Group International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2020

2.

JE T A 5 5 e R (P T
i?ﬁg%@ﬁh) ZHal #EQI e (B wT

CL AR AE I A2 3 2 7 BB i
e Q) 2 e A e A T ()

BT S 5 #0017 TR B A T 2 P B A 5
W =B — ) ME 2B BAE 2 AF S

B OO B DU HE QI A AT B RT o

2B TR R 599 Bl TR

FZAERT R > BRTE T 10% 1 BRSP4l 6 J5E fiA
B5 BB G R E 2O A5 R i E MR AE
5 fERNER R A RN BERANZHE
SCAT BRI B AL E A RN RN
BT ST B W # A -

B T R 3 1 6 9 L

Wi s 2 o A 5 i HE R B 1 609 R 13 2 B BT
TRET 1 F W] B HE AELN 25 RH B2 90 S B A T A Hh
B AR B LA > DU BR A Al T 2 Z TRV

B Al R B4 1

ZAEET M ER 7 & & G st BE QI SE4 15 58 2280 h
IRl (58 PR A B ik o A 0 8 2 PRI
AL AR WCB B T BE  AE T e R B
TS s BRI 58 135% 28 P A1 i 2 BE A
— o

TELST B P 5 S 1 BT AN & 36 A 2 30 ) B 5 0
B RBUERE R -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 5 U 5 R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (“CO”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical
cost basis except for certain properties and financial instruments that are
measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the

accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given

in exchange for goods and services.
Going concern

The Group’s real estate business is mainly located in the PRC and has been
affected by the tightening government policies in the real estate industry
in the PRC over the past years and the outbreak of Covid-19, leading to a
strained liquidity position of the Group. The Group incurred a net loss of
approximately HK$3,874,192,000 during the year ended 31 December 2020
and as of that date, the Group had net current liabilities of approximately
HK$8,386,340,000. The directors of the Company are undertaking debt
restructuring plans in Hong Kong (the “Debt Restructure Plans”) and
bankruptcy reorganisation proceedings for an indirect non wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Company in the PRC (the “Bankruptcy Reorganisation’)
which includes various plans and measures to resolve the Group’s liquidity

issues.

In addition, the Group’s bank and other borrowings amounted to
approximately HK$2,407,173,000 as at 31 December 2020, were overdue
for repayment in accordance with the repayment schedules pursuant to the
borrowing agreements. These borrowings are not covered under the Debt
Restructure Plans and the Bankruptcy Reorgansiation. The Group will either
invite these bond holders and creditors to join the Debt Restructure Plans
in Hong Kong or negotiate with them for the renewal of or extension for

repayments of these borrowings thereon.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Going concern (Continued)

In view of such circumstances, the directors of the Company have prepared
a cash flow forecast of the Group covering a period of twelve months from
the end of the reporting period which have taken into account the Debt
Restructure Plans and the Bankruptcy Reorganisation (the “Cash Flow
Forecast”). Based on the Cash Flow Forecast, the directors of the Company
are of the opinion that the Group is able to continue as a going concern and
it is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going
concern basis.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis, the validity of which depends on the outcome of the Debt
Restructure Plans and the Bankruptcy Reorganisation, which is subject to
multiple uncertainties, including (i) whether the Group is able to successfully
negotiate with the Group’s existing lenders such that no action will be taken
by the relevant lenders to demand immediate repayment of the borrowings
with principal and interests in default, including those with cross-default
terms; (ii) whether the Group is able to successfully negotiate with financial
institutions, other lenders and bonds holders for the renewal of or extension
for repayments of all borrowings, including those that are overdue as at the
date of this report and those that will fall due on or before 31 December
2021; (iii) whether the Group is able to successfully obtain new sources of
financing or strategic capital investments; and (iv) whether the Group is able
to successfully implement the Cash Flow Forecast in the twelve months from
the end of the reporting period.

All these conditions indicate the existence of multiple material uncertainties
which may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern. We have not been provided with sufficient appropriate audit
evidence to conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the
going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements because management’s plans for future actions in
relation to its going concern assessment could not be finalised yet. If the
Group fails to achieve successful outcome from the above mentioned plans
and measures on a timely basis, it may not be able to continue to operate as
a going concern, and adjustments would have to be made to write down the
carrying values of the Group’s assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for any further liabilities which might arise, and to reclassify non-current
assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities,
respectively. The consolidated financial statements do not include any of
these adjustments.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 (% &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fair value measurements

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable
or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the characteristics of
the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics
into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for share-based
payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based
Payment, leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 16 and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but
are not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value
in use in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market
participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would
use the asset in its highest and best use.

For financial instruments and investment properties which are transacted
at fair value and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs is to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, the valuation technique is
calibrated so that at initial recognition the results of the valuation technique
equals the transaction price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are
categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the
fair value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to
the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

. Level 1| inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets
for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the
measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within
Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or

indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements
of the Company and entities controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries.

Control is achieved when the Company:
. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with

the investee; and
O has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three

elements of control listed above.

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee,
it has power over the investee when the voting rights are sufficient to give it
the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally.
The Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing
whether or not the Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give

it power, including:

. the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and

dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

. potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders or others
parties;

. rights arising from other contractual agreements; and

. any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Group

has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant activities
at the time that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns at

previous shareholders’ meetings.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 (% &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over
the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are attributed
to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-

controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately from the
Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership interests entitling
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries

upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the
Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity
transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group'’s relevant components of
equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in
their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including re-attribution of relevant
reserves between the Group and the non-controlling interests according to
the Group’s and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests
are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or received is
recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and liabilities of
that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if any) are derecognised. A
gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received
and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the carrying amount of
the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary attributable
to the owners of the Company. All amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as
if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the
subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded
as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 97) or, when applicable, the cost

on initial recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Investment in subsidiaries

Investment in subsidiaries are included in the Company’s statement of

financial position at cost less any identified impairment loss.
Business combinations or asset acquisitions

Optional concentration test

Effective from 1 January 2020, the Group can elect to apply an optional
concentration test, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, that permits a
simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is
not a business. The concentration test is met if substantially all of the fair
value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable asset
or group of similar identifiable assets. The gross assets under assessment
exclude cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, deferred tax assets,
and goodwill resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities. If the
concentration test is met, the set of activities and assets is determined not to

be a business and no further assessment is needed.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do not
constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the individual
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by allocating the purchase
price first to investment properties which are subsequently measured under
fair value model and financial assets/financial liabilities at the respective fair
values, the remaining balance of the purchase price is then allocated to the
other identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values
at the date of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or

bargain purchase gain.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred in a business combination is measured at fair
value, which is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of
the assets transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the
former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally

recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Except for certain recognition exemptions, the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed must meet the definitions of an asset and a liability in
the Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements
(replaced by the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in
October 2010).
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related to
employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in
accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19 Employee
Benefits respectively;

. liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based payment
arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment arrangements of
the Group entered into to replace share-based payment arrangements
of the acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-
based Payment at the acquisition date (see the accounting policy
below);

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with that
standard; and

. lease liabilities are recognised and measured at the present value of
the remaining lease payments (as defined in HKFRS 16) as if the
acquired leases were new leases at the acquisition date, except for
leases for which (a) the lease term ends within 12 months of the
acquisition date; or (b) the underlying asset is of low value. Right-
of-use assets are recognised and measured at the same amount as the
relevant lease liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable or unfavourable
terms of the lease when compared with market terms.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree,
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the
acquiree (if any) over the net amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after reassessment, the net
amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds
the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the relevant subsidiary’s net assets in the
event of liquidation are initially measured at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling interests are
measured at their fair value.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a business combination
includes a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as
part of the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes in
the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as measurement
period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information obtained
during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from the
acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition
date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that do not
qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how the contingent
consideration is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration that is
classified as an asset or a liability is remeasured to fair value at subsequent
reporting dates, with the corresponding gain or loss being recognised in
profit or loss.

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the
acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains control), and
the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit or loss or other
comprehensive income, as appropriate. Amounts arising from interests in the
acquiree prior to the acquisition date that have previously been recognised
in other comprehensive income and measured under HKFRS 9 would be
accounted for on the same basis as would be required if the Group had
disposal directly of the previously held equity interest.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by the
end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs, the Group
reports provisional amounts for the items for which the accounting is
incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted retrospectively during
the measurement period (see above), and additional assets or liabilities
are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, would have
affected the amounts recognised at that date.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying the

particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle of goods
or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or services that are

substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time by
reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant

performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits

provided by the Group’s performance as the Group performs;

O the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the

customer controls as the Group performs; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative
use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment

for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer

obtains control of the distinct good or service.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

A contract asset represents the Group’s right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services that the Group has transferred to a customer that is not
yet unconditional. It is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS
9. In contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional right to
consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required before payment of that

consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an

amount of consideration is due) from the customer.

A contract asset and a contract liability relating to the same contract are

accounted for and presented on a net basis.

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation

Output method

The progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance obligation is
measured based on output method, which is to recognise revenue on the basis
of direct measurements of the value of the goods or services transferred to the
customer to date relative to the remaining goods or services promised under
the contract, that best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control

of goods or services.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Over time revenue recognition: measurement of progress towards
complete satisfaction of a performance obligation (Continued)

Existence of significant financing component

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised amount
of consideration for the effects of the time value of money if the timing of
payments agreed (either explicitly or implicitly) provides the customer or
the Group with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of goods or
services to the customer. In those circumstances, the contract contains a
significant financing component. A significant financing component may
exist regardless of whether the promise of financing is explicitly stated in
the contract or implied by the payment terms agreed to by the parties to the

contract.

For contracts where the period between payment and transfer of the
associated goods or services is less than one year, the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the transaction price for any significant
financing component.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for use in the
production or supply of services or for administrative purposes (other than
construction-in-progress as described below) are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Freehold lands are not depreciated and are measured at cost less subsequent
accumulated impairment losses.

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment
loss. Costs include any costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to
the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating in the
manner intended by management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs
capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy. Depreciation
of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when
the assets are ready for their intended use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 5 U 5 R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of properties
which includes both leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial recognition. To
the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be made reliably,
interest in leasehold land is treated as “right-of-use assets” (upon
application of HKFRS 16) or within the corresponding underlying assets
(before application of HKFRS 16) except for those that are classified and
accounted for as investment properties under the fair value model. When
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease building
element and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire

properties are classified as property, plant and equipment.

If a property becomes an investment property because its use has changed as
evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any difference between the carrying
amount and the fair value of that item (including the relevant leasehold
land or prepaid lease payment) at the date of transfer is recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in property revaluation reserve. On
the subsequent sale or retirement of the property, the relevant revaluation

reserve will be transferred directly to retained profits.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment other than construction in progress less their residual
value over their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate

accounted for on a prospective basis.
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124

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued
use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of
an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is

recognised in profit or loss.

Buildings under construction are carried at cost, less any identified
impairment losses. Depreciation of buildings commences when they are
available for use (i.e. when they are in the location and condition necessary

for them to be capable of operating in the manner intended by management).
Investment properties

Investment properties measured using the fair value model

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for capital
appreciation (including properties under construction for such purposes).
Investment properties include land held for undetermined future use, which

is regarded as held for capital appreciation purpose.

Investment properties also include leased properties which are being
recognised as right-of-use assets and subleased by the Group under operating

leases.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #%F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

Investment properties measured using the fair value model
(Continued)

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any directly
attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are measured at fair values, adjusted to exclude any prepaid or

accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment

properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they arise.

Construction costs incurred for investment properties under construction are
capitalised as part of the carrying amount of the investment properties under

construction.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposals. A leased property
which is recognised as a right-of-use asset is derecognised if the Group as
intermediate lessor classifies the sublease as a finance lease. Any gain or
loss arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset)
is included in the profit or loss in the period in which the property is

derecognised.
Inventories

Inventories, other than properties held for sale, are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value. Costs of inventories are determined on a
weighted-average method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of completion and costs

necessary to make the sale.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Costs include leasehold land cost, development cost, borrowing costs and
other direct costs attributable to such properties, until the relevant properties

reach a marketable state.

Net realisable value is determined by reference to management estimates of
the selling price based on prevailing market conditions, less all estimated

costs to completion and costs to be incurred in marketing and selling.

Properties under development for sale which are intended to be sold upon
completion of development and properties for sale are classified as current
assets. Except for the leasehold land element which is measured at cost
model in accordance with the accounting policies of right-of-use assets,
properties under development for sale are carried at the lower of cost and
net realisable value. Cost is determined on a specific identification basis
including allocation of the related development expenditure incurred
and where appropriate, borrowing costs capitalised. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price for the properties less estimated cost to

completion and costs necessary to make the sales.

Properties under development for sale are transferred to properties for sale

upon completion.
Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses/revalued amounts, being their fair value at the date of the
revaluation less subsequent accumulated amortisation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. The
estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted
for on a prospective basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that
are acquired separately are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated

impairment losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts
of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
with finite useful lives to determine whether there is any indication that these
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Intangible assets with indefinite
useful lives and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that they

may be impaired.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of-
use assets, and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

In addition, the Group assesses whether there is indication that corporate
assets may be impaired. If such indication exists, corporate assets are
also allocated to individual cash-generating units, when a reasonable
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which a

reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and intangible assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. For
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-generating units, including
the carrying amounts of the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount
of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss,
the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any
goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of cash-
generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the
highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use
(if determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would
otherwise have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss
is recognised immediately in profit or loss, unless the relevant asset is carried
at a revalued amount under another standard, in which case the impairment
loss is treated as a revaluation decrease under that standard.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of
the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) is
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
(or a cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating units) in prior years.
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or
loss, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another
standard, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation increase under that standard.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial
application or arising from business combinations, the Group assesses
whether a contract is or contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and

conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to leases
of office premises that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. It also applies
the recognition exemption for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as expense on

a straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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130

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, less

any lease incentives received;
. any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

. an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in dismantling and
removing the underlying assets, restoring the site on which it is
located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred

to produce inventories.

Except for those that are classified as investment properties and measured
under fair value model, right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any

remeasurement of lease liabilities.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets (Continued)

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is reasonably certain to obtain
ownership of the underlying leased assets at the end of the lease term
are depreciated from commencement date to the end of the useful life.
Otherwise, right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over

the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition of
investment properties or inventory in “property, plant and equipment”, the
same line item within which the corresponding underlying assets would be
presented if they were owned. Right-of-use assets that meet the definition
of investment property and inventory are presented within “investment
properties” and “properties under development for sale” and “completed

properties for sale” respectively.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and initially
measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the cost of right-of-

use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and measures
the lease liability at the present value of lease payments that are unpaid at that
date. In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if the interest

rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
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132

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3.
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)
The lease payments include:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable;

. variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially
measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date;

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value
guarantees;
. the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably

certain to exercise the option; and

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term reflects
the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest
accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

. the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment of
exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related lease liability
is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

. the lease payments change due to changes in market rental rates
following a market rent review/expected payment under a guaranteed
residual value, in which cases the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using the initial discount
rate.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to

use one or more underlying assets; and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount commensurate
with the stand-alone price for the increase in scope and any
appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the

circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the
Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease incentive receivable,
based on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised
lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the

modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by making
corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset. When the
modified contract contains a lease component and one or more additional
lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in the
modified contract to each lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of the

non-lease components.
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134

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor
Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or operating
leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee,
the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recognised as receivables
at commencement date at amounts equal to net investments in the leases,
measured using the interest rate implicit in the respective leases. Initial
direct costs (other than those incurred by manufacturer or dealer lessors)
are included in the initial measurement of the net investments in the leases.
Interest income is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant
periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect

of the leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term except for investment
properties measured under fair value model. Variable lease payments for
operating leases that depend on an index or a rate are estimated and included
in the total lease payments to be recognised on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rate

are recognised as income when they arise.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of

business are presented as revenue.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor (Continued)
Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

When a contract includes both leases and non-lease components, the Group
applies HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS 157)
to allocate consideration in a contract to lease and non-lease components.
Non-lease components are separated from lease component on the basis of
their relative stand-alone selling prices.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS 9
and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments from lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part of the original
terms and conditions are accounted for as lease modifications, including
lease incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new lease
from the effective date of the modification, considering any prepaid or
accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as part of the lease
payments for the new lease.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchange prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences on foreign currency borrowings relating to assets under
construction for future productive use, which are included in the cost of those
assets when they are regarded as an adjustment to interest costs on those
foreign currency borrowings.
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136

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements, the
assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income and
expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case, the exchange rates at the dates of transactions are used. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and

accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve.

Fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on the
acquisition of a foreign operation are treated as assets and liabilities of that
foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end
of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised in

other comprehensive income.
Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or
production of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
added to the cost of those assets until such time as the assets are substantially
ready for their intended use or sale. For properties under development
for which revenue is recognised over time, the Group ceases to capitalise
borrowing costs as soon as the properties are ready for the Group’s intended

sale.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended during extended periods in

which the Group suspends active development of the qualifying asset.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #%F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Borrowing costs (Continued)

Any specific borrowing that remain outstanding after the related asset is
ready for its intended use or sale is included in the general borrowing pool
for calculation of capitalisation rate on general borrowings. Investment
income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs

eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which they are incurred.
Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance
that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to them and that the

grants will be received.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate
financial support to the Group with no future related costs are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable. Such grants are

presented under “other income”.
Employee Benefits

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans including state-
managed retirement benefit schemes and the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service

entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees rendered the
services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised as an expense
unless another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the

cost of an asset.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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138

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Employee Benefit (Continued)

Short-term employee benefits (Continued)

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as wages
and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount already

paid.
Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and

deferred taxation.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable
profit differs from loss before tax because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting

period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax base used in the computation of taxable profit.
Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible temporary differences can
be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if
the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than in
a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that

affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in

the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to

be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset
is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties that
are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of such
properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through sale, unless the
presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted when the investment
property is depreciable and is held within a business model whose objective
is to consume substantially all of the economic benefits embodied in the
investment property over time, rather than through sale, except for freehold
land, which is always presumed to be recovered entirely through sale.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax liabilities
and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they
relate to items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity, in which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business
combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax treatments, the Group considers
whether it is probable that the relevant tax authority will accept the uncertain
tax treatment used, or proposed to be use by individual group entities in
their income tax filings. If it is probable, the current and deferred taxes are
determined consistently with the tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it
is not probable that the relevant taxation authority will accept an uncertain
tax treatment, the effect of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the
most likely amount or the expected value.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All regular
way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised
on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value
except for trade receivables arising from contracts with customers which
are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets
and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate,
on initial recognition. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 5 U 5 R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost
of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income and
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and payments (including
all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the
expected life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,

a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:

. the financial assets are held within a business model whose objective

is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount

outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”):

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is

achieved by both selling and collecting contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that
are solely payments of principal and interest on the principal amount

outstanding.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Classitication and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at FVTPL, except
that at initial recognition of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably
elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment is neither held for
trading nor contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business

combination to which HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the near
term; or
. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial

instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual

pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a hedging

instrument.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 5 U 5 R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classitication and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial asset that are

required to be measured at the amortised cost or FVTOCI as measured

at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting

mismatch.

®

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for
financial assets measured subsequently at amortised cost and debt
instruments/receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI. Interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised
cost of the financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit
risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no longer credit-

impaired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classitication and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Carnival Group International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2020

Debt instruments classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for debt instruments
classified as at FVTOCI as a result of interest income calculated
using the effective interest method, and foreign exchange gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss. All other changes in
the carrying amount of these debt instruments are recognised in
other comprehensive income (“OCI”) and accumulated under the
heading of FVTOCI reserve. Impairment allowances are recognised
in profit or loss with corresponding adjustment to OCI without
reducing the carrying amounts of these debt instruments. When these
debt instruments are derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified

to profit or loss.

Equity instruments designated as at FEVTOCI

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are subsequently
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes
in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve; and are not subject to
impairment assessment. The cumulative gain or loss will not be
reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, and

will be transferred to retained profits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 5 U 5 R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classitication and subsequent measurement of financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI (Continued)

Dividends from these investments in equity instruments are
recognised in profit or loss when the Group’s right to receive the
dividends is established, unless the dividends clearly represent a
recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Dividend are included

in the “other income” line item in profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being measured at
amortised cost or FVTOCT or designated as FVTOCI are measured at
FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period, with any fair value gains or losses recognised in
profit or loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss includes

any dividend or interest earned on the financial asset.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit loss
(“ECL”) model on financial assets (including note receivables, trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables, consideration receivables and
cash and cash equivalents) and financial guarantee contracts which are
subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial

recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible default
events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are possible within 12
months after the reporting date. Assessment are done based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of both the current

conditions at the reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to
12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since

initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 5 U 5 R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

®

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking

information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when

assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial

instrument’s external (if available) or internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit

risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit spread;

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or
economic conditions that are expected to cause a significant

decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating

results of the debtor; and

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of the
debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

®
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Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on debt
instrument has not increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if 1) it has a low risk of default; ii) the borrower has a strong capacity
to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and iii)
adverse changes in economic and business conditions in the longer
term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the borrower
to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers
a debt instrument to have low credit risk when it has an internal
or external crediting rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally

understood definitions.

For financial guarantee contracts, the date that the Group becomes
a party to the irrevocable commitment is considered to be the date
of initial recognition for the purposes of assessing impairment. In
assessing whether there has been a significant increase in the credit
risk since initial recognition of a financial guarantee contracts, the
Group considers the changes in the risk that the specified debtor will

default on the contract.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used
to identify whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable
of identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount

becomes past due.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #%F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an event
of default occurs when information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its
creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any

collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate

that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that
have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of that
financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-

impaired includes observable data about the following events:

. significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;
. a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;
. the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual

reasons relating to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s)

would not otherwise consider;

. it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy

or other financial reorganisation; or

. the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset

because of financial difficulties.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv)

)
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Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information
indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty and
there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when
the amounts are over one year past due, whichever occurs sooner.
Financial assets written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in

profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default,
loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of
default and loss given default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an unbiased and
probability-weighted amount that is determined with the respective
risks of default occurring as the weights. The Group uses a practical
expedient in estimating ECL on trade receivables taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward
looking information that is available without undue cost or effort.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition. For trade
receivables in respect of leasing, the cash flows used for determining
the ECL is consistent with the cash flows used in measuring the trade
receivables in respect of leasing in accordance with HKFRS 16.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For a financial guarantee contract, the Group is required to make
payments only in the event of a default by the debtor in accordance
with the terms of the instrument that is guaranteed. Accordingly, the
ECL is the present value of the expected payments to reimburse the
holder for a credit loss that it incurs less any amounts that the Group

expects to receive from the holder, the debtor or any other party.

For ECL on financial guarantee contracts or on loan commitments
for which the effective interest rate cannot be determined, the Group
will apply a discount rate that reflects the current market assessment
of the time value of money and the risks that are specific to the cash
flows but only if, and to the extent that, the risks are taken into account
by adjusting the discount rate instead of adjusting the cash shortfalls

being discounted.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration the

following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

)
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Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure the
constituents of each group continue to share similar credit risk

characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in
which case interest income is calculated based on amortised cost of

the financial asset.

Except for investments in debts instruments that are measured at
FVTOCI and financial guarantee contracts, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables, note receivables, deposits and other receivables where
the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance
account. For investments in debt instruments that are measured at
FVTOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in OCI and accumulated
in the investment revaluation reserve without reducing the carrying
amount of these debt instruments. Such amount represents the
changes in the FVTOCI reserve in relation to accumulated loss

allowance.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights
to the cash flows from the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset
to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred
asset, the Group recognises its retained interest in the asset and an associated
liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group retains substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised

borrowing for the proceeds received.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the

consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified as at
FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the FVTOCI

reserve is reclassified to profit or loss.

On derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has
elected on initial recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain
or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is not

reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to accumulated losses.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3.

o B S 5 AR B R
FE+ A= IR

RO B A 2 ML b 3
ZEEHBOR ()

T A (%)

B E (5
PR R HERR

A B (X A I B < 0 ek 2 S AR
FI IR - oA 5 0 5K < il B o P A R
Z KRR 57 B e 1] R AR by — B A IR IR
T e 0 < R o 1% AN R R RS 1 £ B
B E I A RE 2 A8 KR o L B B [ ¥ o i 2 A
AP ) 9 ) A R R LR %
T FY) % B AR 2k Sl gl I A R 2 S A 2 B A A AR
HH B £ 15 o i A 5% o B U < L 2 T
A 2 8RR o7 R e (] > A £ [ A
Tl 2 % < Al > Olf A 2 O 2 P AR K
aB A TR o

ST T e 2 2 S A G R ) < L EE I
T2 MR T L B A e M WA (B A P 2 72
JiS H 2 1 2 o

B I T il 7 20 AR 4 N P A A A T W
i fEB TR IE N o SRR iR A PR R A
A 4 T W A 4 R T 2 R T IGAE BUE R E
Wi RN -

B IO T R A R [ R 490 4 e D R A AR 4
fERE A H At 2T W ad B 2 A S T H IR A
IR > S Al IR $5¢ 8 B A0 £k 4 3R it 2 Rk e
s PRAS & R o W AR AR 0 2 i RSt
i 48 o

AR AR AR | 20208 153



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
or o B % R R RE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

3.

154

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities or as
equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements and

the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the
assets of the an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct

issue costs.

Perpetual instruments, which include no contractual obligation for the Group
to deliver cash or other financial assets or the Group has the sole discretion
to defer payment of distribution and redemption of principal amount

indefinitely are classified as equity instruments.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments is recognised and
deducted directly in equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity

instruments.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at FVTPL

Financial liabilities are classified as at FVTPL when the financial liability
is (i) held for trading, (ii) it is designated as at FVTPL or (iii) contingent
consideration of an acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS 3
applies.

A financial liability is held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of repurchasing it in
the near term; or

. on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified financial
instruments that the Group manages together and has a recent actual
pattern of short-term profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative, except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee
contract or a designated and effective hedging instrument.

A financial liability other than a financial liability held for trading or
contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination may be
designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if:

. such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or
recognition inconsistency that would otherwise arise; or

. the financial liability forms part of a group of financial assets or
financial liabilities or both, which is managed and its performance
is evaluated on a fair value basis, in accordance with the Group’s
documented risk management or investment strategy, and information
about the grouping is provided internally on that basis; or

. it forms part of a contract containing one or more embedded
derivatives and HKFRS 9 permits the entire combined contract to be
designated as at FVTPL.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial liabilities at FVTPL (Continued)

For financial liabilities that are designated as at FVTPL, the amount of
change in the fair value of the financial liability that is attributable to changes
in the credit risk of that liability is recognised in other comprehensive
income, unless the recognition of the effects of changes in the liability’s
credit risk in other comprehensive income would create or enlarge
an accounting mismatch in profit or loss. For financial liabilities that
contain embedded derivatives, the changes in fair value of the embedded
derivatives are excluded in determining the amount to be presented in other
comprehensive income. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial
liability’s credit risk that are recognised in other comprehensive income are
not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss; instead, they are transferred to
accumulated losses upon derecognition of the financial liability.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including bank and other borrowings, trade payables,
deposits from customers, accrued liabilities and other payables, amounts
due to non-controlling interests, amounts due to related companies and lease
liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest method.

Senior bonds

Senior bonds issued by the Company that contain both liability and early
redemption option (which is not closely related to the host contract) are
classified separately into respective items on initial recognition. At the date
of issue, both the liability and early redemption option components are
recognised at fair value.

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the senior bonds is carried
at amortised cost using the effective interest method. The early redemption
option is measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in
profit or loss.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the senior bonds are allocated
to the liability and early redemption option components in proportion to
their relative fair values. Transaction costs relating to the early redemption
option are charged to profit or loss immediately. Transaction costs relating
to the liability component are included in the carrying amount of the liability
portion and amortised over the period of the senior bonds using the effective
interest method.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make
specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with a debt
instrument. Financial guarantee contract liabilities are measured initially at
their fair values. It is subsequently measured at the higher of:

. the amount of the loss allowance determined in accordance with
HKFRS 9; and
. the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, cumulative

amortisation recognised over the guarantee period.

Derecognition/Substantial modification of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in profit

or loss.

The Group accounts for an exchange with a lender of a financial liability with
substantially different terms as an extinguishment of the original financial
liability and the recognition of a new financial liability. A substantial
modification of the terms of an existing financial liability or a part of it
(whether or not attributable to the financial difficulty of the Group) is
accounted for as an extinguishment of the original financial liability and the

recognition of a new financial liability.

The Group considers that the terms are substantially different if the
discounted present value of the cash flows under the new terms, including
any fees paid net of any fees received and discounted using the original
effective interest rate, is at least 10 per cent different from the discounted
present value of the remaining cash flows of the original financial liability.
Accordingly, such exchange of debt instruments or modification of terms
is accounted for as an extinguishment, any costs or fees incurred are
recognised as part of the gain or loss on the extinguishment. The exchange
or modification is considered as non-substantial modification when such
difference is less than 10 per cent.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do not result
in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant financial liabilities
will be calculated at the present value of the modified contractual cash
flows discounted at the financial liabilities’ original effective interest rate.
Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted to the carrying amount of the
modified financial liabilities and are amortised over the remaining term. Any
adjustment to the carrying amount of the financial liability is recognised in

profit or loss at the date of modification.

Derivative financial instruments

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date when derivative
contracts are entered into and are subsequently remeasured to their fair value
at the end of the reporting period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss unless the derivative is designated and effective as a hedging
instrument, in which event the timing of the recognition in profit or loss

depends on the nature of the hedge relationship.

Embedded derivatives

Derivatives embedded in hybrid contracts that contain financial asset hosts
within the scope of HKFRS 9 are not separated. The entire hybrid contract is
classified and subsequently measured in its entirety as either amortised cost

or fair value as appropriate.

Derivatives embedded in non-derivative host contracts that are not financial
assets within the scope of HKFRS 9 are treated as separate derivatives when
they meet the definition of a derivative, their risks and characteristics are not
closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not
measured at FVTPL.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #%F &

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)
Embedded derivatives (Continued)

Generally, multiple embedded derivatives in a single instrument that are
separated from the host contracts are treated as a single compound embedded
derivative unless those derivatives relate to different risk exposures and are

readily separable and independent of each other.

Offsetting a financial asset and a financial liability

A financial asset and a financial liability are offset and the net amount
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position when, and
only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts; and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or
constructive) as a result of a past event, it is probable that the Group will be
required to settle that obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the

amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of the
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding
the obligation. When a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated
to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of

those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money is material).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that

person:

1) has control or joint control of the Group;

(i)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii)  is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or

of a parent of the Group;
or

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

(1)  the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

(i)  one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or

of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity
is an associate of the third entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of

employees of either the Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:
(Continued)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the

entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,
provides key management personnel services to the Group or to

the parent of the Group.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may
be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings

with the entity.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described
in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and underlying assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these

estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current

and future periods.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those involving
estimations (see below), that the directors of the Company have made in the
process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial

statements.

Deferred taxation on investment properties

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax arising from investment
properties that are measured using the fair value model, the directors of
the Company have reviewed the Group’s investment property portfolios
and concluded that the Group’s investment properties are held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment properties over time, rather
than through sale. Therefore, in measuring the Group’s deferred taxation on
investment properties, the directors of the Company have determined that the
presumption that the carrying amounts of investment properties measured

using the fair value model are recovered entirely through sale is rebutted.
Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other
key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that
may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Fair values of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the valuation
performed by independent professional valuers. The determination of the fair
value involves certain assumptions of market conditions which are set out in
Note 16.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the Company have
exercised their judgement and are satisfied that the method of valuation is
reflective of the current market conditions. In light of the negative impact
of the Covid-19 pandemic, the independent valuers included uncertainty
clauses in the valuation reports in respect of investment properties located
in the PRC amounted to approximately HK$5,027,695,000 as at 31
December 2020. Whilst the Group considers valuations of the Group’s
investment properties are the best estimates, the ongoing Covid-19 pandemic
has resulted in greater market volatility depending on how the Covid-19
pandemic may progress and evolve, which have led to higher degree of
uncertainties in respect of the valuations in the current year. Changes to these
assumptions, including the potential risk of any market violation, policy,
geopolitical and social changes or other unexpected incidents as a result
of change in macroeconomic environment, travel restrictions implemented
by many countries, increased complexity in international trade tensions
geopolitics, changes in policy direction and/or mortgage requirements, or
other unexpected incidents would result in changes in the fair values of the
Group’s investment properties and the corresponding adjustments to the
amount of gain or loss reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income.

The directors of the Company have performed internal assessment on
the risks of change in macroeconomic environment through performing

sensitivity analysis in relation to the Group’s investment properties.

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amount of the Group’s investment
properties is approximately HK$5,027,695,000 (2019: approximately
HK$5,118,256,000).
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Land appreciation tax (“LAT”)

The Group is subject to land appreciation tax in the PRC. However, the
implementation and settlement of the tax varies amongst different tax
jurisdictions in various cities of the PRC and certain projects of the Group
have not finalised their LAT calculations and payments with any local tax
authorities in the PRC. Accordingly, significant estimate is required in
determining the amount of land appreciation and its related income tax
provisions. The Group recognised the LAT based on management’s best
estimates. The final tax outcome could be different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, and these differences will impact the income tax
expense and the related income tax provisions in the periods in which such

tax is finalised with local tax authorities.

Provision of ECL for other receivables

The Group uses collective basis or individual assessment, where appropriate,
to calculate ECL for the other receivables. The estimated loss rates are
based on internal credit ratings as groupings of various debtors that have
similar loss patterns. The collective basis is based on the Group’s historical
default rates taking into consideration forward-looking information that
is reasonable and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At
the end of each reporting period, the historical observed default rates are

reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The information

about the ECL and the Group’s other receivables are disclosed in Note 37.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Construction costs estimation for revenue recognition

Certain projects of the Group are divided into several phases according
to the development and delivery plans. The Group recognises sales upon
delivery of properties. Cost of sales including construction costs specific to
the phases and common costs allocable to the phases are calculated based on
management’s best estimation of the total development costs for the whole
project and the allocation to each phase at the time when the properties are

delivered.

Income taxes

There are transactions and calculations relating to the Group’s ordinary
business activities for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain and
judgement is required in determining the provision for income taxes. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the year in which such determination is made.

Estimated useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation
charges for its property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on
the historical experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment of similar nature and functions. Management will increase the
depreciation charges where useful lives are less than previously estimated, or
it will write-off or write-down obsolete assets that have been abandoned or
sold.

Write-down of properties under development for sale

Management performs a regular review on the carrying amounts of
properties under development for sale. Based on management’s review,
write-down of properties under development for sale will be made when the

estimated net realisable value has declined below the carrying amount.

These estimates require judgement as to the anticipated sale prices by
reference to recent sales transactions in nearby locations, rate of new
properties sales, marketing costs (including price discounts required to
stimulate sales) and the estimated costs to completion of properties, the legal
and regulatory framework and general market conditions.
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CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

Property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are stated at costs
less accumulated depreciation and impairment, if any. In determining
whether an asset is impaired, the Group has to exercise judgement and make
estimation, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event has occurred
or any indicators that may affect the asset value; (2) whether the carrying
value of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount, in the case of
value in use, the net present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset; and (3) the appropriate key
assumptions to be applied in estimating the recoverable amounts including
cash flow projections and an appropriate discount rate. When it is not
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset (including
right-of-use assets), the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which the assets belongs including allocation of
corporate assets when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can
be established, otherwise recoverable amount is determined at the smallest
group of cash generating units, for which the relevant corporate assets
have been allocated. Changing the assumptions and estimates, including
the discount rates or the growth rate in the cash flow projections, could
materially affect the recoverable amounts. Furthermore, the cash flows
projections, growth rate and discount rate are subject to greater uncertainties
in the current year due to uncertainty on how the Covid-19 pandemic may
progress and evolve and volatility in financial markets, including potential

disruptions in the Group’s operations.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets (Continued)

As at 31 December 2020, the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment (including right-of-use assets) subject to impairment assessment
were approximately HK$5,373,858,000 (2019: HK$5,493,381,000), after
taking into account the impairment losses of approximately HK$67,147,000
(2019: approximately HK$593,548,000 in respect of property, plant and
equipment that have been recognised. Details of the impairment of property,
plant and equipment, are disclosed in Note 15.

REVENUE

An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 December 2020
and 2019 are as follows:

4.
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2020 2019
TERTEAE —E—NAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T#T
Sale of properties B 55 P 2 40,130 152,091
Operating lease income from leasing of K E M EY 2 KB HERA
investment properties 69,402 87,458
Advertising income R N 34,968 =
Restaurant operations of catering business BIREG 2 BEEKE = 976
Realised and unrealised losses on financial N FEHE AR Z SMEE 2
assets at fair value through profit or loss B R ARSI R (98,462) (794,487)
Dividend income from listed investments RKE EHHEREZRERA 2 60
Revenue from admission tickets KE AL EZ A 5,474 16,719
Hotel operations T i 488 46,586 53,920
Property management services Y2 TS 6,104 7,562
104,204 (475,701)
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5. REVENUE (Continued) 5. WA (8D
(i) Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with (i) BPa#WMAZTE
customers
2020 2019
TETBIAE S i
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T#IT
Represented by: AT -
Revenue from contracts with customers: &P AHULA :
Recognised at a point in time: TR R #h ffERR
— Development and sales of properties — B R RSB 40,130 152,091
— Hotel food and beverage revenue —IH 5 B BRI A 15,811 27,871
— Restaurant operations —REE - 976
— Sales of admission tickets —H B AT 5474 16,719
61,415 197,657
Recognised over time: W IR PRI R Tl 20
— Advertising income =1 ON 34,968 -
— Property management services —E R AR 6,104 7,562
— Hotel room income R LILE=IEL N 30,775 26,049
71,847 33,611
Revenue from other sources: 28 i HoAt AR P Z WA
— Operating lease income from leasing of ~ —2K H HHFHIX B>
investment properties KEHERA 69,402 87,458
— Realised and unrealised losses —tE N AR AR Z
on financial assets at fair value through BRI E 2 T
profit or loss REEBE1H (98,462) (794,487)
— Dividend income from listed investments —2R H ki & 2 B EUA 2 60
(29,058) (706,969)
104,204 (475,701)
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(ii)

REVENUE (Continued)
Performance obligations for contracts with
customers
a)  Property development — sales of properties

b)

For contracts entered into with customers on sales of
properties, the relevant properties specified in the contracts are
based on customer’s specifications with no alternative use to
the Group.

Taking into consideration of the relevant contract terms, the
legal environment and relevant legal precedent, the Group
concluded that the Group does not have an enforceable
right to payment prior to transfer of the relevant properties
to customers. Revenue from sales of properties is therefore
recognised at a point in time when the completed property is
transferred to customers, being at the point that the customer
obtains the control of the completed property and the Group
has present right to payment and collection of the consideration
is probable.

The Group receives certain amount of the contract value as
deposits from customers when they sign the sale and purchase
agreement. Such deposits received by the Group are recognised
as contract liabilities, which are transferred to revenue upon
recognition of sale of the properties.

Provision of property management services

Revenue from property management service income is
recognised over time by reference to the progress towards
complete satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation,
as the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group

performs.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

5. REVENUE (Continued)

(ii) Performance obligations for contracts with
customers (Continued)

¢)  Restaurant operations of catering business

Revenue from restaurant operations of catering business is
recognised when control of the goods has transferred, being at
the point the customer receives the goods at restaurants.

d)  Revenue from admission tickets

Revenue from admission tickets is recognised when the tickets
are accepted and surrendered by the customer upon entering
the theme park.

e)  Revenue from hotel operations

Hotel room revenue is recognised over the duration of stay of
the hotel guests. The Group receives deposit from customers
when the hotel room reservation is made. The deposits
received from the contracts prior to meeting the above criteria
for revenue recognition are recognised as customer deposits
under the Group’s creditors, deposits and accruals. Food and
beverage revenue is recognised at a point in time when control
of the goods and services is transferred to customers. Other
hotel income mainly comprises ancillary service income which
is recognised at a point in time when control of the services is
transferred to customers or over the service period, depending
on the terms of the contracts.

1) Revenue from advertising services

Revenue from advertising services is recognised over the
period when the advertisement is placed.

(iii) Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligation for contracts with
customers

All of the Group’s remaining performance obligations for contracts
with customers are for periods of one year or less. As permitted
under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied
contracts is not disclosed.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

REVENUE (Continued) 5. WA (D
(iv) Operating lease income from leasing of investment (v) REHHEHEEYEZ K EHE
properties WA
2020 2019
TERTEAE —E—UE
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T#T
For operating leases: B HEmS -
Lease payment that are fixed [ FH B AF K 26,154 29,370
Variable lease payments that AT HEBER R 2
do not depend on an index or a rate A]SEFH B A K 43,248 58,088
Total revenue arising from leases FHE A 2 A S 69,402 87,458
SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. ribER

The management has determined the operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the directors of the Company, being the chief operating
decision maker (the “CODM”) that are used to assess performance and
allocate resources. The management assesses the performance of the

EHGEMRBEAAFTHE (WM 8EE R
) AR AG R B R Sy B TR P 9 B 2 R A
TE BB 7 T o B ML BE AL R AINAR R 7 S &
17N

following operating segments as below:

(i)  Property development and investment

UES Y E T

(i)  Trading and investment business

5 B AR B

(iii)  Hotel operations

i 48

(iv)  Others
Fifth

— Developing residential and commercial properties in the PRC and Hong Kong for

sales, leasing and other incidental use including advertising services;
— 7 VR B 5 A B e A B ~ LR B LA BR A P 2 (RS B 5 IR 5) BB
3EESYE S

— Investing in securities and financial instruments;

—REFFREMITA ;

— Hotel accommodation, food and banquet operations; and

— GRS  BRE R & ES

— Providing retail-related consultancy, management services.

— R it A B R ] BRI o

LR RS A R AF] | 202048 171



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
i 23 T B 22 B o

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. iRE R (4)
Segment revenues and results 77 BRI B S 4
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable AN 2 b H T R B SR Sy SR o 2 A SR
and operating segments: IV ONYE 3Tk i
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HE-FRES ZH=A1—HILEE
Property
development  Trading and
and investment Hotel
investment business operations Others Inter-segment
segment segment segment segment elimination Total
B Rk
LUE 319193 BEECERS W4
BE TR g 3=y g HAbsy ik o R il
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

T T T T Tt T

REVENUE PN

External sales ANERSH 144,500 (98,460) 46,586 11,578 = 104,204

Inter-segment sales oy i 2z 9 28,073 = = = (28,073) =
172,573 (98,460) 46,586 11,578 (28,073) 104,204

RESULTS SRS

Segment results i e (2,495,214) (168,868) 6,531 (1,387) = (2,658,938)

Finance costs A A (1,082,698)

Unallocated income KA BCBCA 23,854

Unallocated expenses R BL L H (152,344)

Loss before tax FRAR Al 18 (3,870,126)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. JraBEFl (A1)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) 57 aR WA B SE 4 (48
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable A 2 ¥ 2E T i I B o Rl o 2 AR
and operating segments: (Continued) ONE S Lk iiC )
For the year ended 31 December 2019 HME-FE—NFET_H="1T—HILFE
Property
development Trading and
and investment Hotel
investment business operations Others  Inter-segment
segment segment segment segment elimination Total
B 5% R
YIERE R K BREER; T s
BE S 77 KB HAWGF 5 ERTE k|
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
T T T T T T
REVENUE WA
External sales Al SH 239,549 (794,427) 53,920 25,257 = (475,701)
Inter-segment sales oy R 2 #H 10,368 = = 5,773 (16,141) =
249,917 (794,427) 53,920 31,030 (16,141) (475,701)
RESULTS B
Segment results Pl ES (1,289,947) (800,781) (14,699) (50,662) = (2,156,089)
Finance costs A A (903,247)
Unallocated income VN 37473
Unallocated expenses Ao Be s (481,139)
Loss before tax Bl e 16 (3,503,002)

Segment revenue reported above represents revenue generated from external
customers. Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates during
the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the
Group’s accounting policies. Segment results represents the profit earned
by/(loss incurred from) each segment without allocation of central
administration costs including directors’ emoluments and finance costs.
This is the measure reported to the CODM for the purposes of performance
assessment and resources allocation.

LA 45 2 57 WK 2o 2K B BN 2
AoRIBE - BER S
St R 4 2 B BT
R L o

KB S ah BOR BUR 8218 2 & G BORA
[7] o 53 ¥ S A MR 7 Wi Fp SR A8 B (R4
B B e B IRAS) 2 4% o3 BRI Z A
GEA Z 5 18) © fETY 1A 3 28 3 YLk 2l
DURFAG B b oy Bl & IR & s B 75 ik
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

. o L
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. iRE R (4)
Segment assets and liabilities 57 k& E B LA
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by A 2 ¥ 20 T R B AR 4 R oy 2 AR R
reportable and operating segments: BE R BB
Segment assets ViR 9=403
2020 2019
A —® U
HK$’000 HK$’000
Ti#L T
Property development and investment segment ¥ 3% %% & Je % & 77 il 15,713,309 16,233,477
Trading and investment business segment EO YR E Y pn | 468,022 626,435
Hotel operations segment T 5 58088 43 T 831,341 789,834
Others segment HAth 53 &R 4,799 21,739
Total segment assets 5 A AR 17,017,471 17,671,485
Unallocated corporate assets AR5y B A S & 552,840 807,850
Consolidated total assets AR 17,570,311 18,479,335
Note: All assets are allocated to operating segments other than certain bank HfEE s R T ERAT 45 R B A7 R e HoAth R 43 i 25
balances and deposits and other unallocated assets. EEAL BHRE EYI LA 578k o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by

reportable and operating segments: (Continued)

6.

5 BB (5)

g7 il R e B s (D)
NI BT 53 8 0 53 2 A S

HE R AT (f’aa)

Segment liabilities 7B EE
2020 2019
TR B K
HK$’000 HK$’000
T TH#T
Property development and investment segment YR I A 5 5 9,805,050 7,104,363
Trading and investment business segment B 5 B 80,803 60,438
Hotel operations segment T 5 58088 43 34,481 35,942
Others segment HoAth 53 &6 44,316 44,645
Total segment liabilities Waa SER ek 9,964,650 7,245,388
Unallocated corporate liabilities AL A E 6,573,908 6,674,310
Consolidated total liabilities i AR 16,538,558 13,919,698

Note: All liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than certain
borrowings, deferred tax liabilities, lease liabilities and other unallocated
liabilities.

Mfat: BRE TS BERE A HEAE
B AR o3 BE BB A > 42 BB o Bl
Z\‘z«()ﬁ&%ﬁgo
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. iRE R (4)
Other segment information HoAth 55 8 &kt
For the year ended 31 December 2020 e [ H = —HILFEE
Property Trading and
development investment Hotel
and investment business operations
segment segment segment  Others segment Unallocated Total
VEEER  EERBE T
by vigt EBo i Hil i Ao 4
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt Ti#r
Amounts included in the measure of EN N BT
segment profit or loss or segment assets: PEEE R R R
Capital expenditure (Note) AR W7t 29177 = 556 122 319 30,174
Net foreign exchange differences [FE £ 7% B A - 1,181 - (3,612) (14,785) (17,216)
Write-down of other inventories HAbf7 B - - - 187 - 187
Write-down of properties held for sale P Y MR 554,002 - - - - 554,002
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y73~ Wi Bt i 2 47 8 102,555 - 33,605 12,362 673 149,695
Impairment losses on property, VEN Sl pACT I e
plant and equipment 67,147 - - - - 67,147
Witten-off on property, plant and equipment  #13& ~ U5 K 4 41 = = - 263 304
Impairment losses under expected creditloss ~ THMI 5 EEEHEA T 2
maodel, net of reversal B HFRE R 1,165,406 5,394 (M) 17,129 95,950 1,283,802
Loss on disposal of property, I B Bk 2 R
plant and equipment - - 3 5,148 - 5,181
Loss on disposal of investment properties HEREMEZEHE 6,937 - - - - 6,937
Fair value changes on investment properties  {% Y3 2 A F-EAZH) 375,041 - - - - 375,041
Fair value changes on financial assets at N TER ARG Z
fair value through profit or loss SHEE A TR - - - - 63,554 63,554
Amounts regularly provided to the CODM EHRE Y T ERE LR
but not included in the measure of (R A 73 i sl 48
segment profit or loss or segment assets: WAWMEEZ A RS
Interest income on bank and other deposits AT R ELML 7 2R A EIA (384) - (6) (10) ) (402)
Income tax expenses i i 4,066 - - - - 4,066
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. For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

5 BB (5)
HoAth 55 SRR (D)
R Y e Y

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6.

Other segment information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

and investment properties.

B

AR R PE A R F] | 20204F 8

Property Trading and
development investment Hotel
and investment business operations
segment segment segment  Others segment Unallocated Total
VEEER  BHREE T A
BHAN £ pixit Hit o R At
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T T T T T T
Amounts included in the measure of EN N BT
segment profit or loss or segment assets: PEEE R R R
Capital expenditure (Note) BRI (7 79,934 = 14,848 376 = 95,158
Net foreign exchange differences [FE £ 7% B A (10) 1,455 = (12,934 (17,893) (29,382)
Write-down of other inventories HAbf7 B - - - 10,616 - 10,616
Write-down of properties held for sale P Y MR 230,796 = = = = 230,796
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment Y13~ Bt Bt i < 7 £ 27,986 = 1,804 32,041 6,113 67944
Impairment losses on property, VEN Sl pACT I e
plant and equipment 492,042 - - 101,506 - 593,548
Witten-off on property, plant and equipment  #13& ~ U5 K 4 = = = 5,448 3274 8,722
Impairment losses under expected creditloss ~ THMI 5 EEEHEA T 2
maodel, net of reversal EEAR HIPRE R 362,981 (4482) 315 116932 79,845 555,591
(Gain)/loss on disposal of property, T B Bk
plant and equipment (W) /R (1,460) - - 13,395 - 11,935
Loss on disposal of investment properties HEREMEZEHE 34982 - - - - 34,982
Fair value changes on investment properties  {% Y3 2 A F-EAZH) 314,875 - - - - 314,875
Fair value changes on financial assets at N TER ARG Z
fair value through profit or loss SHEE A TR = = S S 132,061 132,061
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries R S 2 ) 2 Wi (296,393) S S S S (296,393)
Amounts regularly provided to the CODM  E R LT F R ML RHE
but not included in the measure of (SRR A 57 0 s 1
segment profit or loss or segment assets: E RV i v o
Interest income on bank and other deposits SRAT R LA 77 R AR A (436) (26) ®) 22) ) (497)
Income tax credit PSR (73.485) - - - - (73.485)
Note: Capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment Mfat : BARB X GG B Y WUE Bk i FoAZ
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Geographical information

The Group operates in two principal geographical areas, namely Hong Kong
and the PRC.

The Group’s revenue from external customers by geographical location
of the customers and information about its non-current assets other than
financial instruments by geographical location of the assets are detailed

below:

For the year ended 31 December 2020

5 BB (5)
i k)

S T 0 5 0 A O
i -

A 65 [ 4 25 5 b B ) 2R B A B % P

Z MR Joe 4t o b P L ) o) HL O I B o
(&R TR 2 EREEFIWT

WE_Z L A=+ HILEE

Revenue from external customers

RESHRE P ZWA
Property
development Trading and
and investment Hotel
investment business operations Others Non-current
segment segment segment segment Total assets
WEBER B REHE T
BEH EH B s dEh JRREEE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Tl Tl Tt Tl Tl Tit
Hong Kong Hilt - (98,460) = = (98,460) 842
PRC i 144,500 - 46,586 11,578 202,664 10,400,711
144,500 (98,460) 46,586 11,578 104,204 10,401,553

Note: Non-current assets excluded financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and note receivables.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information (Continued)

The Group’s revenue from external customers by geographical location
of the customers and information about its non-current assets other than
financial instruments by geographical location of the assets are detailed
below: (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2019

6.

sr iRk (40
Wbl R ()

U E - SRR R S VACE P DI -]
Z MR Joe 4t o b P L ) o) HL O I B o
(M EREERM TR 2 EREFWT @ (3D

WE_E-NEF A= —HIEEE

Revenue from external customers

KESMRE R ZBA
Property
development Trading and
and investment Hotel
investment business operations Others Non-current
segment segment segment segment Total assets
MERRER  RERBE TR
RANE EBE r HAs wEt JERBEE
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T T T T T T
Hong Kong B = (794427) = = (794427) 229376
PRC Gl 239,549 - 53,920 25257 318,726 10,382,261
239,549 (794.427) 53,920 25,257 (475,701) 10,611,637

Note: Non-current assets excluded financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income and note receivables.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing over 10%

MIFE - JE RN A AN R A% N AR R A FA 2

W <0 24 7 M 529
ERBRPZEN

B A FEE A A A S [ 4 S R M 10 % 2

of the total sales of the Group are as follows: BPRZIAMT

2020 2019
A U
HK$’000 HK$’000
Ti#L T#IC
Customer A' HEA 16,898 N/A AN
Customer B! HFB! 16,898 N/A? AN 2

! Revenue from advertising income ! AR B s 2 WA

2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute to the total revenue of the

Group

During the years ended 31 December 2019, there was no revenue from
transactions with a single external customer which amounted to 10% or more
of the Group’s total revenue.

2 AR A A S 25 A S ] A 208 L R

RBE_ZE-NFE+_H=+—HILFEZ
1L Ji 2 B BB — B AR B P AT A2 B 2 A

AREEIRALEREZ10%5 L L -

LR RS A R AFE] | 202048 179



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A S 5 R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

7. OTHER INCOME 7. HARWA

2020 2019
i “E—JUE
HK$’000 HK$°000
TH#ET THEIT
Interest income on bank and other deposits BRAT B FoA A7 R AR 402 497
Gain on modification of bonds EFHERT Z I3 - 86,688
Net foreign exchange gains [ 58 5 2 {7 17,216 29,382

Government grants (Note) BB (W aE) 817
Others HAth 11,629 7,688
30,064 124255

Note: During the current year, the Group recognised government grants of
approximately HK$817,000 in respect of Covid-19-related subsidies,
of which relates to Employment Support Scheme provided by the
Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.

e R ARAE FE > AR Bt Covid- 1 9AH B 4 B i
SR BUN A B £9817,000% 7 > 75 I i}l 7 8L
SR RIAT I BOURF AL 10 PRk 2 5 8 A

Eﬁo

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. WHRA
2020 2019
TEOERA ZE—UE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T Tt
Interest on bank and other borrowings: PRAT e HAMAEFRAE
— wholly repayable within five years —JHR AN R BUE R 723,611 500,884
Interest on lease liabilities HE A EME 778 520
Effective interest expense on BRI R BH S
— senior bonds —1B e fES 117,131 118,903
— bonds —f&27 303,488 301,895
Total finance costs A5 B A 4 1,145,008 922,202
Less: amounts capitalised (Note) Wk . EARCEEE W) (62,310) (18,955)
1,082,698 903,247

The weighted average capitalisation rate on funds borrowed generally is

9.33% (2019: 8.5%) per annum.

Note: Certain finance costs had been capitalised to property development
projects in the PRC which are included in properties under development

for sale.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT)

Fifa st GE)

2020 2019

TR ZE—JUE

HK$’000 HK$’000

THT Tt

Current tax: BV IE -

PRC Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT”) F ] - G (E AR (T3t S (B R ) 1,406 24,103

Enterprise Income Tax EESH = 17,897
Deferred tax (Note 31) BRI (W3531) 2,660 (115,485)
Income tax expense/(credit) SRt (%) 4,066 (73,485)

On 21 March 2018, the Hong Kong Legislative Council passed The Inland
Revenue (Amendment) (No. 7) Bill 2017 (the “Bill”) which introduces the
two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The Bill was signed into law on 28 March
2018 and was gazetted on the following day. Under the two-tiered profits tax
rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group entity
will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at
16.5%. The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits

tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5%.

The directors of the Company considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as insignificant to
the consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at

16.5% of the estimated assessable profit for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax and Implementation
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% for
both years.

RoZBE—N\EZH -+ HE LA GER
C017T4ER T (IBE]) GE790) Bl E %) (T
BIEZE 1) o Hog| A W 4RI ) A5 2 % 0 S o %
BIERER -Z—/F=ZA -+ /\HHEBK
Fy VEENG Y B TR o AR R T AR LR 15 R R
il > & 2 AR BB 8 19 152,000,000 7T
FI 5 48825 9% O L 28 B A6 » i 6 282,000,000 9%
JCI A 12 16.5% LR - AT &
A A5 50 258 i) JEE ) 65 T ) i ) A
16.5% ) 4 — B R -

AR\ FEE FRE A 7 T A A R 45 AR R
ER YW Rz SR &S M B R S I A H
K o T W I8 4 B 0 7 R4S R 4 s IERR R
RAI16.5%5HH

P2 T 4 B AR v R 1 S T A R O e A 3K

T A5 A58 125 B M A% 181 > v R0 B I 8 R 2 AR 2
25% °
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE/(CREDIT) 9.

(Continued)

The income tax expense/(credit) for the year can be reconciled to the

loss before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

Fifast s GiRge) ()

AR M (K %) BAR & 1R R Ht
T W 2 2 P 51 R ASE A s FR TR AR

2020 2019
BB “EUAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T THIT
Loss before tax RS Al 5 1 (3,870,126) (3,503,002)
Tax at PRC Enterprise Income Tax rate Foe b B 1B 2 RS R AR 825 % 5T
of 25% (Note) ZFUE (HfaE) (967,532) (875,751)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose  PZEFRFIUR A Z FiH5 2 2 (26,428) (450,538)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible ASATHRHIRR B 5 2 B2 5 5 2
for tax purpose 641,317 851,006
Tax effect of temporary difference not recognised A w8 B s 72 BH 2 T %5 5 & 30,959 5,930
LAT A {E A 1,406 24,103
Tax effect of LAT TG E R 2 BB (351) (6,026)
Tax losses not recognised RIS TE s 18 256,220 262,647
Effect of different tax rates of group entities TR HR B LUSI A A A A 2
operating in jurisdiction other than the PRC EHNFFR 2 68,475 115,144
Income tax expense/(credit) for the year EPE SRR () 4,066 (73,485)
Note: Majority of the assessable profits and taxable losses of the Group were BGE - A B K 53 B SRR 3o ) e I AR ps

derived from or incurred by subsidiaries situated in the PRC and the
applicable enterprise income tax rate of those subsidiaries is 25%.
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10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 5 U 5 R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting):

10.

I

FEBHECHIER GEA) LURNSIH

2020 2019
T TEAR TEJUE
HK$’000 HK$’000
Ti#T THIT
Auditors’ remuneration T BRI T
— audit services — %R
— current —E 2,700 2,700
— understated in prior year — AR KA - 1,000
- non-audit services —IEAZ IR 350 700
3,050 4,400
Gross rental income from investment REREYEZHEWA
properties (Note (i) HERE (W FEG)) (69,402) (87,458)
Less: T
direct operating expenses incurred for FENEEASRAZ B
investment properties that generated rental FrEEd: BB
income during the year 4,916 4,140
direct operating expenses incurred for ENG S A ARSI 2 R E
investment properties that did not generate VISR PR A R A S
rental income during the year 1,645 3,976
(62,841) (79,342)
Cost of properties and other inventories TR B 2 BB VI E
sold recognised as an expense HAh 77 B oA 73,449 164,039
Write-down of properties held for sale (Note (iii)) e E Y0k (Bt di)) 554,002 230,796
Write-down of other inventories (Note (iii)) HoAth 77 B (b i) ) 187 10,616
Expenses related to short-term leases A 7R FAFH B 2 B ¢ 577 2,270
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

184

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting): (Continued)

10. fEJEsHE (&)

FEBHECHIR S GEA) LUNSIE @ (8D

2020 2019
T TEAR TEJUE
HK$’000 HK$’000
Ti#T THIT
Employee benefits expense (including directors’  fiE B & Al B 2 (G155 & FHil )
emoluments)
— salaries and other benefits in kind — it 4 B H At B YR 3 70,876 125,973
— contributions to retirement benefits schemes — B ARAE R 5 AL K 1,937 5,616
72,813 131,589
Less: amounts capitalised (Note (ii)) Tk - BACERE (Watd)) (13,317) (23,216)
Total employee benefits expenses {1 54 ) B S A 59,496 108,373
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 3% ~ i 5 e s 7 &5 149,695 130,869
Less: amounts capitalised (Note (ii)) 8 B SRE (W atd)) - (62,925)
Total depreciation expenses 785 B S AR 149,695 67,944
Loss on disposal of property, HAEYIZE - WS Bt 2 548
plant and equipment 5,181 11,935
Written-off on property, plant and equipment Y2 ~ WU B s s 304 8,722
Impairment losses on property, Y3 ~ iR I B st 2 DA e 15
plant and equipment 67,147 593,548
Fair value changes on investment properties REWHEZ N HEEE) 375,041 314,875
Loss on disposal of investment properties HEREYE 2 6,937 34,982
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

10. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging/(crediting): (Continued)

10.

ISR TH ()

FEBHECHIR S GEA) LUNSIE @ (8D

2020 2019
BB CEJUE
HK$’000 HK$°000
T TH#T
Impairment losses under expected credit loss TG EREEX N
model, net of reversal TR s 18 > R T O]
— note receivables —JRE U g 4,516 15,175
— deposits and other receivables — 5 4 B At R IR T 880,237 540,416
— financial guarantee contracts —MBEREH 399,049 -
1,283,802 555,591
Loss on early redemption of bonds FE A gl {5 %7 2 e - 36,323
Fair value changes on financial assets at FAHER A 2 SRE E 2
fair value through profit or loss NTAEEEE) 63,554 132,061

Notes:

@

(i)

(iii)

Contingent rent of approximately HK$44,420,000 (2019: approximately
HK$58,088,000) is included for the year ended 31 December 2020. The
contingent rent is determined based on percentages of sales of the tenants
generated in the rental premises.

Certain employee benefits expenses, contributions to retirement benefits
schemes and depreciation of property, plant and equipment had been
capitalised to certain property development projects in the PRC which are
included in properties under development for sale.

The Group has ceased the capitalisation in late 2019 on certain projects
due to the suspension of active development of these projects.

The amount has been recognised as cost of sales and included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Miat :

@

(i)

(iii)

AR R PE A R F] | 20204F 8

BEZB-ZE+ A =+—HILEE
A BRAATH 4 4944,420,0008 70 (B — L4 ¢
#958,088,0007 7T) © SR AAFH & Th#HHF iR L
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11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

186

EMOLUMENTS

The emoluments paid or payable to the directors and the chief executive of

11.

B R E TN B2

E AT B AT T A AR R BT

the Company were as follows: BZMeu T
Salaries, Contributions
allowances and to retirement
Fees benefits in !(ind beneﬁt§ schemes Total
e REWRR S 3t
HKS$'000 HK$°000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
T Tl T Tt
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE BB
FZA=Z—HILEE
Executive directors fi4
M. Luo Jiagi (Note (1)) BRA AL W) = 1,305 14 1,319
M. Tin Ka Pak (Note (im)) HEME (7t m) = 45 = 45
Mr. Bai Xuefei (Note (d)) HERSEE Wita) = 1,199 15 1,214
M. Zhang Peng (Note (2)) RHBEAE W7t e) = 360 3 363
Independent non-executive directors bVE| R P
M. Chau Wai Hing (Note (k) J& i B (W Fk) 360 = = 360
M. Ma Hang Kon Louis (Note (k) IEBEA Witk) 360 = = 360
Mr. Tso Hon Sai Bosco (Note (k)) B (k) 360 - - 360
1,080 2,909 kY) 4,021
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BEZZ-NE
TZA=ZT—HILEE
Executive directors T
Mr. King Pak Fu (Note (2) SHFEE Wita) = 14,400 14 14,414
M. Zhang Peng (Note (2)) RMBSEE (Hf7t) = 564 6 570
M. Li Wanle (Note (1)) By (ﬁ/fé{f)) = 300 = 300
M. Bai Xuefei (Note (d)) HEREE Wita) = 1,363 18 1,381
Ms. Qian Hui (Note (¢)) BEL+ Wite) = 293 5 298
Mr. Wang Yikun (Note (b)) TROMIEE Witm) = = - -
Mr. Wang Chunning (Note (c)) EHSEAE Witc) = - - -
Independent non-executive directors T I AT E
Ms. Hu Gin Ing (Note (i)) ms Lt i) 76 = = 76
Mr. Chan Wai Cheung Admiral (Note (j) BB S (WfaTG)) 80 - - 80
M. Lie Chi Wing (Note () EERIE Witm) 66 = = 66
M. Chau Wai Hing (Note (k) JE i B (W dk) 238 = = 238
M. Ma Hang Kon Louis (Note (k) BEBIEE Widk) 238 = = 238
M. Tso Hon Sai Bosco (Note (k) WA (k) 238 = = 238
936 16,920 43 17,899
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

11. HHEREETBANBZME G

EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

On 4 April 2019, Mr. King Pak Fu resigned as chief executive officer and
Mr. Li Wanle took over the position on the same date. Subsequently, Mr. Li
Wanle resigned as chief executive officer on 18 June 2019 and Mr. Zhang
Peng was appointed as chief executive officer on 27 June 2019. Effective
from 26 February 2020, Mr. Zhang Peng resigned as chief executive officer.
The emoluments disclosure above included those for services rendered by
them as Chief Executive during the years ended 31 December 2020 and
2019.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group.

The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for

their services as directors of the Company.

There was no bonus paid to the directors of the Company for the years ended
31 December 2020 and 2019.

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, neither the chief
executive officer nor any of the directors waived any emoluments.

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors or chief executive as an inducement to join or upon joining the

Group or as compensation for loss of office.

Notes:
(a)  Mr. King Pak Fu resigned as the chief executive officer of the Company

on 4 April 2019. With effect from 23 September 2019, Mr. King Pak Fu
resigned as the joint chairman of the board and an executive director.

(b)  Mr. Wang Yikun resigned as an executive director on 1 March 2019.
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1% B EATBON B IR IR B 2 T <2

Tl AT R I s 1 SR L B A A ] e
A5 0 < 55 1 48 AR R s < P

LA IEBITERE MR BB EE AL
] E PR R 2 I o

RBEZ_ZEEFR_-F-NAE+ A
= H kA A 1 AR A ) S A A
Lo

RBE_Z_ZER_Z—-NAE+_H

=t— BEEW
{EA] 1 <8

AT AR R e oA S AR

RS T 181 4 JEE > A% 58 (o8 R S 1) £ ] B o 2
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)
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Mr. Wang Chunning resigned as the vice chairman of the board and an
executive director on 1 March 2019.

Mr. Bai Xuefei was appointed as the chairman of the board on 26
February 2020. With effect from 28 January 2021, Mr. Bai Xuefei
resigned as an executive director and the chairman of the board.

Ms. Qian Hui resigned as an executive director on 4 April 2019.

Mr. Li Wanle was appointed as an executive director and the chief
executive officer on 4 April 2019. With effect from 18 June 2019, Mr.
Li Wanle resigned as an executive director and the chief executive
officer.

Mr. Zhang Peng was appointed as an executive director, the chief
executive officer and a joint chairman on 27 June 2019. Following
Mr. King Pak Fu’s resignation as the joint chairman on 23 September
2019, Mr. Zhang Peng was appointed as the chairman of the board.
With effect from 26 February 2020, Mr. Zhang Peng resigned as an
executive director, the chief executive officer and the chairman of the
board.

Mr. Lie Chi Wing resigned as an independent non-executive director
on 9 April 2019.

Ms. Hu Gin Ing resigned as an independent non-executive director on
24 April 2019.

Mr. Chan Wai Cheung, Admiral resigned as an independent non-
executive director on 1 May 2019.

Mr. Chau Wai Hing, Mr. Ma Hang Kon Louis and Mr. Tso Hon Sai
Bosco were appointed as an independent non-executive director on 3
May 2019.

Mr. Luo Jiaqi was appointed as an executive director on 26 February
2020.

Mr. Tin Ka Pak was appointed as an executive director on 18
December 2020 and resigned on 15 May 2021.

11. HHEREETBANBZME G

Mt :

(©)

(@

(e)

()

(69]

()

@

G

&)

(O]

(m)

€:))
THESELEER B -NEZH—HEHEH
HEE TR R TE S
HEMREAEAR T _FEH _+H

BREREFFER -A-E -~ —H

A \HRE AR ERERITHEER
HHEGEMN -

BEER LA T FE — JUAEPY A PY H BT
HHo

A E SR A T B — UENY A Y H R T
%ﬁﬁ%%&ﬁ&mﬁ HZ—JUEN
H+AE 25 B S AR BT MU T
TR -

RMEEER -ZE—NEAH -+ LHER

2 BT EC 7 BAREUR IR 8 o TR 5%
A¥ARERZZE-NEIHA ZF=HEHE
WG LR RIS AR A HFGE

e A =B EET A A NHRE RIS
ARHEPITER TR ERT TR -
FEREAER = ZF—JUEN A JUH BHER
SIEPATHE R o

I LR ZF — SR A P H R
EBIEPATH S -

PR R Se R R —F — L A A — H B
SIEPUTH S

JE B 2 ~ B R R SE AL e P B A Y
“E-NERHA = HERELBLIFRT
Hfo

WoBA AR B BEH ZF/NHE
ZHEAPITEHS

HRMEERZZ_FE+ A +/\NHHE
ZERPTERFENR Z LA TR
H T -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o o B R B
& For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE
12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 12, hufvi i i O B
The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year included AR A 8 [ AT B v T R B LS — L (2
one (2019: two) director of the Company, details of whose remuneration TB—JUAE L WD) RAFESE 1E 2 B
are set out in Note 11 above. Details of the remuneration for the year of PEHA ESCHEEE1 o R RO (B — LA
the remaining four (2019: three) highest paid employees who are neither a =) Nl IR AR 23 ) S e AT BOAR IR 2 B R
director nor chief executive officer of the Company are as follows: 2 B 1N ET N EEBaR
2020 2019
BB —EhE
HK$°000 HK$’000
T THIT
Salaries and other benefits i s At AR A 5,764 5,300
Contributions to retirement benefits schemes BRTER L K = 138
5,764 5,318
The number of the highest paid employees who are not the directors of the o BN A ST DU i ] Y 3 I AR N WD S Y i
Company whose remuneration fell within the following bands are as follows: E U= PNE £ §:(1 N
2020 2019
“EBF —E A
No. of employees No. of employees
YN VN
Nil to HK$1,000,000 % %21,000,000% 7 = =
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 #7T. 521,500,000 7T 2 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 % 7T 2£2,000,0007# 7T 2 -
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T.322,500,000% 7T - 1
13. DIVIDENDS 13. BB
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the Company A PN M J8 A AR 2N T S 2 R R B S A R SR TR
during the year, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the AP EART AR I, 1 o B R DA 2k 7 J 7 G R A
reporting period (2019: Nil). MRS (CZE—JUE ) o

AL R RS A R A ] | 20204E%) 189
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

14.

190

LOSS PER SHARE 14.

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share attributable to owners of

the Company is based on the following data:

T H

2 A 5 A B 0 47 A
LU RS A9 ¢

2020 2019
TR TBE BN
HK$’000 HK$’000
Ti#L T#IT
Loss s H
Loss for the purposes of FA LAGT 58 A A R AR o M i s 1 2.
basic and diluted loss per share: L=
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the AN TR N AL R 48
Company (2,848,218) (2,941,975)
(Restated)
(&= A)
Number of shares Rt 8 E
Weighted average number of ordinary shares IV N CRSTi - YN SE ST ITi=
for the purposes of basic and 5 H T RE - Y
diluted loss per share 947,808,823 949,282,318

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above for both basic

and diluted loss per share.

The weighed average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic
and diluted loss per share for year ended 31 December 2019 had been
restated to retrospectively adjust for the share consolidation, capital
reduction and share sub-division completed on 3 November 2020 as set out
on Note 28 (iii).

Diluted loss per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average
number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares. The Company has no dilutive potential ordinary
shares during the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

||
15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. V03E ~ i bs B i
Furniture,
Owned Office Leasehold fixtures and Construction-
properties premise  improvements equipment Machinery Vehicles in-progress Total
I~
HAME WomE  HEERE  RERGH 4 ZELH fiRean:] act
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000

T Tt Ti T T Ti T T

COST kA
At1 January 2019 RZE-NF—H—H 109,760 8937 12212 42,406 1.865 431,005 6,415,206 7,021,591
Additions e 14744 6,191 = 261 54 354 73,064 95,158
Disposals & (109,430) = = (455) = (4913) = (114,798)
Transfer from construction-in-progress ERETETR 1,426,883 - - - - - (1,426,883) -
Derecognition upon early termination of 4% 1l & A I o8

leases - 8,937 - - - - - 8,937
Written-off A = = (11.627) (10.308) = = = (21.935)
Exchange adjustments SR (18,631) (111) (13) (612) (49) (168) (99,592) (119,176)

At31 December 2019 and | January 2020 EA —“WEFZA=T—H

RoE-FE-f—H 1,423,326 6,080 R 31,292 2,360 426478 4961,795 6,851,903
Additions RE - 28,622 - 1478 - 74 - 30,174
Disposds i - f f (190) 6) #1455) . 1650
Derecognition upon early termination 24 H L B A e ol
of leases - (6,146) - - - - - (6,146)
Writien-off sy - - 579) (1490) o01) - . 2069)
Exchange adjustrents BRI 80827 1603 6 1903 14 512 280216 365211
At 31 December 2020 REBZFELZA=1—H 1,504,153 30,159 - 32,993 2,298 5,609 5,242,011 6,817,223

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT #if # J2 it

At 1 January 2019 R-F—E—~H—H 5,169 = 5,887 21613 204 72207 581,151 686,231
Provided for the year R 44517 5035 1,501 5441 549 25645 48,181 130,869
Tmpairment loss recognised in profit or loss RS TERB IR IE 5 4R 445,546 = = = = 101,506 4649 593,548
Eliminated on disposals R B8 (9.878) = = 455) = (2,624) 2 (12,957)
Transfer from construction-in-progress ERATETH 138,901 - - - - - (138,901) -
Derecognition upon early termination of  FEi 4% 1l Hl £ & UM ERR

leases - (3,909) - - - - - (3,909
Written-off g - - (6,804) (6,409) = = = (13213)
Exchange adjustments SRR (11,069) (20) (12) (384) (14) (126) (10422) (22,047)

At31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 R =ZF—AE+ZA=+—H
ﬂ;

“E-ZH-H—H 613,186 1,106 57 19,806 739 196,608 526,505 1,358,522

Provided for the year R 41902 7,780 S 3305 210 12,386 84,112 149,695
Impairment loss recognised in profit or loss JA4EL i BfEwA o fEL 15 46 - - - - - - 67,147 67,147
Eliminated on disposals HERFHE - - = (115) ) (205,344) = (205,460)
Derecognition upon early termination  FET4 11 1 £ UM ER

of leases - (4,160) - - - - - (4,160)
Written-off s = = (578) (1,227) (160) = = (1,965)
Exchange adjustments B % 40,965 262 6 1318 50 413 36,572 79,580
At31 December 2020 REFEZFELZAZ-H 696,053 4,988 - 23,087 838 4063 714,336 143,365
CARRYING AMOUNTS E&mi{ﬁ
At31 December 2020 REBBEF A SR 808,100 25,171 S 9906 1460 1,546 4,527,675 5,373,858
At31 December 2019 Rog—PEF A=+ 810,140 4974 = 11486 1621 229870 4435290 5493381
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE ~ZF " ZFFE+ - H = —HILEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15.
(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, except for construction-

in-progress, are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following rates per

annum:

Owned properties Over the shorter of the term of
the land use rights or 5%

Office premises Over the term of the lease

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of
the lease or 10%

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 6.66%-33.33%

Machinery 10%

Vehicles 5%-33.33%

The Group’s owned properties including hotel and construction-in-progress,
including theme parks, service apartments and convention centre under

constructions, are situated in the PRC.

As at 31 December 2020, the Group has pledged construction-in-
progress and owned properties with a carrying amount of approximately
HK$4,527,675,000 (2019: approximately HK$4,435,290,000) and
HK$808,100,000 (2019: approximately HK$810,140,000) respectively to

secure the Group’s borrowings (Note 30).

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the pledged aircraft belonging to
the vehicles class with carrying amount of approximately HK$210,254,000
became under the possession of the lenders since the Group defaulted in
payment of principal and interest of certain borrowings with a carrying
amount of approximately HK$212,972,000. The pledged aircraft was
subsequently disposed during the year ended 31 December 2020, the
proceeds from the disposal of aircraft were used for the settlement for partial

of the corresponding borrowings.

As disclosed in Note 40, the Group subsidiary’s property, plant
and equipment with aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$5,335,775,000 as at 31 December 2020 were subject to the custody of
the Manager (as defined in Note 40) through safekeeping the land certificate
due to the Bankruptcy Reorganisation (as defined in Note 40).
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y3 Wi bkt (48)

(Continued)

The directors have performed an impairment assessment on the owned
properties and construction-in-progress at 31 December 2020 and 2019
based on a valuation performed by APAC Asset Valuation and Consulting
Limited (“APAC”), an independent professionally qualified valuer.

In view of the losses incurred in the Group’s business of developing
properties for sales and leasing during the year, the effects of which may lead
to the delay of construction works and unfavourable market environment,
the directors of the Company are of the view that there is an indication of
impairment and has conducted impairment assessment on the recoverable
amount of the owned properties and construction-in-progress. The
recoverable amount of the construction-in-progress including theme parks,
convention centre and owned properties had been determined based on its
value-in-use amount estimated by discounted cash flows using discount
rate ranging from 8.75% to 14% (2019: 8.75% to 14%). The estimated
recoverable amount for the service apartment included in the construction-
in-progress as at 31 December 2020 was determined based on its fair value
less cost of disposal estimated by market approach by reference to the unit
price ranging from RMB24,000 to RMB46,000 per square meter. The fair
value on which the recoverable amount is based on is categorised as a Level
3 measurement.

The estimation of the recoverable amount under discounted cash flow
involves management judgement and is dependent on certain assumptions
and key inputs which includes the discount rates, growth rates and estimated
revenue per available room with estimated occupancy rates, admission
tickets rate with estimated customer flow and estimated occupancy rate for
functions events. The management used cash flow projections based on
financial budgets approved by management covering a period of 5 years.
The direct comparison approach with reference to comparable transactions
in the locality. The growth rates and discount rate have been reassessed as
at 31 December 2020 taking into consideration higher degree of estimation
uncertainties in the current year due to uncertainty on how the Covid-19
pandemic may progress and evolve and volatility in financial markets,
including potential disruptions of the Group’s business operations.

As a result of the impairment assessment, an impairment loss of
approximately HK$67,147,000 (2019: approximately HK$46,496,000),
of the construction-in-progress, was recognised in profit or loss during the
year ended 31 December 2020. Since the owned properties are designated
by the Qingdao West Coast New Area Government as one of the quarantine
hotels during the year ended 31 December 2020, the occupancy rate and
performance has been improved significantly. No provision for impairment
(2019: HK$445,546,000) was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended
31 December 2020.

An impairment loss on aircraft amounting to approximately
HK$101,506,000 was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31
December 2019. Impairment in value of aircraft was considered by writing
down the carrying value to the estimated recoverable amount which was
the higher of the value in use and the fair value less costs of disposal. The
recoverable amount was determined based on the fair value less costs of
disposal, using market comparison approach by reference to the estimated
sales value as at 31 December 2019. The fair value on which the recoverable
amount is based on is categorised as a Level 2 measurement.
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15.

194

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

The Group as lessee

Right-of-use assets (included in the property, plant and equipment)

15. V5~ W5 et ()

AR B R KRN
FEHREE 7 (REAYIH I fs B ik i)

Leasehold lands Vehicles Office premises Tota
HE L RATH YES i
HKS$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
Tt Tl Tt T
As at 31 December 2020 KBB4 A=1—H
Carrying amount AR 3,231,067 = 25,171 3,256,238
As at 31 December 2019 REZZE—JEFZA=1—H
Carrying amount HETHi{E 3,184,924 - 4,974 3,189,898
For the year ended 31 December 2020 BE-Z_Z4¢
+oAZ - HIREE
Depreciation charge & 106,007 = 7,780 113,787
For the year ended 31 December 2019 BEZZ -4
ToHAEt—HIEE
Depreciation charge e 106,595 722 5,035 112352
2020 2019
B RAE —_E N
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T
Expense relating to short-term leases 5 TR R I AH B 2 B S 577 2,270
Total cash outflow for leases THE R & 4a%E 6,424 10,396
Additions to right-of-use assets UNE RS 28,622 43,163

For both years, the Group leases various offices, staff quarters and parking
lots for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 1
to 3 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a
wide range of different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the
definition of a contract and determines the period for which the contract is
enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several properties classified as owned properties
and construction-in-progress. The Group is the registered owner of these
property interests, including the underlying leasehold lands. Lump sum
payments were made upfront to acquire these property interests. The
leasehold land components of these owned properties are presented
separately only if the payments made can be allocated reliably.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 5 U 5 R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. &V
HK$’000
T#IT
FAIR VALUE AR El
At 1 January 2019 R_FE—JE—H—H 5,613,333
Net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss JRIE RS P RE 2 N {E 5 B A (314,875)
Disposal H& (74,327)
Exchange adjustments R 40 e % (105,875)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 R-B-NFETH=1T—HK
—ZE-TE—~H—H 5,118,256
Net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss TR AR R RR N T S B AR (375,041)
Disposal s (14,790)
Exchange adjustments FEE £ 5 % 299,270
At 31 December 2020 RoEEEF - A=1+—H 5,027,695
2019
B
HK$’000
TH#T
Fair value changes on investment properties AR Z RV E R
revaluation included in profit or loss NAE S E) (375,041) (314,875)
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

16.

196

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties at 31 December 2020
and 2019 have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out as of
that date by APAC Asset Valuation and Consulting Limited (“APAC”), a firm
of independent qualified professional valuer not connected with the Group.
APAC had appropriate qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation
of similar properties in the relevant locations and the valuations conformed

to International Valuation Standards.

The valuation of investment properties has been arrived at adopting direct
comparison approach with reference to comparable transactions in the
locality and assuming that the investment properties will be completed in
accordance with the development proposals and the relevant approvals for

the proposals have been obtained.

There has been no change from the valuation technique used in prior year.
In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the

properties is their current use.

All of the Group’s properties interests held under operating leases to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation purposes are measured using the fair value

model and are classified and accounted for as investment properties.

Details of the Group’s investment properties and information about the fair

value hierarchy as at 31 December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

16. ¥&EW¥E &)

AREIREVMHENR Z_EHER_F
£+ A=t —HZAVE i EA RN
ABE S £ o] 0 2 ) N7 5 S RS A LB 2 )
ol KB RT il B A IR A ] (TR ) #8
% HAEAT 2 A {E 2 2 BT B A - A K B &
A A% ELE A A A e AL B TR R R ) 3
HEATAG A 2 K808 T A B Ak B A & B R A
HEH

BEVEZAGE RN ERILER2EEA
Z Al LRI ZR ) o M M A% ) SR R R R
w1 52 pR b Bt s 4% 15 AH B L S mi B o

T AR BT 2 A 1 45 1l 3 S8 5 380 © TR A &t 9
EZNEIR W3 2 B v Bt P A& 2y
BIIRE HI 28 -

7 S [0 R O 466 8 L B A A DA ORHL 4 B 2
FERET R A 2 2P ERELR > TR A F
B AR 3 O 2 RAIE IR E Y A
H o

MRoBEER E-AFE+H=+—
Ho REEREEZ G A FEERE
BHITER

Fair value as at
Level 3 31 December 2020

Qe e i 3

+=ZH=1+—H

ot 2P

HK$’000 HK$’000

T TH#L

Investment properties located in the PRC PERH B 2 B &) 5,027,695 5,027,695
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o 3 55 AR B R
. For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

16. ¥&EW¥E &)

Fair value as at

Level 3 31 December 2019

R

+=-H=+—H

= ZAHE

HK$’000 HK$’000

T T#IT

Investment properties located in the PRC PR B Z &V 5,118,256 5,118,256
There were no transfers into or out of Level 3 during the year. ERRER R PN e

As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s investment properties with a carrying
amount of approximately HK$5,027,695,000 (2019: approximately
HK$5,118,256,000) have been pledged to secure the Group’s borrowings
(Note 30).

As disclosed in Note 40, the Group subsidiary’s investment properties with
aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$3,698,529,000 as at 31
December 2020 (2019: Nil) were subject to the custody of the Manager
(as defined in Note 40) through safekeeping the land certificate due to the
Bankruptcy Reorganisation (as defined in Note 40).

The carrying amounts of investment properties shown above comprise:

REZFZZFEELZA=+—H ARHECHK

1 T (B 49 %55,027,695,000 #oT (- E— A
4 1 #9745,118,256,00088 0) 2 &M 1E
By U A 45 B 2 A8 3K (B 5E30) 2 & -

IR 5E40FT 4 28 > A 28 AT A B R (e 2% LR
FE40) RSB FEE T AT HAK
[ i Je 2 ) R T 40 £93,698,529,0003#5 7T (=
R B) 2B EREEN (ERA
B EE40) 28 45 b o E A TR o

ESCFOR Z B Y SR RS

2020 2019
et 415 “E—JUE

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

THET T

Outside Hong Kong HHE AL 5,027,695 5,118,256
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

198

At 31 December 2020
Investment properties
held by the Group
in the consolidated Valuation
statement of Fair value technique and Significant
financial position hierarchy  key inputs unobservable inputs
G AMHR LA
ARSI £ AT TR HAAR
M F8 1EZY B%2Y

16. :&EW¥E (&)
Ro-ZZE+ H=1+—H

Relationship of
unobservable inputs to
fair value

Al Bz 2B
ARR LT

Sensitivity

0

Commercial premises in Level 3
Chengdu with carrying 5 =%
amount of approximately
HK$1,329,166,000

(2019: approximately
HK$1,240,283,000)

fRm 49

1,329,166,000i# 7T
(CZE-NE:
#1,240,283,000% 7C)

PR ES/ES

Direct comparison

method assuming sale

in its existing state and

by making reference to
comparable sales evidences
of similar nature properties
as available in the relevant
market.

TR LR R
HBIBETHE 2%
B T 5 P T 2
S E 2 A I
LE N

The key inputs are:

(i)  Price per square
metre

Price per square metre, using market direct
comparables and taking into account time,
location and other individual factors such as
quality, size, levels, etc., which is ranging
from RMB13,000/sq.m. to RMB26,000/sq.m.
(2019: RMB14,000/sq.m. to RMB25,500/
sq.m.)

BT OK(ERS (RAT 5 BT L
1 S 468 BRI R M PR o~ T A
o S FA AT ) A PR A
RH#13,00078 B AEF 77K A R26,0007C
(CZ -0 BFIDRARE4,0007E
FFTTK NRH25,50070)

(i) BEIDRMER
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The higher the price per square
metre, the higher the fair value.

P IOR R R AT

e

If the price per square metre to the valuation
model is 1% higher/lower, while all the other
variables were held constant, the fair value of the
property would increase/decrease by approximately
RMBI11,000,000 (2019: RMB10,900,000)

T (A AR 2 B K (0 LT/ R RE1% 0
ifi A s R RS I 2 A
s/ Wb 49 N R11,000,0007T (<%
—JUAE + AR10,900,0007%)
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16. :&EW¥E (&)
Ro'EEF A = —H @)

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

At 31 December 2020 (Continued)

Investment properties
held by the Group

in the consolidated
statement of

financial position
EAMBIRBLEA
3 ACTESE T
LS

hierarchy

N
5

Fair value

Valuation
technique and
key inputs

Tl B B
FHZY

Significant
unobservable inputs

HAAR]
Blzz8

Relationship of
unobservable inputs to
fair value

A2 g
ARR LT

Sensitivity

TR

Level 3
=M

Shopping mall in
Qingdao with
carrying amount of
approximately
HK$3,698,529,000
(2019: approximately
HK$3,877,973,000)
FRII f493,698,529,000
7T

(EE-NE:
£93,877,973,00047C)
% B 5

Direct comparison method

R IR

The key inputs are:

TEZYR

Price per square metre

i

Price per square metre using market direct
comparables and taking into account of
location, time and other individual factors
such as quality, size, levels, etc., which

is ranging from RMB38,300/sq.m. to
RMB51,000/sq.m. (2019: RMB43,500/sq.m.
to RMB58,000/sq.m.)

TR ERG (BR i85 LR T EL e
1 48 B ML IR T R B O~ T
(LRSS SESPIRSSE I YN
Re38, 3007 8 & F 77k AR IS 1,0007C
(S U L 87k AR 43,5007
EF77k NRHS8,0007T)

The higher the price per square
metre, the higher the fair value.

SRR AT

e

AR R PE A R F] | 20204F 8

If the price per square metre to the valuation model
is 1% higher/lower, while all the other variables
were held constant, the fair value of the property
would increase/decrease by RMB31,000,000
(2019: RMB35,000,000).

b R 2 7R (ks T R 1%
ififi A S s R AR RS I 2 A
s/ b AR 31,000,0007C (L
1 NR35,000,00070) ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

vy
17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS LAt S JE &
Licences
FFFFHE
HK$’000
T#IT
COST BRA
At 1 January 2019 RoE— % —H—H 25,422
Exchange adjustments [iFE 5 e R (303)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 REZB—-NETZA=TT—HRZZEZZE—~H—H 25,119
Written-off Wﬁﬁ] (25,273)
Exchange adjustments [iFE 50 e R 154
At 31 December 2020 REFEZEEFZH=1—H 5
ACCUMULATED AMORTISATION F A e A
AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2019 R-Z—HE—H—H 25,422
Exchange adjustments P 0 34 %% (303)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 R-B—-NETA=ZT—HARZZE_ZE—~H—H 25,119
Written-off R (25,273)
Exchange adjustments [V 5 5 % 154
At 31 December 2020 R-ZB-Z24+-A=1—H >
CARRYING AMOUNTS EEWE
At 31 December 2020 RoZB-Z24+-A=1—H >
At 31 December 2019 R=Z-hEt+=-HA=+—H 5
Note: WaE -
The other intangible assets have finite useful life, such intangible assets are HoA 0 & E HLA R AT AR X S B &
amortised on a straight-line basis over the following periods: FEFEELARTETS TG HA T 1 5
Licenses 2-8 years REFPAE 2-84F
The other intangible assets was written-off during the year ended 31 December HAt P EERSE 2 _2F | H=1+—H
2020 due to the close down of the kids edutainment business followed by JJ:ﬂfr‘.W@MTE’\jﬁﬁﬁTﬁHﬁEE{?ﬁﬁib
deregistration of the subsidiaries in the PRC. PEETS I o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

||
— YA
18. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 18. F& 23 A RE A HA i i 2
ok <
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE B W
INCOME
2020 2019
T TEAR TEJUE
HK$’000 HK$’000
Ti#T THIT
Financial assets at fair value through other T VA FE A HoAth 2w A 2
comprehensive income A
Unlisted investments: JEEHRE -
— Equity securities (Note (1)) —REARTE I (Wt ata)) 68,000 71,000
Analysed for reporting purposes as: S HW 2
Non-current assets IET B & A 68,000 71,000

Note: WiaE -

(i) On 31 October 2017, the Group entered into agreement with an individual G RoZ—-LtETH=ZT—H REHHL—
third party and acquired the unlisted equity investments issued by private AN BB = 77 5T SL e OIS T JS 48 A B
entity incorporated in Marshall Islands with limited liability with equity SR RN A BR B AR EATINE
interests of approximately 11.15% (2019:19.97%). The captioned entity 11.15% (ZZ—JU4F £ 19.97%) BEHEIE L7
is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries are principally RERS A& o 5% FE — B E R A F
engaged in provision of finance and money lending in Hong Kong and is LR 8 T S BA A A AR Ak R RO

measured at fair value.

e M T5 % A PR R o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

19. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

19. $&23PE T A THEE Z 5l

202

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2020 2019
TROBAE “EUAE
HK$°000 HK$°000
T T#IT
Financial assets B
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong REW L 2 AT 5
(Note (i) and (ii)) (k@R i) 51 15,232
Unlisted investment funds in Cayman Islands RS ZIE LHR &S
(Note (iii)) (Kt ii)) 188,942 326,641
188,993 341,873
Notes: FE :
(i) The fair value of listed equity securities (except for suspended trading @) LA T (NEFRERE ) A EE

securities) are determined based on the quoted market prices at the end of
the reporting period.

RAETA B T IR < T 5 R (B A o

(ii))  The fair value of the suspended listed equity securities comprised the (i) AR T A EE I A LR KRN
shares of Rentian Technology Holdings Limited (a company listed in PERE A R 2 A (— RIS A i LA R
Stock Exchange with stock code: 0885), which was determined by R AR5% © 0885) MR H A HHES
the directors with reference to valuation carried out by an independent 28 0 N7 A R TS (L T R £ S s
qualified professional valuer, Graval Consulting Limited. The fair value A RAGAET S E R E o 2 LT85
of the suspended listed securities was valued by using market approach SBT3 125 SR T & Lhig
adopted the trailing enterprise value to sales ratios of the comparable ) P 7 Bl 0 S (B S Ll R AT R AN
companies, net of debt, cash and cash equivalents and non-operating SF AR AE S Iﬂ%&fﬁ%%‘{g%&#mﬁ
assets. At 31 December 2020, due to negative net asset position and loss- HEHE R B _BETH=1T—H"H
making condition, the fair value of the suspended listed equity securities TR TTER D A BB IR TR B FEUIR B8 A5
were considered as no economic value amount. F L TR PR A 5 2 ) 2 T (L AL A i A8 97 1
fH o
(ili)  The fair value of unlisted investment funds are established by (i) JFFLTHRERSZAVHEIESFH LA

Carnival Group International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2020

making reference to the redemption prices quoted by respective fund
administrators, which were determined based on net asset values of the
funds measured on a fair value basis. During the year ended 31 December
2020, fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss amounting to approximately HK$146,834,000 (2019: approximately
HK$204,405,000) was recognised in profit or loss, comprising fair
value loss on unlisted investment fund that held for trading and not
held for trading amounting to approximately HK$83,280,000 (2019:
approximately HK$72,344,000) and approximately HK$63,554,000
(2019: approximately HK$132,061,000) respectively.

B N IV [ R O 0 A A Y 3
A AR RN RS EETEM
o AEE 7#7E+ HAH=+—HI1k
R RES PR A A AE R
ZEMEEZ A Wﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂl% 834,000
HEIT (2 — L4 & £9204,405,00058)
EHHhUEEEEE R IR EE 2 I
W HRERESE A FHEEES N AL
83,280,000¢ 7T (= Z— JLAE © 972,344,000
HIT) J#963,554,0008 70 (= F—JLAE 1 &Y
132,061,000%7T.) °



For the year ended 31 December 2020 #%F &

20. INVENTORIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o B S 5 AR B R
FE+ A= IR

20. F88

2020 2019
— ? —= ﬂf B j-l-‘ﬁz
HK$°000 HKS$°000
Tt T
Properties under development for sale BRPREEYE 3,474,348 3,206,064
Completed properties for sale BB TREEYE 591,529 634,915
4,065,877 3,840,979
Finished goods B Sh 2,097 2,443
4,067,974 3,843,422

Notes: Wit

(i)

(iii)

The Group’s properties for sale with a carrying amount of
approximately HK$4,065,877,000 as at 31 December 2020 (2019:
approximately HK$3,840,979,000) have been pledged to secure the
Group’s other payables and borrowings (Note 30).

The properties for sale are situated in the PRC. The properties under
development for sales of approximately HK$3,474,348,000 as at
31 December 2020 (2019: approximately HK$3,206,064,000) are
expected to be completed and available for sale within 12 months
from the end of reporting period.

As at 31 December 2019, the Group’s properties for sale with a
carrying amount of approximately HK$786,687,000 were restricted
for sale. Certain inventories held by the Group’s subsidiaries
including a number of unsold residential and commercial units
and parking spaces of the projects in Qingdao and Chengdu of
approximately 99,000 m? were subject to freezing order imposed
by Shangdong Provincial Higher People’s Court in September 2019
(the “Seizure”). The Seizure of the inventories due to the dispute
between certain contractors in the PRC and the Group relating to
the final payment of the construction costs. Since the deterioration
of the financial positions of the Group’s subsidiaries, the Group had
failed to repay such outstanding payment. Part of the Seizure was
released during the year ended 31 December 2020 and approximately
HK$10,797,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB9,000,000) of
properties for sale were still subject to the freezing order as at 31
December 2020.

(ii)

(ii)

MROBZBE+L+_H=1+—H A
[ L $5 37 R T {EL 49 %54,065,877,000#5 7T
(=Z— N 4943,840,979,000% 1)
ZREBE Y 1 2 BUS A 58 8 L Ath g £
FRIE B AR (B 5E30) 2k o

FEEWEMA R R = B+
FJ =+—H> ,?’33,474,348,000(%71: (&%
—JUE © £93,206,064,0003% C) Z 3 b
R W 2 TR R 5 R B 12 H B
Tl TR 6 o

RoZZE—NEF+ZA=+—H AREH
I THI 1 4 25786,687,000% 7T 1 135 & 1) 3%
PRS- RN B AR FA ZET
FE (EEHE 799,000 75 K 075 &
T AT Ve B A 8 0 e 0 o 2 B
B A HA) B 5211 A AR BRIEBER
ZZE—JEN AT A S (TR 34
BE)) cFIEEERGFEERE THRE
AR R BELA 45 [ > 5 5 B e 2 R
FRIE ) Tk o PO AS 82 18 B Jag 2 w1 1 B
?%ﬂii?ﬁ: ﬂ: AS%EI?RME:?E@E&*H
Elﬂ:ﬁr“ﬁﬁl% ﬁﬁﬂ%?(ﬁéﬂ BA
4 o iy e El,ﬁ.’no,797,000(§7|:
(FHE RN R #9,000,0007T) 2 158
VISEN 1 R AT o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

20. INVENTORIES (Continued) 20. {78 (%D
Notes: (Continued) Kt o (8D
(iv)  As disclosed in Note 40, the Group subsidiary’s inventories with (iv) OB EE400T R 55 0 IR A B A R (6
aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$2,153,193,000 as FREMF40) R 2B ZFIE+ A
at 31 December 2020 were subject to the custody of the Manager (as = — H A S A EE T A8 H 29
defined in Note 40) through safekeeping the land certificate due to the 2,153,193,0008 2 ff B HAE N (B F¢
Bankruptcy Reorganisation (as defined in Note 40). FLRRRE40) 78 28 (R A L s S TR o
The leasehold land and building elements cannot be allocated in proportion FH B 3 B b A 4 i 1% e R S R T L 451
to the relative carrying amounts and the entire properties are classified as L A IEYIE D B B
properties for sale.
EYd
21. TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. JEWCE 5 IRk
2020 2019
“EBE —EJULE
HK$°000 HK$’000
T T
Trade receivables TR 5 BR R
— goods and services — 5 B IR 22 392
— leasing —FHE 17,858 12,484
17,880 12,876
As at 1 January 2019, trade receivables from contracts with customers within R-ZB—NE—H—H > FEMEEREEH
the scope of HKFRS 15 amounted to approximately HK$80,000. S1STRHEIE N K B % P A8 2 I 5 IR

24 80,0007 IT. ©

Revenue from admission tickets are mainly in form of settlement in cash and ABMEZWAFZEDB G REH FER -
credit card. Rental receivables from tenants are payable on presentation of JEE W AH P A <2 A B HL 3 SRR A o
invoices.
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

21. JEWCHE 5 RRK (48

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance for
credit losses), presented based on agreement terms and invoice date, at the

end of the reporting period:

TR R > 42 b el ek b B HIN 28 2
WL B 5 Rk RUBR{S B RS 1H 8 ) < SRk 7

Hranr :

2020 2019

R Bt 25 —®

HK$’000 HKS$’ 000

Tt AR YN

0 - 60 days 0%60H 3,821 12,876
61— 90 days 61590H 406 -
91 - 120 days 91%120H 13,631 -
121 - 180 days 121%180H 22 -
17,880 12,876

As at 31 December 2020, included in the Group’s trade receivables were
debtors with aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$17,858,000
(2019: approximately HK$12,484,000) which are past due for which the
Group has not provided for impairment loss as the amounts were still
considered recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances except for those from sale of properties. Trade receivables are non-

interest bearing.

Detail of impairment assessment of trade receivables are set out in Note 37.

MREZZBZFBE+ A=+ —H AEBZE
W B 5 B P A S AR R T E 4V %5 17,858,000

HBIL(CE—SLE 41

2,484,000 1) Z B ¥

SO0 AR X > T R A B R AT A A T
[\ > A 5 [0 Slf JE 2 5% ok 1L s 1 o B 5 5 ) 0%
Z AR AN o A 5 A S R % S A R A (A

PR o HELRCEE 5 Rk

A AEHE

JEE Wi 5 5 MR Ak ) DR AR sl 3 A IR B 537 ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

22. FARKRRIE ~ 14 58 b HAth REWGRK IR

RECEIVABLES
2020 2019
et ZiH ZEJUE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T FioT
Non-current assets ;Fiﬁngﬁ
Note receivables (Note (i) W SR (W ata)) 82,697 82,792
82,697 82,792
Current assets i B
Prepayments: FEATRIA -
— construction contracts —HEHEEH 1,515,082 2,018,611
— pre-sale related taxes —TE & B AR IH 42,131 91,276
— others —HAth 57,899 164,310
Deposits (Note (ii) & (iii)) Yo (W At A (i) ) 1,389 4,946
Consideration receivables (Note (iii) & (iv)) JEWARAE (Ff 3 i) K iv)) - 22,139
Other receivables (Note (iii)) HoAth FEWGRIE (Bt i) 1,017,487 1,139,825
2,633,988 3,441,107
2,716,685 3,523,899

Notes:

(i) As announced by the Company on 20 December 2017, the Company

has introduced a strategic partner to jointly develop a property located in
Canada. Note receivables have been issued to the Company in relation to

the strategic arrangement.

The note receivables in the principal amount of US$11,400,000 bear

interest at the rate of 5% per annum and have a maturity date falling 7

years from the date of issue or such other date as may be agreed between

the Company and the issuer.

Details of impairment assessment of note receivables are set out in Note

37.
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(i) FMALNER

R Sy S JrElFﬁ

i A \7B§|)\$QW§/‘{’F%HEL(
R0 EONE/E ﬁ%ﬁlﬁ%ﬂ&lm%ﬁ
LB 22 T AT A A o

AR £11,400,0003% 7T 11 R UAC 22 405 4 4 )
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 5 U 5 R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

22. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

)

The balance mainly represents deposits paid in advance to third parties for
future supply of construction materials prior to entering into contracts with
the suppliers.

The Group has provided an impairment for certain deposits and other
receivables of approximately HK$880,237,000 (2019: approximately
HK$540,416,000) for the year ended 31 December 2020.

Details of impairment assessment of deposits and other receivables are set
out in Note 37.

The balance mainly represents consideration receivables from disposal of
subsidiaries.

Save as disclosed elsewhere in this consolidated financial statements, none
of the above assets is either past due or impaired. The financial assets
included in the above balances related to receivables for which there was
no recent history of default.

22. fﬁij;%(lﬁ $4 35 B A JEE WGk o

g

Wt (8D
() A% Ah R 32 B 2 T BRI R AT 32 B A AL H

(iii)

(v)

v)

TR AR IR 58 =07 TR 26z

BE B -_ZBE+ A=t —HIEHE
ARG R T < B A WG TR E B
IR1E £9880,237,000¥ ¢ (ZZE—JL4E : &Y
540,416,00045 7C) ©

47 4 B Al 8 SR T D IR AL B £ 3 19 R
Bt 5E37

A R T 2% 4 B 2 ] R M AR

Bikior 5 W 55 e At R o3 P 4 88 5 O B
Al 3 7 W% e 2 S 70 R R © B A L At A
2 S A B A 20T SIS 37 R 4 R R SRR ) R
WK IEA B
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

23.

208

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

23. Bl B B S BP0 DU Be 3Z Bl

RESTRICTED CASH Bl&
2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$°000
Tl Fit
Cash and cash equivalents W& &% EY) 57,782 74,628

Cash and bank balances of the Group comprise bank balances and cash held
and short-term bank deposits that are interest-bearing at market interest rate
and have original maturity of 3 months (2019: 3 months). The Group’s bank
deposits carry interest rates ranging from Nil to 1.1% (2019: Nil to 1.1%) per

annum.

At 31 December 2020, approximately 5.4% (2019: approximately 0.98%)
of the Group’s bank balances and deposits are denominated in Hong Kong
dollars, approximately 26.9% in US$ (2019: approximately 16.2%) and
approximately 67.7% (2019: approximately 82.8%) in Renminbi (“RMB”).
RMB is not a freely convertible currency and the remittance of funds out of

the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed by the PRC government.

ARG 2 B8 B RAT 45 BR 45 BT RE 2 SRAT A
B e B4 DA Re 4 i 45 A R w5 R BLIR SR SHBR 2
A (CE—LE D ZEA) ZERITE
o KRBT ERZEMNENTZERL1D
(ZZFE—JUE  ZER11%) ©

ﬁég?;?EJr H=+—H >  REMIR

ITHEBR A7 3R P B CAL 895.4% (. F — JUL4E
?@0.98%) S ETCNEE26.9% (B —JUE K
16.2%) e NERHE (T AR D AG£967.7% (Z2
—JULE  #982.8%) - NRWAIEHH R K
e HLR & < I Y b B 2 52 P B BORT B 2
A1 BEE B 11l iy B R

2020 2019
et £ —ZZE—JUE

HKS$°000 HKS$’000

TH#ET TF#T

Restricted Cash 32 PRl B <z 51,444 =

As disclosed in Note 40 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group’s
subsidiary had restricted cash balances of approximately HK$51,444,000 as
at 31 December 2020 were subject to the custody of the Manager (as defined
in Note 40) through safekeeping of cash due to Bankruptcy Reorgnisation (as
defined in Note 40).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o o B R B
o For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE
24. TRADE PAYABLES 24. JEAFE 5 R

Trade payables comprise amounts outstanding for construction costs, JEEAST B 5 R K C 45 75 o A 3 B A ~ 3G EE R

suppliers and on-going costs. FEGE AR 2 19 R B 72 7R o

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables at the end of the reporting REE AR BN SRR Z IR E 5 b

period. Te

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

TiT T

0-30 days 0F30H 70,400 173,661
31 -60 days 31%60H = =
61 —90 days 61590H = =
Over 90 days 0H L E 1,835,772 1,183,493
1,906,172 1,357,154

Notes: Wt -

i) As disclosed in Note 20 to the consolidated financial statements, i) W0 &7 5 15 R M R0 T $ 88 > R LR
regarding the Seizure of the inventories during the year ended 31 ZE-NET A= HIREEZ A
December 2019, the Group’s subsidiaries were liable to pay a total BRFE AEENE AR A B ERE T
amount of approximately HK$594,000,000 (equivalent to approximately ':P 28] 7K L, B S At R 2 P el () 2 5 S
RMB533,000,000) construction cost together with default interest to A H49594,000,0009 ¢ (FHE R A A Em
certain contractors in the PRC, which had been accrued in trade payable 533,000,0007T) * A BRI TR &7 & M B
in the consolidated financial statements. The contractors have participated RN ERE 5 IR 2R o AR
the Bankruptcy Reorganisation as disclosed in Note 40 to the consolidated 2 B 7 R GRS I8 R 4 & W 5
financial statements. FMFEE40) ©

25. DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS/ACCRUED 25. F Pl MERH R b A

LIABILITIES AND OTHER PAYABLES 3k

2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000

TiL T

Deposits from customers BERI& 9,700 11,813
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

25. DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS/ACCRUED 25. F Rl M R B H A
LIABILITIES AND OTHER PAYABLES ik (41)
(Continued)
2020 2019
T TBAE TEJUE
HK$°000 HK$’000
T T#T
Accrued liabilities and other payables: JE 5 20 £ B LAt MRS R 0
Other payables LAt A5 3 T 1,754,763 1,077,761
Accruals JERTEH 89,866 30,881
Interest payable JEATFI B 2,116,181 980,579
3,960,810 2,089,221
The Group has provided corporate guarantees to banks and financial A5 2 0 T N 5 = 07 iR I A R R
institutions in favour of several independent third parties in respect of loan MIERAT e e M A R L N R 07 -

facilities granted.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, due to financial difficulties faced RREZZ_ZHE A= —HILERE
by these independent third parties, the financial institutions had executed MR e% S/ =77 B M BN & - A &
the financial guarantees for credit facilities granted to these parties. The B OHITR PZEE = THNEEMERN
Group had assessed the expected credit losses towards these contracts and W B 08 o AR BRI O T A 3% 55 & AV RIS
considered a credit impairment loss of approximately HK$399,049,000 B 0 1 0 3l 2% R T g R I e A I
(equivalent to approximately RMB 354,230,000) to be recognised in the {E 15 1H49399,049,000 # T (FHE R AN R
profit or loss accordingly. 354,230,000 L) °
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26.

27.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 5 U 5 R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

As at 1 January 2019, contract liabilities amounted to approximately
HK$412,509,000. The movement of the contract liabilities represent the

recognition of sales of properties.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group has recognised revenue
of approximately HK$16,006,000 (2019: approximately HK$70,161,000)
that was included in the contract liabilities balance at the beginning of the

year.

The Group receives certain amount of the contract value as deposits with
the Group and progress payments from customers when and after they enter
into the sale and purchase agreements for sale of properties. The deposits
and advance payment schemes result in contract liabilities being recognised
throughout the property construction period until the customer obtains

control of the completed property.

AMOUNTS DUE TO RELATED COMPANIES/
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2019, included in the amounts due to related
companies was the loan from Enterprise Development Investment Holdings
Limited (the “Enterprise”) with the carrying amount of approximately
HK$5,900,000, which was interest-bearing at 8% per annum and repayable
on 20 February 2020. The amount had been fully repaid during the year
ended 31 December 2020.

The Group entered another loan agreement with Enterprise with the carrying
amount HK$1,500,000, which was interest-bearing at 8% per annum and
repayable on 31 December 2020, the amount had been partially repaid at of
that date.

The remaining amounts of the amounts due to related parties and the
amounts due to non-controlling interests were unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand.

Note:
A substantial shareholder of the Group has equity interests in these related
companies, including Enterprise Development Investment Holdings Limited, a

listed company listed in the Stock Exchange.

26.

27.

ARaE

REZZF—-NWE-H—-H GHAEENS
412,509,0007 7T » & %9 £ {6 - 52 B) 7 7 ife 2
LUES Rk

REBE B BF+ A=+ —HILFEE
A H O REREAY 16,006,000 00 (—~Z — L
E 1 #970,161,0009 7T) 5F AR AEH] & &Y A fi
GhiER WA o

AR TR P AT L B SE 2 H Rz Ik
B Z 1% A H WIS # A 2 6 T B REAE 2 17
2 555 T S AN PR T 2 B o PR AN K o BT B B THSE
A5k 2z 2B SO R A1 9y S i S0 ] e 2B 5 4%
B HER P IS C R LYK P62
1k o

%H%@&ﬂ/#%%%ﬁ%

RoZ—NETZA=Z1T—H BN
NE R LEE A B R R R E R A IR AT
(T J ) BRI {E 495,900,000 7T ~ 44 48 Fl| %
8%Et B HNR B BEH -+ HER
ZER RO E 2 _24ET A
=t —HIREEANEIREE -

A5 [ LA FR AR BT 59— £ R 1T B 451,500,000
WO R 8 %ut B R HR B . BE
+ A=+ HEBZ SR % EH R
ZH e EE -

L B A ) 2 N ek T e B A 42 B M 2 K
TE 7 SR ARAT ~ 90 S8 B ZH IR SR I A7 o

Mt

SR 80— 4% 3 R BRI % S B 2 N ) (RLA A
BEERARAE > 72— BRI Lz b
S D) A A
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

28. SHARE CAPITAL

212

28. A

Ordinary Ordinary Ordinary
shares of shares of shares of
HKS$0.2 each HK$0.01 each HK$0.25 each Amount
Tmfi R e fi
021782 00172 0257
NO[?S HK$’0(LO
Wizt Tl
Authorised: e
At 1 January 2019 R-F—-JE—~H—H 50,000,000,000 = = 10,000,000
Share sub-division [t 43 1 (ii) (50,000,000,000)  1,000,000,000,000 - -
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 REZF-NETZH=1T—HR
CHEORE-A—H ~1,000,000,000,000 = 10,000,000
Share consolidation e & (iii) —(1,000,000,000,000)  40,000,000,000 =
Share sub-division Bt 3 4% (i) ~1,000,000,000,000  (40,000,000,000) =
At 31 December 2020 REB_FHEFA=1—H ~1,000,000,000,000 = 10,000,000
Issued and fully paid: CRITRMR .
At 1 January 2019 R-FE—-IE—H—H 23,774,780,585 = = 4,754,956
Capital reduction Bl A (ii) (23,774,780,585)  23,774,780,585 - (4,517,208)
Ordinary shares repurchased and cancelled i [l Jiz -8 7 @) = (79,560,000) = (796)
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 REZF—-IEFZH=1+—H
R-FE-FZHE—~H—H = 23,695,220,585 = 236,952
Share consolidation Wt &t (i) = (23,695,220,585) 947,808,823 =
Capital reduction Bl A (iii) = 947,808,823 (947,808,823) (227474
At 31 December 2020 REB_FEF_A=T—H = 947,808,823 - 9478
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28. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

Notes:

@

(i)

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company repurchased
certain of its own shares on the Stock Exchange.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 5 U 5 R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

28. AN (&)

et :

i REBEZZ-IAE+HA=Zt—HILE
JEE o AN R T T 22 PITHA [0 A 2 B T4 o

Number of Aggregate
ordinary Price per share consideration
Month of repurchase i 1| H 7 shares RS paid
AR H Highest Lowest AT R

B 54139
HK$ HK$ HK$’000
T T T
January 2019% “ZE—JUE—H* 54,820,000 0.137 0.111 6,781
February 2019* RN 24,740,000 0.125 0.117 2,948
e The above ordinary shares were cancelled upon repurchase in June e el 3 G R [ 1% A B — UAE

2019. NHEEH
Capital reduction and share sub-division (i) AR AR B B3 47 1

Pursuant to a resolution passed in the special general meeting held on
27 February 2019, the Company announced (i) the capital reduction to
reduce the par value of each issued share of the Company from HK$0.20
to HK$0.01 by cancelling the capital paid-up thereon to the extent of
HKS$0.19 on each of its issued shares (the “Capital Reduction”) and (ii) the
subdivision the authorised but unissued shares of HK$0.20 each into 20
new shares of HK$0.01 each (the “Sub-Division”). The Capital Reduction
and Sub-Division became effective on 28 February 2019 and the credit
arising from the Capital Reduction of approximately HK$4,517,208,000
has been transferred to the contributed surplus account of the Company
within the meaning of the Companies Act.

WER - E A+ LR IT 2R
BURRBIR & 38 > Pk 5 AN |l BEAfi(h)
BV A > 728 38 5k 84 9 R AR N B B33 AT R
13 U R AR0. 190 T 1 75 X0 R AR A F)
© 347 HE 03 1 TH 1 0. 207 7T AR Z20.01 18
76 (THITRAR AR 1) Fe (i) 455 20,2098 7T 11 72
SEAH AR BT R 3 53 F 252088 B A% 0,013 7T
PTG (M52 47) o Bl IR AR B 43 R i —
T REH I VHER AR A &
A IR REAY4,517,208,0007 7T B B A A
NEIZ AT ERIRE CER A ARNE) o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

28. SHARE CAPITAL (Continued)

214

Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

Carnival Group International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2020

Capital reorganisation

Pursuant to a resolution passed in the special general meeting held on
30 October 2020, the Company announced (i) the share consolidation of
every twenty five issued and unissued shares into one consolidated share
(the “Consolidated Share”) of HK$0.25 (the “Share Consolidation”);
(ii) the reduction of the par value of all issued Consolidated Shares from
HK$0.25 each to HK$0.01 each (the “Adjusted Shares”) and the reduction
of the issued share capital of the Company by HK$0.24 per Consolidated
Share in issue (the “Capital Reduction 2020”); (iii) the subdivision of
every unissued Consolidated Share in the share capital of the Company
arising from the Share Consolidation into twenty five Adjusted Shares
with a par value of HK$0.01 each (the “Share Subdivision™); (iv) the
reduction of the entire amount standing to the credit of the share premium
account of the Company as at the date of the resolution (the “Reduction
of Share Premium Account”, and together with the Share Consolidation,
the Capital Reduction 2020 and the Share Subdivision, the “Capital
Reorganisation”) and (v) the transfer of the credit arising from the
Capital Reduction 2020 and the Reduction of Share Premium Account
to the contributed surplus account of the Company for use by the board
of directors of the Company in any manner permitted by the Companies
Act 1981 of Bermuda and the bye-laws of the Company including but
not limited to offsetting against the balance of the accumulated losses
of the Company up to the effective date of the Capital Reorganisation.
The Share Consolidation, Capital Reduction 2020 and Share Subdivision
became effective on 3 November 2020. The credit arising from the Capital
Reduction 2020 amounted to approximately HK$227,474,000 and the
entire amount standing to the credit of the share premium account of
the Company amounted to approximately HK$7,280,105,000 has been
transferred to the contributed surplus account of the Company.

28. AN (&)

et :

(iii)

#D
BEAEM

RN ZFE+ A =+ HEBT 2R
R 6 b2l > PR K AR R B MG
TR A M RS TR E#IT R
FATI D & BF 26— B {H0.25W T 2 15 B
Wety (TEGERetr ) (TR & 0F 1) 5 GRERR
A T AT A ORI 00 B9 H B 2 #0257 7T
Fill 96k 2 R IR 0.0 178 T (TSR A0 1) B o
Kﬁﬂﬂ%ﬁh$¢ﬁkaﬁﬁﬁﬁ&%
Fill k0. 24 7T (M= Z BAEHIAR A D) ;
(i) FF [ s B3 & OF i 2 2R 2 AR 8 ) iR A R
FERAR AT B DR 3 7 2% —+ T R R
THIHO.0 17 T I SRR e by (TR 73 53 7)) 5
V)BT 2 DR 5 H A 2 w] B 0 i (IR
Z%%ﬁ%%Uﬂﬁk%ﬁﬁﬁjﬁhﬁ

Wt & BF ~ = Z Z R AFH IR A B 43 73
o2 TR ) Rl = F ZZHH|iK

J AR T Bk HSe £ 36 0 O T 7 4 2 o AR R 43
ARNFIZ BEBERIE FAAFHER G
Al E R E U\ AR AR A F
25 ] 4B 2 AT AT 3 CRLAE AR BRI
%%ﬁ\ﬂﬁiﬁﬁimiﬂaﬁz%ﬁ
BEHRASER) (EH o e & 0F > =% B 4FH|
TR A e e FE R B E+—H
ZHAM e B T BEHIW AR ES 2
HRAFAAY227,474,00095 7T Je A 2 B R 47 16 18
R > 2= #E IR #E 497,280,105,0009 7T EL 3
ARA A2 BB AR o



29. LEASE LIABILITIES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
wr o B S R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

29. HHE

2020 2019
TEOERAg ZE—JUE
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
T TH#IT
Lease liabilities payable: SRR T S R S A T L £ 1
Within one year —4EN 9,794 4,707
Within a period of more than one year but not — AR DL BN 2 A R
exceeding two years 9,818 -
Within a period of more than two years but not i £E LA B 38 74 31 A
more than five years 8,322 -
27,934 4,707
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months  J& : 124 H 7 2| 81 4% B 500H
shown under current liabilities GBI B EE ) 9,794) (4,707)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months shown 121 H 1& £ A 4% H 3008
under non-current liabilities G IEFE A EIE ) 18,140 =

The weighted average incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities

rangeing from 3.63% to 5.12% (2019: 2.4% to 4.35%).

As at 31 December 2020, lease obligations of approximately
HK$27,745,000 (2019: approximately HK$4,707,000) are denominated in
RMB and approximately HK$189,000 (2019: Nil) are denominated in Hong

Kong dollars.

B 5 B I 2 R T 9 0 R A B AR A

F3.63%7E5.12% (B —JUIE 1 24%F4.35%) °

%) DU LyIME

R-BZFEL A=+ —H fHEEEHH
27,745,0007 ¢ (—Z—JL4E © 494,707,000470)
LU B E B 49189,000# 7T (B — JL4E ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

&

30. BORROWINGS 30. fEk

2020 2019
BB ZE—JUE
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt Tt
Bank borrowings, secured (Note (i) HATAER AR 7EG)) 829,183 970,737
Other borrowings, secured (Note (i) HAfE R AW W ita) 3,223,592 3,053,699
Senior bonds (Note (ii)) 1882 (W atii) 1,560,409 1,590,266
Bonds (Note (ii)) &7 (W 7tii) 2,874,905 2,808,579
8,488,089 8,423,281

Carrying amounts repayable: HPEREZIRMEE :
On demand or within one year FEERE—EN 8,488,089 4,106,601
More than one year but not exceeding two years — 48 LU {H A 8 /i 42 - 4,316,680
8,488,089 8,423,281

216

Notes:

®
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As at 31 December 2020, bank and other borrowings of approximately
HK$3,765,623,000 (2019: approximately HK$3,534,717,000) are
denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) and interest bearing at fixed interest
rates ranging from 7.10% to 13% (2019: 7.10% to 13%) per annum.
Bank and other borrowings of approximately HK$21,540,000 (2019:
approximately HK$212,972,000) are denominated in United States
Dollars (“USD”) and interest bearing at floating rate of London Interbank
Offered Rate plus 1.9% (2019: plus 3.78%) per annum. Bank and other
borrowings of approximately HK$265,612,000 (2019: approximately
HK$276,747,000) are denominated in HK$ and interest bearing at fixed
interest rates ranging from 3.95% to 14% (2019: 3.95% to 14%) per
annum.

Mt :

(©)

Mo ZE+ A=+ —H o RAT R H
485 7 £93,765,623,00088 7T (B — LA
#93,534,717,000 ) DI R (T AR )
uﬂﬁrﬂtﬁfliiﬂﬁ F7.10%%13%
(ZZF—JUE 7. 10%i13%) g 84T B
,Biﬁﬂ% K#921,540,0008 7T (= Z— UL .
#9212,972,0000 5T) BIFEIC (Fim) aHE >
W F A SR AT R EHR B IN1.9% (B —h
4F 1 N3.78% ) I BN AE ARG o SRAT R H
il £ 7K £9265,612,0008 7T (= Z—JL4E 1 45
276,747,000% 7T.) LA 7T 5 HE I #4 [ % 45 )
BAF3.95%814% (B —JUHE 1 3.95%%
14%) g



For the year ended 31 December 2020 #%F &

30. BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

@

(i)

(Continued)

The Group’s bank and other borrowings are secured by the assets of the
Group with the following carrying amounts:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o B S 5 AR B R
FE+ A= IR

30. ik (&)

MfaE (D

@

(€))

A SR 2 SRAT e HOAAR 3 DUAS 5 B T 51 ER
AT 2 A AT

(a) (a)
2020 2019
TETRAE “E -
HK$°000 HK$’000
Ti#L T#T
Property, plant and equipment LN Y& ]

(Note 15) HfiF1s) 5,335,775 5,473,357
Investment properties (Note 16) WEWE Witie) 5,027,695 5,118,256
Properties for sale (Note 20) REEYIZE (7t20) 4,065,877 3,840,979
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong A% LT 2 BEAGE S

(Note 19) Wt7t19) 3 5

14,429,350 14,432,597

(b) A personal guarantee was given by the substantial shareholder
of the Company, Mr. King Pak Fu, to secure the Group’s certain
borrowings.

(c)  Certain shares of non-controlling interests of the Group have been
pledged to secure the borrowings.

Bonds payable

As at 31 December 2020, bonds and senior bonds payable with
aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$3,373,167,000 (2019:
approximately HK$3,358,330,000) are denominated in USD and bear
interest at the rates ranging from 8% to 10% (2019: 8% to 10%) per
annum. The bonds will mature on 16 January 2021 and 22 March 2021.

On 16 January 2019, the Company entered into supplemental trust deed
to extend the maturity date of the bonds in aggregate principal amount
of US$285,000,000 for 2 years after the maturity date, i.e. extend to 16
January 2021 and upon redemption of the bonds, the relevant redemption
amount of the bonds shall make up an internal rate of return of 12% on the
aggregate principal amount of such outstanding bonds calculated from 17
January 2019 until the redemption date, in addition to the amount making
up an internal rate of return of 11% on the aggregate principal amount of
the outstanding bonds calculated from the issue date to 16 January 2019
(the “Extension I"’). On 13 February 2019, the Company obtained consent
from substantial bondholders and executed supplemental trust deed to
extend the maturity date of the bonds in aggregate principal amount of
US$162,500,000 for 2 years after the maturity date, i.e. extend to 22
March 2021 and amended the interest rate from 8.0% per annum to 10.0%
per annum during the extended period (the “Extension II”).

(i)

(b)  ANE FEBRHEGE A CHA
BB TAE SR AEE AR o

(©  ALE ZHTIEL R T H
e R KB HEOR ©

JEA 227

R BETL A=+ —H 488k
fl%93,373,167,000i 70 (ZF —JL4E . &
3,358,330,00035 7T) [ 5] {8 %5 fe B S (8 %5
DU TEEHE M 2 F R A P8% E10% (Z
Z—JUE 1 8%F10%) 5l o s FE IR
:%:gﬁ HFAAHRZZE_—H=H
ZtFZHEE

—E—H+NH RAFET A
fﬁfpﬁ‘c%}? 1 A 4 4% 74285,000,00035 7T
M8 27 2 213 H T R 2 2038 H % m4E (R
ERREZFEZ—F—HT/NH) » KREE
fEZR I K%f%liﬁﬁﬁikﬁ%@#zkﬁa@
HETH RS —JUE—H T/NHIE
ujrﬁzﬁqﬁ[&lﬁlaeﬁﬁz%ﬂu%% &2 2 A
Eﬁ@lﬁl%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁ*%%f*#ﬂxﬁmﬁﬁ
HoZ—JUE—H -t HREEHEE H IR
%’rﬁzmﬁﬁﬁliﬁaﬁ‘%i‘ulz% (TEEHAT 1) o
SE-AECATER AATERE EE
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30. BORROWINGS (Continued)

218

Notes: (Continued)

(i)
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Bonds payable (Continued)

The Company accounted for the Extension I and Extension II as
modification of the existing financial liabilities with the change in present
value of the liabilities, which represents the difference between carrying
amount of liabilities before the Extension and discounted new cash flows
under new terms using original effective interest rate, recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Bonds and senior bonds payable of aggregate carrying amount
of approximately HK$1,062,147,000 (2019: approximately
HK$1,040,515,000) are denominated in HKD and bear interest at the
rate ranging from 5% to 6% (2019: 5% to 6%) per annum. The bonds
will mature on the date immediately following 2 years to 8 years (2019:
2 years to 8§ years) after the date of issue of the bonds.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company had repaid the
principal amount of approximately HK$500,000 (2019: approximately
HK$55,462,000) on maturity date.

During the year ended 31 December 2019, the Company early redeemed a
carrying amount of approximately HK$119,071,000 and recognised a loss
on early redemption of approximately HK$36,323,000 in consolidated
profit or loss.

Senior bonds and bonds payable of approximately HK$2,362,517,000
(2019: approximately HK$2,370,743,000) were unsecured, in
particular, carrying amount of approximately HK$1,300,371,000 (2019:
approximately HK$1,330,228,000) were guaranteed and approximately
HK$1,062,146,000 (2019: approximately HK$1,040,515,000) were
unguaranteed.

Bonds payable of approximately HK$2,072,797,000 were secured
by shares of the Group’s certain subsidiaries and guaranteed by the
substantial shareholder of the Company, Mr. King Pak Fu, as at 31
December 2020 (2019: approximately HK$2,028,102,000).

30. ik (&)

Mt :

(i)

#D
JEAHEZ7 (D

% R JE TR SE STTUA AR R B 2 S B A
B A BT R AR AR R R H A AT
W g R rP it 5 A T LB 2 52 ) BT AE
SULRT £ 8 <2 R TR B0 P L B R 3R 351
WG o Bl i o 2 R Y 22

HHAR TR £91,062,147,0000 75 (- & — L
F 1 #91,040,515,00078 1) 114 JE -] 18 55 be 15
Je 25 LU e sHE I SE R A 5% 2
6% (—Z—JIE : 5%%6%) &t B %% E
SRR BB AR S 53T HIHB 2 84E (2
T —JULE  24EFERE) 2 HEIW -

RE&E_Z2 2+ -H=+—0H1t
EE R \7EBA§IEEJEH%U§ZI:$§E2’J
500,000#5 70 (- ZF— JLAE @ 4955,462,000%
JL) ©

REE_Z2—-hh#E+_H=+—H
1E4E B 0 AR 2N\ B HE AT I Bl AR i (E 2
119,071,000 7T i JiA &5 5 15 20k i 20 12 Al 1L
1] 546144 36,323,000% IC

JRE 1<) 8 SE 08 27 B A8 27 492,362,517,0003 7T
(T —JUAE @ £92,370,743,0007 7T) 2
FEH - Hop IR I 491,300,371,0009 ¢ (=
L —JUAE © £91,330,228,00087T) & H 5
R B #91,062,146,0003 7 (ZZ — JL4E @ &Y
1,040,515,00085 7T) 2 S5 o

MRoBEBE+ A=+ —H EAE
F£#92,072,797,00075 7T H1 AS 52 [ 7 B g
25 E) R 3 1 HE 4 B AR 28 A 3R AR R
HEZRERSEER(CZE-NE H
2,028,102,000%57T) °



30. BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

Bonds payable (Continued)

The movements of the Group’s bonds payable for the years ended 31

December 2020 and 2019 are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

30. 8k (&)
WtaE - (48

(i) MEAHEZF 8D

o 5 U 5 R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

AEEEMEFRBRE E BER %
—NEE+T A =+ — H IR E 2 s H

T

Total

At

HK$’000

T

Carrying amounts as at 1 January 2019 AZE—NAE—H—HZEH{HE 4,620,393
Exchange adjustments e 58 3 % (18,250)
Interest paid EfFE (19.580)
Interest payable JEEASH L& (342,182)
Effective interest charged to profit or loss (Note 8) R NER 2 BRI (Hfats) 420,798
Repurchase g el (155,394)
Loss on early redemption F& Al JE [ s 48 36,323
Repayment of principal BEAE (55.462)
Gain on modification of bonds BT Z Wk (86,688)
Direct costs BERA (1,112)

Carrying amounts as at 31 December 2019 and RoB—-NE+FTH=1+—HkKk

1 January 2020 ZE B —H—HZIRAE 4,398,846
Exchange adjustments P S 3 (15,054)
Interest paid EATFLE (480)
Interest payable JEATRLE (368,117)
Effective interest charged to profit or loss (Note 8) R HIBR 2 B AR B 7ES) 420,619
Repayment of principal EEARE (500)
Carrying amounts as at 31 December 2020 RFBZBE T H =4 —HZIREAE 4,435,314

The effective interest rate of the above bonds payable ranged from 7.93%

to 17.40% per annum (2019: 8.14% to 17.40%).

R B SR B B BRAE R R A F7.93%

17.40% (= ZFE—JUF © 8.14%%217.40% ) ©

BB A AR | 2020598 219



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
or o B % R R RE

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

30.

31.

220

BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iii)  Due to the financial difficulties during the year ended 31 December
2020, the Group defaulted the payment of loan interests and fees of
certain borrowings with an aggregate carrying amount of approximately
HK$8,488,089,000 (2019: approximately HK$1,253,487,000), which are
secured by the pledged assets and personal guarantee and repayable on
demand.

(iv)  As at 31 December 2020, the Group’s borrowing amounted to
approximately HK$2,407,173,000 were overdue for repayment in
accordance with the repayment schedule pursuant to the borrowing
agreements.

DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of financial
position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The

following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting

30.

31.

frik G
Wit : D

(i) HRAKRZE_-Z_ZHF+_H=+—HIt
AT B ) B 755 ) A 0 AR R R O 1 A R
i {E 478,488,089,000# 7 (. ZE—N&E 1 4
1,253,487,000 7T) 18 T 15 3% 0 5 308 &
T B A B O DU & 2 R (s
PRAE s Ml 2 S 2R R 2 o

(v) MRoZBZBETZA=ZT—H AEEY
2,407,173,000#5 7T 2 6 AR AR 5 48 31 1o sk 1Y
Pt gy Ambntilib

LR &R S M BRI R R AR - 5 TR AR
TE 7 B BL(E A o DU 2yl B S B
14 2 08 JE RS2 TR B 50 #

purposes:
2020 2019

TERCEY “E—JUE

HKS$°000 HKS$’000

THT T

Deferred tax liabilities MEAC R IE B E 1,116,017 1,044,463
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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. For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

31. DEFERRED TAXATION (Continued) 31. EEEMIIE (&)

The following are the major deferred tax balances recognised and the

movements thereon during the current and prior years:

DU 7% CUE a8 Z 35 5 48 S 752 T 465 Bk I R A4
JE he AR T 2 SR

Deductible
temporary
differences
Revaluation of arising from
Deferred tax (assets)/liabilities: properties LAT provisions Total
b3 A
3 e
EIENC7H
MAERITE () i qGYE T AR #ast
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T THIT
At 1 January 2019 RFE—-NE—-HA—H 1,220,002 (37,240) 1,182,762
Credited to profit or loss AR N EEA (109,459) (6,026) (115,485)
Exchange adjustments i B0 o % (23,708) 894 (22,814)
At 31 December 2019 and RoE-NEtF A=t —H R E
1 January 2020 ZiE—H—H 1,086,835 (42,372) 1,044,463
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss R IR GEA) 3,012 (352) 2,660
Exchange adjustments [ £ i 71,702 (2,808) 68,894
At 31 December 2020 R-BZZIET_H=1—H 1,161,549 (45,532) 1,116,017
Deferred tax assets: BAERIHE E

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$2,182,046,000 (2019: approximately HK$2,540,366,000)
available for offset against future profits. Approximately HK$1,982,149,000
(2019: approximately HK$1,598,846,000) of these tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely in Hong Kong and approximately HK$199,897,000
(2019: approximately HK$941,520,000) will expire within 5 years under
other jurisdiction. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the

tax losses due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible temporary
difference of approximately HK$30,959,000 (2019: approximately
HK$5,930,000) and no deferred tax asset has been recognised for such
deductible temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be

utilised.

R EMR REEAEREHZ B EE
HA92,182,046,000% 8 (ZZE— L &
2,540,366,000% 7T.) A {H L85 R AR i Al o 5% 5%
FRIERGHE H 491,982,149,000i T (—~E— I
1 #91,598,846,000 7T) A 7 s ] i [R 1
A5 R £9199,897,0008 7T (—FE —JUL4E 1 &
941,520,000% 70.) % H Ath =] 75 HE &R 4 N
JeEi H o E A S 3 TR T R 2R S R R A A
TE Jis5 HE il 5 208 E 3 JE 7 ©

TR RS R A A AT AR R R A
30,959,000 7T (=& —JL4E © £95,930,0007
JC) » B VR K T RE 75 8 i 5 385 AR BT ) AT 40
DL IR 2 R A AT HE B o M S e % S T
TG0 IR 2 R it o R R T o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

32. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 December 2019:

On 30 December 2018, the Group entered into a sale and purchase
agreement (the “Agreement”) with an independent third party (the
“Purchaser”) to dispose of the Group’s entire equity interests in Joyous
Investment Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Joyous Group™)
and the Group agreed to assign to the Purchaser the loans owing by the
Joyous Group to the Company for a cash consideration of approximately
HK$1,860,000,000 (subject to a deduction of the loan owing by the Joyous
Group to the bank and other adjustments) subject to the terms of the
Agreement. Joyous Group is principally engaged in investment holding
and property development in Hong Kong. The disposal of subsidiaries was

completed on 14 January 2019.

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control were lost:

b 15 Bff g 23 W)

B2 -2+ _H=+—HI1k
SERE -

R-B—-NEFT_HZ+TH AEEHE %
WA =7 (T8 ) 51— E 8 s (T
G 1) H B A R A M R R A TR A FD R
Hb g AT (TSR ) 2 2R e A5
T[] 728 e L o MR R AL R R A R
o A UE A 491,860,000,0007 7C (GEITIK
R AR T A5 AR BR AT I A B M A A )
1f 28 52 oh sk I IR R FR PR o SR AR 1] = BN F
WA R B M R 5 o BN E
ARFHEER ZZE—NLE—A T+ H%EK -

PERAETIREDS DT 2 & b B b

HK$’000
TiL
Deposit e 2
Properties under development for sale i YE 1,559,724
Bank balances HRATHS R 4,652
Amount due to ultimate holding company JEEAH B A& AR AR N W R T (788,620)
Accounts payable JEEAS WK (13,701)
Bank borrowings AT (691,314)
70,743
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries LB B B 8 E] 2 296,393
367,136
Satisfied by: A7
Gross consideration RAE 48 1,860,000
Less: bank borrowings Ik ERAT K (691,314)
Less: other adjustments T8 HAth R R (9,047)
Cash consideration Bl 1,159,639
Less: amount due to ultimate holding company TR o AT R AR PRI A R FKE (788,620)
Less: transaction costs and expenses IR0 25 AR B B X (3,883)
367,136
Net cash inflow on disposal of subsidiaries: ) P P RS N -
Cash consideration received and receivable, net of bank U JE IR AR FOBRERAT IS 7R %
borrowings and other adjustments HoAth %2 1,159,639
Less: cash and cash equivalent balances disposed W AT B R S YA R (4,652)
1,154,987
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33. OPERATING LEASING ARRANGEMENTS
The Group as lessor

The Group leases its investment properties under operating lease. The leases
run for an initial period of 1 to 15 years (2019: 1 to 15 years) in combination
of fixed rentals and contingent rentals. Certain of these leases include
contingent rentals which are determined based on percentages of sales of the

tenants when the sales occurred.

Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 5 U 5 R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

REMETHE
AL 1 2 AL

AEBRECRHE HHAREY K -HE
B4 ] 5 A 4 B SRR 2 > M) 2 I = 154
(ZZ— U D 1FR154) B Eh a4
REAFEREHPHEERz G EEEZ
B &

L 2 R B WO B8 A~ ks R

2020 2019

ZERCERA ZE—JUE

HKS$°000 HKS$’000

THET TH#IT

Within one year —4ERN 13,300 15,515
In the second year 8B AEN 12,926 14,225
In the third year BEAERN 12,392 13,575
In the fourth year HIYERN 11,759 13,129
In the fifth year BHEN 10,259 12,374
After five years % 27,584 37,177
88,220 105,995
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34.

3s.

224

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS BRI
2020 2019
SRR ZEJUE
HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt F#T
Capital expenditure E AR
— contracted but not provided for (Note) —EETEVE RS i (HFE) 2,240,284 1,785,474

Note:

The above commitments include mainly the construction related costs on
development of the Group’s property, plant and equipment and properties for sale
in the PRC.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS
Defined contribution plan

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme for all qualifying
employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the plans are held separately from
those of the Group in funds under the control of trustees.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of a
state-managed retirement benefit plan operated by the government of the
PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified percentage of
payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit plan is to make
the specified contributions.

The total expense recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of approximately HK$1,937,000 (2019:
approximately HK$5,616,000) represents contributions paid or payable to
these plans by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the plans.

Carnival Group International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2020
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R A R B SR A B RS B A
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AR A E

& BABERK T
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FESY B A 0 A B (SN PRI 2 B S Pl
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% 2B A8 R w8 2 0 — 31 2 1 OB

E
e
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

36. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The

Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which included,
borrowings, net of cash and cash equivalents and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital, reserves and

accumulated losses.

Net debt to equity ratio

The Group’s management reviews the capital structure on an on-going basis.
As part of this review, the management considers the cost of capital and the

risks associated with each class of capital.

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

A L B B

A 4 BB R > DURRE DR AS 55 18 T T
o AE A A8 1 A AR N 2B A B AL 1 B R A
Bl R P10 0 2% R TR AR R K [ o A £ [
2 R TR L T A R o

AR 2 AR R S R P A
WO MRBEEREEFEMREAATEA A
JEE {5 RE 2 (RLHG C 34T IRA ~ fiff 15 e R 5 IS
) -

EL P BHRE S LR %

A S 1 2 L A R © A 2R
B R K P B B
2 2 L

TG IR 2 EA B E LR

2020 2019
TEOEY ZE—JUE
HK$°000 HKS$’000
THT Tt
Debt (Note (i) 8% Wfata) 8,488,089 8,423,281
Cash and bank balance (Note 23) BB B BRAT &G Bk (B 7E23) (57,782) (74,628)
Net debt TFE S 8,430,307 8,348,653
Equity (Note (ii)) WS (W aEi)) 1,031,753 4,559,637
Net debt to equity ratio A PR A LR 817% 183%
Notes: /yﬁﬁ :

(i) Debt is defined as borrowings, as detailed in Note 30.

(i)  Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group and non-controlling
interests.

() EBSHERRIIEE0R A 2 5K o

(i) RERE DT A S T A A i A DU B JE 1%
AR ©
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 37. &R H
(a) Categories of financial instruments (a) @b BAR
2020 2019
TR TRAE ZE—JUE
HK$’000 HK$°000
THET FioT
Financial assets S
Financial assets at FVTPL YN BT AR 2 Sl E 188,993 341,873
Financial assets at amortised cost TP AN BT B 2 SRl 1,228,679 1,337,206
Financial assets at FVTOCI N AR R A HAN 2 s 2
SR 68,000 71,000
Financial liabilities o=
Amortised cost {8 R A 14,220,127 12,091,170
Financial guarantee contracts MBEIRE 420,722 -
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) A% JE B PR H R B BUR

226
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The Group’s major financial instruments include note receivables,
bank balances, restricted cash, trade receivables, consideration
receivables, deposits and other receivables, equity and debt
investments, trade payables, accrued liabilities and other payables,
amounts due to non-controlling interest, amounts due to related
companies, borrowings and lease liabilities. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments and the policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. Management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a

timely and effective manner.

There has been no significant change to the Group’s risks exposure
relating to financial instruments or the manner in which it manages

and measures the risks.

AR 2 B T S R
SRAT &5 B8R - PRI B &~ IBUE 5 R
K~ HE W AR ~ e < e L At e Wik o
R b B S 1~ HE AN B 5 R~ T
E{E&,ﬁ;ﬂﬂl@ﬁ KIE ~ JE AT IE 2 R 2

ARIE > AR B 2 2 W RKOE ~ B R R
ﬁfﬁ"ﬁxwﬁﬁ?IEZ?ﬁffA*HEﬁMTT
PR R o B SF B Rl EM B < R
DU e W8 5% 5 o B - BRI T S
B % S B T P R B
O e IR B A RACHE AT 22l 4 i

A 55 [ ol < R T HL R I 2 Ja B e LA
Bl R it i JE B 77 3 d EE R B o
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk

The Group’s activities expose it to market risks of changes in currency
risk, price risk and interest rate risk.

There has been no significant change to Group’s exposure to market
risks or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk over the
year.

Currency risk

Substantially all of the Group’s sales and operating costs are
denominated in the functional currency of the group entity making
the sales or incurring the costs. The Company has borrowings
denominated in USD, which is a currency other than the functional
currency of the relevant group entities. The exposure of USD
against HK$ is considered insignificant as HK$ is pegged to USD.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company consider that the currency
risk is not significant.

The Group currently does not have a formal currency hedging policy
in relation to currency risk. The directors monitor the Group’s
exposure on an on-going basis and will consider hedging the currency
risk should the need arise.

Equity price risk

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising from trading of
listed securities included in financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss. The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on the
exposure to equity price risk.

At the end of the reporting period, if the quoted stock prices of
listed securities held by the Group had been 10% higher or lower
while all other variables were held constant, the Group’s net loss
would increase or decrease by approximately HK$10,000 (2019:
approximately HK$1,523,000) as a result of changes in fair value of
investments.

Interest rate risk

The Group’s fair value interest rate risk relates primarily to fixed-rate
borrowings and bonds payables. The Group is also exposed to cash
flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate borrowings.

The Group currently does not have a formal interest rate hedging
policy in relation to cash flow interest rate risk. The directors of the
Company monitor the Group’s exposure on an on-going basis and will
consider hedging the interest rate risk should the need arise.

37. R TH (&)
(b) S5 ML B PR H RS B BOERE (4D

117 55 il B

A5 ) 2 7% B < L LR (B A
JoRL I e AR 23R o o 328 Bl 2 v 45 e i

FEE Ry 2% 7 2 71 95 o W 2 B
B B I B2 77 X0 0 ok o

Wb b

A 55 [ 48 KT o7 B B b AR A DL
17 94 45 Bl A A 2 B T B 2 O RE
B HIME - A ml A T G JEA B
S AR D AE ) BHE Z A K o B
R T R TT Y - ST T 2 JE R
LGP A N S NC S N R AT s o
7 B T e A LK

A8 [ 5 A i 46 A BB JE B 2 1E 5K
B W IR o R A B A S I
Bz B MR R A R TR
i

i SR bl B

A5 R 2 B H s AT A P EEF A
fut 2 B Rl A 2 b T T R I AR
TEUAS il B © SBCRK BE 70 Ay AR IR TR 4fE 2
P S (S L B i o

ARG IR MARE BT LTSN
A% ZE i b B R 10% > W A A HA
5% B PRFF R 5 0 HII A S 18 2 7% s 481 TR
& N A 5 E) i 84 ek ik 2D £9 10,000
W (S ZF—JL4E © £91,523,00097T) ©

R

A B [ 2 0% P A A R L B T 2 B E R
TR R E AT 527 A B o AR RZ A
o] 7 5 K 2 B o ) R o

A 55 [ 5 Al M A B B I R R R
W IE ZCA) S B BOR © AR A ) S
A B e A SR I v B 2 B SRR AR
B IR B T A R QL
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37.

228

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)
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Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis
Variable-rate borrowings

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for the variable-rate borrowings at the end
of the reporting period. A 50 basis points (2019: 50 basis points)
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest rate risk internally
to key management personnel and represented management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2019: 50 basis points)
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s
loss for the year ended 31 December 2020 would have decreased/
increased by approximately HK$8,600 (2019: approximately
HK$55,000), assuming the interest on such borrowings would not be
capitalised.

Credit risk and impairment provision

At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising from
the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial assets as
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position and financial
guarantee contracts disclosed in Note 25. The Group does not hold
any collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit risks
associated with its financial assets and financial guarantee contracts.

Trade receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group
has delegated a team responsible for monitoring procedures to ensure
that follow up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition,
the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model upon
application of HKFRS 9 on trade balances individually or based on
provision matrix. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider
that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

SRR (&)
(b) S5 B B A B iBUER (368D

AU il B (4
BB )E 57 7
PEEE

DUR 8RK B 53 BT T AR 958 % 5 3 oK 1%
SEE TR 2 A 22 BT G o SO I B
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For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment provision (Continued)

Note receivables, deposits and other receivables, bank balances,

restricted cash and financial guarantee contracts

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model set out
in HKFRS 9 on note receivables, consideration receivables, deposits
and other receivables, bank balances, restricted cash and financial

guarantee contracts based on 12m ECL.

The credit risk of note receivables, consideration receivables, deposits
and other receivables are managed through an internal process. The
credit quality of each counterparty is investigated before an advance
is made. The Group also actively monitors the outstanding amounts
owed by each debtor and identifies any credit risks in a timely manner
in order to reduce the risk of a credit related loss. In addition, the
Group performs impairment assessment under ECL model upon
application of HKFRS 9 on the outstanding balances individually.
In this regard, the directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is

significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank balances and restricted cash is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by

international credit-rating agencies.

The management of the Group continuously monitors the credit
quality and financial conditions of the guaranteed parties in order to

identify any credit risk in a timely manner.

37. R TH (&)
(b) A5 Ml B PR RS B BOER (D)

1 50 B B % Dk A 158 7 (A0

TN 215 ~ 1258 e A I R ~ BT
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment provision (Continued)

The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk on:

. deposits paid for acquisition of a property project and
subsidiaries paid to counterparties which are all engaged in
the PRC property development business, and are either state-

owned entities or companies with good reputation; and

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical locations
is in the PRC as all trade receivables from properties investment
are arisen in PRC and all financial guarantees relate to guarantees
provided to financial institutions in the PRC in favour of their

borrowers which are PRC entities.

Other than above, the Group does not have any other significant

concentration of credit risk.
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 5 U 5 R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment provision (Continued)

The table below is the internal credit policy of the Group:

37. &M LA (&)

(b) A5 Ml B PR RS B BOER (D)

1 50 B B % Dk A 158 7 (A0
R G [ 1 R AR B BOR

Other financial assets/
other items/financial
Internal credit rating  Description Trade receivables guarantee contracts
oA &b,/
HAwH
PR A E R AR fid M B2 5 Rk MBREREH
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have any Lifetime ECL — 12-month ECL
past-due amounts not credit-impaired
6K gz HET77 )78 4 R BB K e M J i K T FEYEMERERE 200 A BNESER
—REEGEERME
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually settle in Lifetime ECL — 12-month ECL
full not credit-impaired
BlzrE B NEH R H AR B GRE e E TS BEIR 1218 H G SEE
YA —REEGEERME
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk since initial Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
recognition through information developed internally or not credit-impaired not credit-impaired
external resources
fPkE PR 0 R R B O RS 1 A e TRGUNTAI R R UG BB R
DIARERERCHEE LTt —ARBEGRME —AREGEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired Lifetime ECL — Lifetime ECL —
credit-impaired credit-impaired
e LEEck L N AR G TRGUNTRI R R 7 SUNTHE BB A
—CREGHRE —CHEGHRE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe Amount is written off ~ Amount is written off
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery
e AR R (BN M B 75 R A EL A S A B 2 3 T A B 2 5

S i B 9 T AE W K0

AR R PE A R F] | 20204F 8
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. <Rl TH (%)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) W4 %5 B PR H ER B BOR (58)
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment provision (Continued) 1 53 J g I ok A 4% i (4if)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s TRFEY A B H AT MG R
financial assets and financial liabilities which are subject to ECL S A 1 < R E e < Al AU 195 B R
assessment: P -
Gross Gross
carrying carrying
External Internal amounts amounts
Notes  credit rating credit rating 12-month or lifetime ECL 2020 2019
12418 FJ A7 40 CEORE RN
Mzl SMEMEERER AEEES BUMGE R IES IR T 48 {0
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T
Financial assets at amortised
costs
FEBR A R 2 SR
Bank balances 23 AA+ N/A 12-month ECL 57,782 74,628
AT H R ANEH 1218 A TG F s
Restricted cash 23 AA+ N/A 12-month ECL 51,444 -
2 R B AR 1218 A TG s
Note receivables 22 N/A Watch list 12-month ECL 102,388 97,967
(Note (i) & (iv))
JRE s 4 AEH Bl 12118 A T s
(et Kav)
Deposits and other receivables 22 N/A (Note (i) & (iii)) 12-month ECL 1,233,953 1,195,444
Fig 4 B A SRR I AEH (Mfata) Rii)) 1248 H G B
Lifetime ECL (not credit- 377 419
impaired)
17 B IS B
(RBAEGEERE)
Lifetime ECL (credit- 1,301,560 778,879
impaired)
7 BTG BiE
(E#EEERE
2,535,890 1,974,742
Trade receivables 21 N/A (Note (ii)) Lifetime ECL 17,880 12,876
JEE W B 5 Hik AEH (Matdi) 17 BTG B
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o o B R B
. For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE
37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 37. &R TR (&)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) WAEsEBEE B H R BOR (G
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment provision (Continued) 1 53 J g I ok A 4% i (4if)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s TRFEY A B HET MG R
financial assets and financial liabilities which are subject to ECL B A 1 < Rl E e < Rl AU 1945 B R
assessment: (Continued) Rarii 11 (4
Gross Gross
exposure exposure
External Internal amounts amounts
Notes  credit rating credit rating 12-month or lifetime ECL 2020 2019
1218 7 sk A7 401 “EOEE CEE
WEE MR ERER AR RUMGE REE Wb AR
HK$’000 HKS$’000
Ti#T T
Financial guarantee contracts 25 N/A Loss Credit-impaired 973,827 -
(Note (v))
MBEREL NEH 8 EREERRE
(titev))
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment provision (Continued)
Notes:
(i) For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the Group

uses past due information to assess whether credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition.

SRR (&)
(b) A5 Ml B PR RS B BOER (D)

1 B0 B2 % Dok AT 758 7 (A)
Wik :
() PO B R PR BT 25 0 A 45

55 2 0 L i 1 46 e BB DA R
HRmBRRTEE LT

Not past due/

No fixed repayment

terms

K,

2020 2019

e Jawe %13 —E A

HK$’000 HK$’000

T T#T

Note receivables JEUR =55 82,697 82,792
Deposits and other receivables 2 5 T L A R TE 1,018,876 1,166,910

(i)  For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in accordance with HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with significant
outstanding balances or credit-impaired, the Group determines the
ECL on these items on a collective basic, grouped by internal credit
rating.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group uses
debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its customers in relation
to its property investment operation because these customers
consist of a large number of small customers with common risk
characteristics that are representative of the customers’ abilities
to pay all amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms.
Trade receivables of approximately HK$17,880,000 (2019:
approximately HK$12,876,000) are assessed within lifetime ECL
(not credit impaired).

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no material
impairment allowance on trade receivables is provided, considered
that the amounts were still recoverable.

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort.
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37.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 5 U 5 R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment provision (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iii)

The following table shows the reconciliation of loss allowance that

has been recognised for deposits and other receivables.

SRR &)

(b) A5 Ml B PR RS B BOER (D)

1 50 B B % Dk A 158 7 (A0
Wt (D)

(i) T FERF R 8 e A R SRR T
it B 119 s L o 6 1) S IR o

Lifetime ECL.  Lifetime ECL

(not credit- (credit-
12m ECL impaired) impaired) Total
ERITEE FEIE
EEREHE EEEH
12 A 7E R4 (et
B HEHE {FERE) 5 B IR{E) “ast
HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
Tt T AR T
At 1 January 2019 R-Z—NFE—H—H 71,548 99,579 1,493,523 1,664,650
Write-off 6] = = (1,384,329) (1,384,329)
Transfer to credit-impaired #5145 2 O 38 415 B IR (2,653) (50,562) 53,215 -
Impairment losses, net of TRAEL S 48 FOBRHE [
reversal 100,519 (48,854) 488,751 540,416
Exchange adjustment FE 53 5 4 7,845 (88) (20,662) (12,905)
At 31 December 2019 and RFE—JUE
1 January 2020 + = FJ =t—HK
ZE-EBFE—H—H 177,259 75 630,498 807,832
Write-off ik 2 = = (244,496) (244,496)
Impairment losses, net of DRAEL RS 5 > 1 BRHE E]
reversal 35,392 29 844,816 880,237
Exchange adjustment FE 53 3 4 12,838 3 60,600 73,441
As 31 December 2020 RFE R
+=ZH=+—H 225,489 107 1,291,418 1,517,014
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37.
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b)

Carnival Group International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2020

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment provision (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(iv)  The following table shows the reconciliation of loss allowance that

37. R TH (&)
(b) A5 Ml B PR RS B BOER (D)

1 50 B B % Dk A 158 7 (A0

Wt (D)

(iv) AR T A I i S A e R 1 s 48

has been recognised for note receivables. FEFEIEER
12m ECL
121 F TR
R
HK$’000
T
At 1 January 2019 —NHE—H—H -
Impairment losses NG RN =] 15,175
At 31 December 2019 and 1 January 2020 —NEFTHAZTHR B B E—H—H 15,175
Impairment losses NG RN =] 4,516
As 31 December 2020 ATETERGTH=Z1+—H 19,691

(v)  For financial guarantee contracts, the gross carrying amount
represents the maximum amount the Group has guaranteed under
the respective contracts.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate
the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors
the utilisation of borrowings and ensures compliance with loan

covenants.

Liquidity tables

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities based on the agreed repayment
terms. The table reflects the undiscounted cash flows of financial
liabilities based on the earliest date on which the Group can be
required to pay. The maturity dates for financial liabilities are based

on agreed repayment dates.

) AU BIERE RIS o AR EAE 2
5 4 SR B AR R AR B &5 49 38 PR I 05

F5 PR R B < IR A [ B A e A
RERERMARZHSERAGEMH
PoK ST o DA 20 A £ [ 4 14 8 < e TR
BB < it B S B 2 A o B B AR
L TR RV T TR AN - /e

MEEEH

AR AR R o AR AR &
il B BR T A B O o AR
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37. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
wr o B S R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

37. &M LA (&)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) B BEE B H B BOR (G
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) i B < B (A
Liquidity tables (Continued) MBI &£ K )
Weighted ~ On demand Total
average  or less than More than  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate lyear  1to S5 years 5 years cash flows amount
R RERE AITHRBE
EHAE DR —ESERE BBLE RRAE R T i
% HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
Tt Tt Tt Tt Tkt
31 December 2020 ZECBEF A= —H
Trade payables JEAS B 53 R K - 1,906,172 = - 1906172 1,906,172
Accrued liabilities and other payables JEERH 0 B LA A - 3,540,088 = - 3,540,088 3,540,088
Borrowings: R
— Bank and other borrowings — AT R AR 395-14 4228822 = - 4208822 4,052,775
~Bonds —f#% 793-1740 4,592,305 - - 4592305 4435314
Amounts due to related companies A} 8 22 2 ) 20 = 201,810 = = 201,810 201,810
Amounts due to non-controlling interests T IE R 25 = 56,034 = = 56,034 56,034
Lease liabilities HHE A 3.63-512 10,909 18916 = 29,825 27,934
Financial guarantee contracts WMHEREH - 973,827 = = 973,827 420,722
31 December 2019 ZEUEFZAET—H
Trade payables JEAT B 55 Rk - 1357154 = - 1357154 1357154
Accrued liabilities and other payables JEEGT B0 B LA B R0 - 2,089221 = - 2089221 2,089,221
Borrowings: Ak
— Bank and other borrowings —HUT R AR 710-13 394,103 956,280 — 4250383 4024435
~Bonds —fE% 814-1740 1348170 3,380,820 - 4728990 4398846
Amounts due to related companies JRE A5 I 28 ) O - 161,584 - - 161,584 161,584
Amounts due to non-controlling interests JEEASF I PR RE £ - 55,223 - - 55,223 55,223
Lease liabilities HE AR 435 4911 = = 4911 4,707
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37.

238

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(c)
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Fair values measurements of financial instruments

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined as follows:

. the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities with
standard terms and conditions and traded on active liquid
markets are determined with reference to quoted market bid
prices and ask prices; and

. the fair values of other financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

Fair value measurements recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position

Fair value as at
AT

37. &M LA (&)

(c) Bl THAPHRR

& il E e B B 2 A R TS L
R

o HAEGRRRBARE BRI B
B i 45 H R B e R
B T2 F o 5 H e B
BEMEEATE &

o HEMEEREMAMZ AT
1B AR 4 58 7R 4 BB <8 9k 40 A
2 PR AN A R o

gﬁﬁﬁi%ﬂﬁiﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁ%&iﬁ?ﬁ%

31 December 31 December Fair value Valuation technique
2020 201 hierarchy and key input
RoBER ook o
Ry “H=1T—H SRS S G ER 2
HK$'000 HK$’000
T T
Financial assets at FVTPL AT AR 2 S
Equity securities listed in Hong Kong  FAZ# L1l Z B Al 7 51 15,232 Level 1 %uoted rice in an active market
E it FETi 2 e
Unlisted private funds in Cayman [ 2 g%z; E L 188,942 326,641 Level 2 Dealing price of the fund derived
Islands g 1grom the net asset value of the
und
B AP E EFEG N
SR ik
Financial assets at FVTOCI }ﬁ’&ng?r Jufih 2 TR 2
SR
Equity securities WA 5 68,000 71,000 Level 3 Market approach
Key inj

The directors of the Company considered that the carrying amounts of
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values.

During the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, there were no
transfers between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level
3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels of fair
value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in which they
occur.

put
- Discount for lack of
marketability, determined by
reference to various research

studies at 25%
FM ik
%ﬁ%%ﬁ@ﬁz % (%%
i ﬂ“ﬁﬁ?%ﬁi?%%%
AN G E R R SR AR AR A W
BHMBEARZEMEREKEMAFEZ
R T {1 B N S E AR

RBEZZ_ZER _F-NE+Z
A=t HILAERE BRI
i S 08 9 458 > 7S A R Y B = o
A 55 [ 2 BOSR 2 P B Rk 2 W
AR 2 TE S AR A% AR P i



38. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities
arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of

cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

o 5 U 5 R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

38. G Eh AL 2 AL EER

ARSI A £ S B A AL
WS B R B S - R A TR B L 2 B
Bl &R R BOR R B & i & @R A
B I A 5 B O R AR T M R LA TR B BB O

2 EfEe
Amounts Amounts
due to non- due to
controlling arelated Lease
interests company  Borrowings liabilities Total
HEY

i R
W AR fiw HAAR At
(Note 27) (Note 30) (Note 29)
Wiikr)  (at)  (Wat)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000
T T Tl Tl T

At 1 January 2020 REBZEE-H—H 55003 6,072 842381 4707 8,489,283
Financing cash flows ARSI & (2,678) (6,112) (234,178) (5.847) (248,815)
Exchange adjustments [ S 3489 - 216,512 1,480 221,481
Effective interest expenses (Note §) BRI BB (qts) - 512 1,143,718 778 1,145,008
Interest payables JERFIR S - (1,061,044 - (1,061,44)
New lease entered ERE T S = = 28,622 28,622
Lease terminated [REIIwiil S S = (1,806) (1,806)
At 31 December 2020 REBZZEFZA=+—H 56,034 4n 848,089 27,934 8,572,529
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38.

240

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
(Continued)

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities
arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or
future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of

cash flows as cash flows from financing activities. (Continued)

38. MG EN AR 2 AR (8D

ARSI A G 1l O B R 2 B )
RSB EEH MRS ELEZ A
7Bl R R BUR R B & i B A @R A
B x5 BLE TR R R R R TR B BB
Bz AfE (8D

Amounts Amounts
due to non- due to
controlling arelated Lease
interests company  Borrowings liabilities Total
R

e ER R
Mk A fiw MAAR At
(Note 27) (Note 30) (Note 29)
Watzr)  (W#Es0)  (W#29)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000
Tl Tl Tl Tl T

At 1 January 2019 RZZ—-NF—R—H = - L8474 1139 11,196,150
Financing cash flows AR ST = 56,042 5000 (2,056,741 8.126)  (2.002,725)
Exchange adjustments FE SO (1,019) = (97,516) (85) (98,620)
Effective interest expenses (Note 8) BRI R (ats) - 172 921,510 520 922,202
Loss on early redemption of bonds TERITE I (% 2 8 - - 36,323 - 36,323
Gain on modification of bonds e mpdlen = = (86,688) = (86,688)
Disposal of subsidiaries (Note 32) WEINE AR (Hit2) = = (691,314) = (691,314)
Interest payables TERAIE - - (787,047) - (787,047)
New lease entered HIE Tl = = = 6,191 6,191
Lease terminated ERIEHE - = = (5,189) (5,189)
At31 December 2019 RZE— U+ ZA=1—H 55003 6,072 8423281 4707 8,489,283
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39. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS

(a)

(b)

Transaction

Save as disclosed in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements,

the Group has the following transaction with a related party.

39.

HORRH N 32
(a) 5

5

WRr & I 15 HR I S 27 PR 88 & 50 A
HEAMTHENLLZS -

2020 2019

BB S i

Name of related party Nature of transaction HK$’000 HK$’000
[ E N i RHNE Ti#T THIT
Enterprise Development Investment Finance cost 512 172

Holdings Limited
R B ER A R AF]

A 5 P A

Compensation to key management personnel of

(b) B AP B

the Group
2020 2019
BB —E A
HK$’000 HK$’000
Ti#L T
Short-term employee benefits kR B AE A 3,989 17,856
Post-employment benefits T R 12 4 32 43
4,021 17,899
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40. LITIGATIONS 40.

Bankruptcy Reorganisation

On 24 August 2020, the Company received the (2020) Lu 0211
Poshen No. 5 Civil Ruling from the People’s Court of Huangdao
District, Qingdao City, Shandong province, China (the “People’s
Court”) in relation to the application for bankruptcy reorganisation
of an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Company, Rio
Carnival (Qingdao) Property Co., Ltd. (B LEFEEFS BEXEA
FR 23 F]) (the “Rio Carnival”’) by Longxin Construction Group Co., Ltd

(FEAS S 2 E A BR A H]) (the “Longxin”) to the People’s Court
on 17 August 2020 on the grounds that Rio Carnival was unable to
pay off its debt and apparently lack of solvency. The debts arose due
to the contract disputes between Longxin and Rio Carnival, and the
People’s Court judged that Rio Carnival should pay Longxin the
construction fee of approximately RMB10,825,000 together with
interests and other expenses. However, Rio Carnival still failed to pay
the debts in full. The People’s Court, having considered the assets
status, industry prospects, and reasons for the difficulties of Rio
Carnival, ruled that Rio Carnival meets the acceptance conditions for
bankruptcy reorganisation and accepted the application with effect
from 24 August 2020 (the “Bankruptcy Reorganisation”).

On 27 August 2020, the People’s Court issued a decision letter
designating that the Shandong Branch of Grant Thornton Certified
Public Accountants (Special General Partnership) as the manager
(the “Manager”) of Rio Carnival to facilitate as an administrator of
the Bankruptcy Reorganisation, and to coordinate in between the
People’s Court, Rio Carnival and its creditors. The Manager will also
monitor the assets and also the use of cash during the period of the

Bankruptcy Reorganisation.

The People’s Court also approved Rio Carnival to continue its
business operations with the existing management team and staffs
under the monitoring by the Manager during the period of the
Bankruptcy Reorganisation so as to maximise the economics benefits

for the creditors.
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40. LITIGATIONS (Continued)

()

Bankruptcy Reorganisation (Continued)

On 1 December 2020, Rio Carnival held its first creditors’ meeting
to elect the Members of Creditors’ Committee (the “Creditors’
Committee”). The Manager reported the result of the due diligence
over Rio Carnival’s assets and liabilities position, and also the list
of debts that was presented to the People’s Court for approval. The
Manager also discussed the matters regarding the future operations of

Rio Carnival with the Creditors’ Committee.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Manager also
coordinated with the People’s Court and negotiated with the
Creditors’ Committee to release the seizure of Rio Carnival’s assets
including property, plant and equipment and inventories in previous
period. The release of seizure could assist Rio Carnival to prepare the
resume of the sales plan to enhance the cash-inflow of Rio Carnival

for the debt repayment.

In order to safeguard the legitimate interests of all creditors and
debtors, to achieve effective integration of resources and to promote
and guarantee the success of the reorganisation of Rio Carnival,
the Manager issued the “The Announcement on Recruitment of
Investors for Bankruptcy Reorganisation” on the National Enterprise
Bankruptcy Information Disclosure Platform on 22 December 2020
with an aim to recruit investors for bankruptcy reorganisation of Rio

Carnival.
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40. LITIGATIONS (Continued)

244

(ii) Winding Up Petition

On 22 January 2020 (after trading hours) a winding up petition (the
“Petition”) was presented against the Company in respect of certain
alleged indebtedness of approximately HK$10.6 million owed to Mr.
Shen Hou Feng in respect of a private immigration bonds issued by
the Company. The Petition has been listed to be heard before the High
Court of The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region on 18 March
2020. The Company was seeking professional advice in respect of
the Petition. Certain individuals who are alleged creditors of the
Company subsequently also served notices of intention to appear on
the hearing of the Petition by Mr. Shen HF.

The Company informed its shareholders and other investors that,
as a consequence of certain breaches of credit facilities afforded to
the Company, the Company had appointed Houlihan Lokey (China)
Limited as financial advisor (“Financial Adviser”) to assess the
financial position of the Company and to identify all options available
at this time to regularise the position as soon as practicable. The
Company seeked support and cooperation of all stakeholders to take
part in the Debt Restructure in Hong Kong. Up to September 2020,
the Company convened the eighth meeting with its institutional
creditors to provide (i) an update on the Petition received by the
Company, (ii) Qingdao Bankruptcy Reorganisation and its impact
on offshore debt repayment and (iii) circulate the revised debt
restructuring proposal to the institutional creditors. In addition, both
directly and through its financial advisor, the Company had made
efforts to contact holders of its Immigration Bonds to advise them
of the Company’s current situation. The Company consider further
feedback from the creditors, and will work with all relevant parties, in

an effort to reach a consensual restructuring.

The Company opposed the Petition and/or seek an adjournment of the
hearing of the Petition while the Company explores the options for

implementing a Debt Restructure with the Financial Adviser.
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40. LITIGATIONS (Continued)

(ii) Winding Up Petition (Continued)

Ms. Zhang Jingchu, an alleged creditor of the Company, alleges that
she was the registered owner of certain senior bonds issued by the
Company (“Senior Bonds™) and that by reason of an alleged default
of the terms and conditions of the Senior Bonds, the Company has
failed to pay the Petitioner the sum of approximately HK$30.2
million. Ms. Zhang served a notice of intention to appear on the
Petition. Pursuant to the announcement made by the Judiciary of the
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region on 27 February 2020, all
hearings of the courts/tribunals originally scheduled from 16 March
2020 to 22 March 2020 will generally be adjourned except for urgent
and essential hearings in view of the prevailing public health situation.
Accordingly, the hearing originally scheduled to be heard on 18
March 2020 relating to the Petition will be adjourned to a date to be
fixed.

On 11 March 2020, Choi Mui Hung, Chan Po Ling, Zhou Hai
Hua, Fung Che Wai Anthony, Wen Mei Juan, Liao Hongying, Pan
Chaosheng, Wang Jianou and Yang Baiyu, alleged creditors of the
Company, served notices of intention to appear on the Petition.

Zhang’s Petition has been listed to be heard before the High Court
on 3 June 2020 and further be adjourned to 15 June 2020 and 21 July
2020.

It was disclosed that a winding up petition was presented against the
Company in respect of certain alleged indebtedness owed to Mr. Shen
HF had been withdrawn on 8 July 2020.

Zhang’s Petition was heard on 29 September 2020 with judgment
reserved.

On 8 December 2020, the Petitioner and the Company filed a joint
Consent Summons to the High Court which proposed, inter alia, to
adjourn the hearing of the Zhang’s Petition to 1 March 2021 (the
“Application”). On 8 February 2021, the Company received the order
from the High Court that the Application has been approved.
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40. LITIGATIONS (Continued)

(ii) Winding Up Petition (Continued)

The outbreak of the Covid-19 and the outstanding indebtedness
affected the financial position and operation of the Group to a certain
extent and the Company believes that an expedited and consensual
restructuring will best protect its creditors as it will (1) establish a
long-term sustainable capital structure; (2) provide adequate runway
for the Company’s management to implement a turnaround of
the business; and (3) unlock the value of its onshore construction
projects for the benefit of all creditors. Any enforcement or other
remedial actions, however, would significantly impair the value of the

Company and recoveries to its creditors.

The Debt Restructure process has been delayed due to the outbreak of
Covid-19. The Company will continue working with its professional
advisers to put forward the restructuring progress with an aim to

achieve a consensual restructuring as early as practicable.

41. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group had no other material contingent liabilities aware of.

42. COMPARATIVE FIGURES

246

Certain comparative figures are reclassified to conform with the current

year’s presentation.
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43. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

(@)

Updates on Petition and New Petition

On 10 February 2021, a winding up petition in the matter of the
Companies (Winding Up and Miscellaneous Provisions) Ordinance
(Chapter 32, Laws of Hong Kong) filed in High Court under
Companies Winding-up Proceedings No.66 of 2021 (the “New
Petition”) was presented against the Company in respect of certain
alleged indebtedness owed to Reliance Credit Limited (“Reliance
Credit”) (formerly known as Asset Bridge Development Limited).
The New Petition has been listed to be heard before the High Court on
12 May 2021.

The New Petition was filed against the Company for its failure to
settle a sum of approximately HK$7,106,000 being the principal and
interests outstanding as of 20 March 2020 under a loan agreement
dated 1 November 2017 (as varied by its extension letter dated 19
September 2019) entered into between the Company and the Reliance
Credit.

The board of directors would also like to emphasise that the New
Petition has no material adverse impact on the financial position and

business operations of the Company for the time being.

The Company will make an application for a validation order in
respect of the dispositions of the property and/or the transfer of shares

if so advised by its legal adviser.

Zhang’s Petition, the High Court ordered that the hearing be further
adjourned to 25 May 2021. Hearing of the Zhang’s Petition has been
adjourned to no earlier than 31 August 2021. The Company will keep
its shareholders informed of any significant developments by way of

further announcements as and when appropriate.
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43. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(Continued)

248

(ii)

(iii)

Carnival Group International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2020

Aircraft Loan

On 16 February 2021, the Company received a letter before action
from the legal representative of Credit Suisse AG (“Credit Suisse”)
claiming for a payment of approximately US$6,000,000 being
the Group’s obligation under a corporate guarantee entered into
between the Company (as the guarantor) and Credit Suisse (as the
lender) dated 30 September 2016 (the “Corporate Guarantee™). The
Corporate Guarantee was a security provided by the Company in
connection with the loan agreement entered into between Blazing
Heart Trading Limited, a wholly-own subsidiary of the Company, and
Credit Suisse for the financing of an aircraft (the “Loan Agreement”).
On 23 August 2019, a notice of repossession was served upon the
Borrower notifying that Credit Suisse had taken possession of the
aircraft under pledge and such aircraft was sold on 31 August 2020
with net proceeds of approximately US$24,556,000 to satisfy part
of the outstanding indebtedness. As notified by Credit Suisse, as of
5 February 2021, the amount of outstanding indebtedness under the
Loan Agreement and/or the Corporate Guarantee was approximately
US$6,000,000. In light of the above, the Company will make its best
endeavors to negotiate with Credit Suisse with a view to obtaining a
conditional grace period for repayment and to avoid immediate legal
actions to be taken.

Proposed Placing of New Shares under Specific
Mandate

On 13 May 2021, the Company entered into a placing agreement
(the “Placing Agreement”) with VC Brokerage Limited (the “Placing
Agent”) pursuant to which the Placing Agent has conditionally agreed
to procure not less than six placees to subscribe for up to 680,000,000
new Shares (the “Placing Share(s)”) at the placing price of HK$0.10
per Placing Share (the “Placing”). The Placing Shares to be placed
under the Placing Agreement will be allotted and issued pursuant to
the specific mandate to be sought from and, if approved, granted by
the Shareholders to the Directors at the special general meeting of the
Company to be held to consider the special resolution to be proposed
to approve the Placing Agreement and the transactions contemplated
thereunder (including the grant of the Specific Mandate to allot and
issue the Placing Shares) for the allotment and issuance of the Placing
Shares pursuant to the Placing Agreement. Completion of the Placing
is subject to the satisfaction of the condition precedent in the Placing
Agreement. Assuming all the Placing Shares are successfully placed,
the estimated aggregate gross and net proceeds of the Placing will
be HK$68,000,000 and approximately HK$66,000,000 respectively,
which are intended to be used for general working capital of the
Group.
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44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 4. R_EFE_ZiE+ _H=1—H
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY AS AT 31 A E) FEMHE AR Z 6k
DECEMBER 2020

Place of Proportion of
incorporation/ Registered ownership
establishment/ capital/paid up interests held
Name of subsidiary operatlons capital by the Compan Principal activities
SR 2 HEE KGR il
Wi 2 vi) 44 BHE, e mZlhl  EEE
Carnival Group (Hong Kong) Holdings Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% (Indirect) ~ Provision of management
Limited serv1ces in Hong
AR (FB) BERARAHE i R T 100% (fE42) E*?ﬁ%ha@ﬁlﬁ%
Swift Fortune Investments Limited BVI ! Ordipary usD2 100% (Direct) Securitie_s Investment
FERBEARAF ENE el YT 100% (B#)  ®HHE
Rio Carnival (Qingdao) Property Co. Ltd.*  PRC (Note (1)) Registered capital 64% (Indirect) Property development in
) . RMB900,000,000 the PRC
g LA GF ) BSEARAH HE () AL AR 64% (Fi¥E)  TEH ISR 9t R
900,000,0007T LEES
S EY EE A RA R PRC (Note (ii) and (iv)) Registered capital 64% (Indirect) Property management in
. .. RMB1,000,000 the PRC
W (Wt R iv) FEME AR AR 64% (fE1#)  (EFPBIASE Y
1,000,000 MR
BE L REEREEHARAT PRC (Note (i) and (iv)) Registered capital 64% (Indirect) ~ Commercial
RMB10,000,000 management in the
PRC
W (W FtGD Rdiv) FEE AN R 64% (fE1HE)  (EFPBIASE 2
10,000,0007C MR
B LR A R A PRC (Note (ii) and (iv)) Registered capital 64% (Indirect) Hotel operation in the
. . RMB100,000 PRC
W (At Kv) AR AN R 64% (FiHE)  1EH AR =%
100,0007T
I LR R EREAR AR PRC (Note (ii)) Registered capital 99.01% (Indirect) ~ Property development in
. _ RMB40,000,000 the PRC
W (7)) FEME AR AR 99.01% (Rite)  fEHERIACR 35
40,000,0007T SRR
AT i 3 8 SR A PR A ) PRC (Note (iii)) Registered capital 99.01% (Indirect)  Property development in
. - RMB70,600,000 the PRC
W (W atii)) AR AR 99.01% () TErh A= 3%
70,600,0007T: LEES
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44. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL 4. RoEB-EBEL A =1—H
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY AS AT 31 A2 ] T 2 Al 2 sEE (8D
DECEMBER 2020 (Continued)

Place of Proportion of
incorporation/ Registered ownership
establishment/ capital/paid up interests held
Name of subsidiary Ageratlons capital by the Compan Principal activities
Wik Wik, AARGEAHANE
Wi J8 2 ) 44 il BULEA HEaE 2 bLBl SRR
HEREEEERRAR PRC (Note (ii)) Registered capital 100% (Indirect)  Property development in
. _RMB10,000,000 the PRC
W (i) AR A N R 100% (Fi#%)  1EH B A0 48
10,000,0007C UEE i
Beijing KongGang Fushi International Real ~ PRC (Note (1)) Registered capital 99.4% (Indirect)  Property development in
Estate Investment Co., Ltd* ) RMBAZSO,OOO,OOO the PRC
I it A S 1 T (ki) AL AN R 99.4% (FiiHe)  TErhEIASE 35/
2w 250,000,0007C
Notes: Wt -
(1) The company is a sino-foreign equity joint venture established in the PRC. 1) ZATEER R 2 AN BB E
(ii)  The company is a limited liability company established in the PRC. (i) FEAFREFBERLZAREEAH
(iii)  The company is a wholly foreign-owned enterprise established in the (i) A FRIEP BN Z S E A
PRC.
(iv)  The company is directly held by the Rio Carnival (Qingdao) Property Co. (v) FZAFHELEEE G BEEARAA
Ltd HIERA -
*  The English translation of the name is for reference only. The official name of & FROSEREL 2% o BRI E X AR &P s o
the entity is in Chinese.

45. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED 45. PEA HORIEPERLRERE 2 JE 2 &
SUBSIDIARY THAT HAS MATERIAL NON- Bt ) 23 vl R
CONTROLLING INTERESTS
The table below shows details of a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the NREYIAEE A ERIEER G 2 IEE
Group that has material non-controlling interests: AINE AT ER

Proportion of
Place of ownership interests and
incorporation voting rights held by Loss attributable to Accumulated
and principal non-controlling non-controlling non-controlling
Name of subsidiary place of business interests interests interests
SEIR R JEERLHERSFE 41 47 e ) _
=PRI FRER L HlE 25 B B A 2 LA FEE R 2 HEAf s 1 BRI o
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
TEOEE CZR-NE DB ORE CZFE CEORE S NE
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HKS$’000
Tie T TiEL T
WEREEFR PRC 36% 36% (1,026,136) (551,835) 69,126 1,084,575

HEARAR
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45. DETAILS OF NON-WHOLLY OWNED
SUBSIDIARY THAT HAS MATERIAL NON-

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
wr o B S R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

CONTROLLING INTERESTS (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of the Group’s subsidiary that

has material non-controlling interests is set out below. The summarised

45. A HOKIEPERR R o 2 JF 42
Wi Jed 2 w) R (45D

A R IEE R A 2 A B B RS 2 w1 5
BRI R AN o T B B R 2 R

financial information below represents amounts before intragroup [ = [ B Al 2 R o
eliminations.
g F3AEEE G ) BE AR AR 2020 2019
TERTEAE —E—UE
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T
Current assets T & 2,849,744 3,376,733
Non-current assets JETR BN & E 8,051,354 8,140,758
Current liabilities nEAaE (9,703,826) (7,068,221)
Non-current liabilities FEFR B £ (1,005,255) (1,436,562)
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AN EIEA N REALRE S 122,891 1,928,133
Non-controlling interests JEPEREAEDS 69,126 1,084,575
Revenue A 40,173 153,461
Loss for the year I EEE (2,850,379) (1,532,874)
Total comprehensive expense for the year 4R B AT S AR AR (2,820,691) (1,682,118)
Loss for the year attributable to I 2 PR R 2 BB A0 4 P55 e 4
the non-controlling interests (1,026,136) (551,835)
Total comprehensive expense 2 PR EE 2 B A0 4 T S M
attributable to the non-controlling interests HERA (1,015,449) (605,562)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from operating activities &8 % Jif #)) /& 48 2 iF Bl (i H) SHA (15,718) 222,702
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from investing activities % & i B 7 4 Z RS A .~ (i ) 70 (88,825)
Net cash outflow from Rl I B AR 2 TR
financing activities biian (13,292) (154,342)
Net cash outflow FHLE T (28,940) (20,465)
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A S 5 R B R

For the year ended 31 December 2020 #E ~ZF “ZFE+ ~H = —HILEE

46.

252

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND AN m) A BHIR DR B il
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
2020 2019
TRTBAE —E—JUE
HK$’0@ HK$°000
T T
Non-current assets JER B A
Investments in subsidiaries R E AT Z % E 2,535,621 2,644,120
Note receivables JEE L 2 82,697 82,792
2,618,318 2,726,912
Current assets WHE
Prepayments and other receivables TR I e LAt I IR = 15,304
Amounts due from subsidiaries JRE WS BRFJeg 2 ) ek o 1,728,542 1,892,244
Cash and cash equivalents B kB e FED 325 338
1,728,867 1,907,886
Total assets B AE 4,347,185 4,634,798
Current liabilities WA E
Accrued liabilities and other payables JEST & (8 B H At 3R0E 750,900 360,148
Amounts due to subsidiaries JEAS BRF &g 2 i) e T 466,936 496,932
Amounts due to related company JE H b NI €| 29,996 -
Borrowings & 4,815,872 1,227,584
6,063,704 2,084,664
Net current liabilities it B TR (4,334,837) (176,718)
Total assets less current liabilities F4 7 D B L (1,716,519) 2,550,134
Capital and reserves B Rl
Share capital fEA 9,478 236,952
Share premium and reserves P&y Vi 1 e b A (1,725,997) (1,233,638)
Total equity HE R AR (1,716,519) (996,686)
Non-current liabilities 3 F(ﬁi’]ﬁ‘ﬁ
Borrowings e - 3,546,820
(1,716,519) 2,550,134
The Company’s statement of financial position was approved and authorised AAFZMBRUERCR-E _—4HFHAH

for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 May 2021 and were signed on its

behalf by:

Luo Jiaqi
i E
Director

HH
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Tang Runtao

R
Director

HF
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o 3 55 AR B R
. For the year ended 31 December 2020 #(% ~ % “Z4E ~H = —HILEE

46. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND  46. AZ\u] A %R % B ki (48)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

. 9 Y =0
Movement in the Company’s reserves AN T 2 EEs s E)
Share  Contributed Capital  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
R N HAGE LY 4] st

HKS000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HKS000
Tl Tl Tl Tl Tl

At 1 January 2019 RZZ—hFE—~H—H 7,289,834 9,404 15,726 (4,682,367) 2,632,597
Loss for the year FEEE = S = (8374510)  (8,374510)
Capital reduction Bl A S 4,517,008 = = 4,517,208
Repurchase of ordinary shares i e 2 2 (9,729 796 = (8933)
At 31 December 2019 and RoE-WE+-H=F—HRK

1 January 2020 SECBE-A—0 7,280,105 4,526,612 16522 (13056877)  (1.233,638)
Loss for the year B S S = (719,833) (719,833)
Capital reorganisation HAREM (7,280,105) 7,507,579 = = 207474
At 31 December 2020 REBZZEFZA=4—H - 12,034,191 16522 (13,776710)  (1,725997)
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Particulars of the Major Properties Held
Al 3 2P E5E TS

Details of the Group’s major properties held as at 31 December 2020 under

development for sale, investment or own use are as follows:

(a)

(b)

254

Name of property
and location

ESA I

Rio Carnival,
Huangdao District,
Qingdao City,
Shandong Province,
the PRC

=

B L
I

A

A B

Carnival
International
Community,
Chengdu

Hi-tech Zone,
Chengdu,
Sichuan Province,
the PRC

AR E
HE

miE

kAR
AR e

Intended use

ey ik

- Residential
- Commercial
Phase 2
— Commercial

Phase 1

—E
—7 22
LEL]

— Residential

— Commercial

—fEE
—Hi

Stage of

completion

SERRE B

— Partially completed
— Partially completed

— Completed

— B SE R

—H e

—BE5REmR

— Completed
— Completed

—BE5REmR
—E5RER

Expected
year of

completion

HEEE TAFE

2022

in phases

2016

S
S REBLSE
“ENE

2019

Carnival Group International Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2020

Approximate
site area
14y

S 35 1
sqm

FAk

348,900

72,500

Approximate

gross floor area

POEAY bk o i
sqm

FAk

765,800

481,000

ARER ZBE L A= HEFHE 8
B A T 38 e h T EYSERHE R ¢

Group’s
interest

ASE ]
PR

64%

100%



d

=

Name of property
and location

EZA TR

Laoshan Project,

No. 490 Xiangang East Road,
Laoshan District, Qingdao,

Shandong Province,
the PRC

B EH

e

A

A BT &

F H H H4905%

Beijing Project,
25th Street Zone,
Shunyi New Town,
Shunyi District,
Beijing, the PRC
JtxIEHE
LRlE

JesHi

JIEi 5
NEZE3H ok
FastE

Intended use

ey ik

— Residential

—E

— Residential

—EE

Stage of

completion

eI B

— Partially completed

— Land under

development

—hH L

Expected
year of

completion

HEEE TARRE

2022

in phases

SE 4
SR BEE

2021

in phases

e Sweeid
73 BB eI

Particulars of the Major Properties Held

Approximate
site area
1BE#y

i 5 7
sqm

44,440

14,144

UESERLYE F=3 1
Approximate Group’s
gross floor area interest
ARG

HBE bl 1w T Pt &t

sqm
111,573 99%
45,287 99.4%

AR RS A R A ] | 20204E%) 2
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Financial Summary

4 75 ik =

DUTR % A £ [ TP B 20 4180 B BT 8 2 B 5 S A DL
KB E R BB A RE RSk B RS T

A summary of the consolidated results and assets and liabilities of the Group for

the last five financial years as extracted from the audited financial statements and

restated as appropriate is set out below: BRI 48 T E A
RESULTS X5
Year ended 31 December BEF A=A Rk 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
CRCEE e Syl Kid e Syt “E—tH CZE-RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
T T T T T
Continuing operations RSB
Revenue /9N 104,204 475,701) 1,458,321 2,193,310 1,934,024
(Loss)/profit before tax BREAT (BHR) /A (3,870,126) (3,503,002) (3,804,212) 745971 50,386
Income tax (expense)/credit PR Gl /K (4,066) 73,485 105,156 (220478) (763)
(Loss)/profit for the year R (B A (3,874,192) (3429.517) (3,699,036) 525493 49,623
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: RN L NGRS
(B5t8) /i
Owners of the Company AATHAN (2,848,218) (2,941975) (3,504,039) 394,700 123,740
Non-controlling interests E[Zudieias (1,025,974) (487,542) (195,017) 130,793 (74,117)
(3,874,192) (3429,517) (3,699,036) 525493 49,623
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES AR A
Year ended 31 December BETH=E—HILEE 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
CRORE ZE-NUE R R CE-RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HKS 000
T T T T T
Assets B 17,570,311 18479335 24,256,079 29,518,421 25,147,400
Liabilities ffE (16,538,558) (13,919,698) (15,985,238) (17,768,885) (16,395,344)
Net assets ARETHA 1,031,753 4,559,637 8,270,841 11,749,536 8,752,056
Equity attributable to: PHIN L BEAGRERS
Owners of the Company ARFERAN 862,263 3,393,936 6,593,790 9,782,304 7,051,017
Non-controlling interests JePE R 169,490 1,165,701 1,677,051 1,967,232 1,701,039
1,031,753 4,550,637 870,841 11,749,536 8,752,056
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